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Sino Resources Group Limited (carrying on business in Hong Kong
as Sino Gp Limited) (stock code: 223) is principally engaged in investing
and developing unconventional gas business and coal and metals trading
business.

The Group has been managing the following businesses:

UNCONVENTIONAL GAS BUSINESS

The Group, through its subsidiary, Sino Giants Group Limited (‘Sino
Giants”) together with Multi Century Technology Development Limited and
Multi Century Energy Technology (Beijing) Limited (“MCT (BJ)”) (the “Sino
Giants Group”) provides technical consulting and operation services in
unconventional gas well drilling, completion and production stimulation for
exploration and development work in Heilongjiang Province of the PRC.

Corporate Profile
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COAL AND METALS TRADING BUSINESS

The Group has been conducting coal and metals trading business in the PRC.

The Company has completed an acquisition of 70.97% equity interest in Zhan
Sheng Investments Limited (the “Zhan Sheng Acquisition”), together with
World Grace Enterprises Limited and 77.5% equity interest in Hubei Tiegang
Tading Company Limited (“Hubei Tiegang”) via Zhuhai Tiegang Commerical
Trading Company Limited (the “Zhan Sheng Group”) which is also engaged in
coal and metals trading business. The Zhan Sheng Acquisition is in line with
the Group’s strategy to further develop its existing coal and metals business
segment. As Hubei Tiegang has a focus on the Northwestern region of the
PRC, which is another important region with abundant coal resources apart
from the Northeastern region of the PRC, the Zhan Sheng Acquisition shall
enhance the Group’s geographical coverage and strategic position in the
industry.

These investments will provide the Group with a solid platform for the further
business development in the energy and resources sector in the PRC.

3 Sino Resources Group Limited ® Annual Report 2013
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Operating Performance

Financial Highlights
BBERE
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Continuing operations

Turnover

Loss for the year

Discontinued operations

(Loss)/profit for the year
from discontinued operations

(Loss)/profit attributable
to owners of the Company

BEEEER

R 37,084 67,168 82,368 87,374 213,440
FEEE (87,246) (48,164) (35,184) (40,607) (50,247)
ERILEEERE

AEERECKRIEEE

%%z (FER) &R 3,670 9,788 - (797,129) 106,805
RNTEE AES

(B58) &7 (83,269) (34,145) (34,458) (837,736) 56,558

Financial Position B 75 iR 5

Total assets

Cash reserves

Total bank borrowings

Net cash reserves

Shareholders’ funds

BEEAE 232,442 242,803 120,951 194,633 1,394,262
REf#h 21,914 15,816 90,379 5,514 51,540
RITIEEREE 17,282 18,414 - - -
REREFE 4,632 (2,598) 90,379 5,514 51,540
BRES (229,136) (219,926) (261,214) (303,620) 607,096
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Chairman’s Statement
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FERS
Dear Valued Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board, | am pleased to report the Group’s audited annual
results for the financial year ended 31 March 2013.

ACHIEVEMENTS IN THE PAST FINANCIAL YEAR

Throughout the year under review, following the expiry of both the Master
Project Management Agreement with Group Idea International Limited
(“Group Idea”) on 5 April 2012 and the Sales Agency Agreement with Kenfair
Exhibition (Hong Kong) Limited (“KEHKL”) on 31 October 2012, the Group
has restructured its business portfolio and ceased to engage in the exhibition
business. The Board intends to put more focus on the development of the
Group’s energy and resources related business and considers it appropriate
to exit from the exhibition industry.

In respect of its unconventional gas business, the Group has obtained
fundings (through a finance lease) and purchased certain most advanced
equipments for coalbed methane exploration. As the equipments are crucial to
the full operation of coalbed methane exploration services, the purchase and
delivery to China of those equipments represented a major step forward for
the Group’s unconventional gas business development.

The Group’s coal trading business was substantially affected by unfavourable
external factors in the last financial year. As a result of China government’s
macro-control measures and in slowdown of the economic growth, China has
experienced a weak demand for coal by steel producers and power plants,
which has driven the coal price down. On the other hand, there has been an
excess supply of coal in China, many coal storage yards in China nearly reach
full capacity or even closed as stock piles have met maximum holding power.
Since such adverse conditions in demand-and-supply for coal remain intact,
many critics anticipate that coal price shall continue to be gloomy. The Board
has been conservative in cultivating its coal trading business in view of the
poor business environment for the China coal industry and the tumbled coal
price.

Notwithstanding this, the Group was responsive to the market downturn and
engaged in the trading of seamless stainless steel tubes in early 2013. The
Group will continue exploring attractive business opportunities, whether within
or beyond the coal industry, to sustain its revenue from the trading business
segment.

5  Sino Resources Group Limited e Annual Report 2013
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FUTURE PROSPECT AND GROWTH STRATEGIES

Amid the recent better-than-expectation economic data as reported by
the United States, the recession in Europe and slow down in China’s GDP
growth have cast doubt on World’s economic recovery pace. In times of
slow recovery and uncertain economic environment, the Group will adopt a
cautious approach in developing its existing and prospective businesses.

As the Group’s unconventional gas equipments are ready for installation and
testing, the Board expects that the equipments could commence full operation
in the second half of 2013. In this regard, the Group has planned to engage
in various co-operations and strategic partnerships with Heilongjiang Coal
Bureau and sizable enterprises (both in China and North America) in relation to
coalbed methane exploration and ancillary services. It is anticipated that the
Group’s unconventional gas business shall generate more revenue and profits
in the next financial year.

With regard to the coal trading business, the Board will pay attention to the
recovery of the China coal industry and may consider taking a more proactive
approach in developing the Group’s coal trading business should the market
conditions turn favourable.

Looking forward, the Board will continue pursuing inorganic growth strategies
and explore suitable investment opportunities in the energy and resources
related sectors. In addition, risk and cost controls remain essential to the daily
management, the Board will seek to strengthen internal control and improve
profitability of the Group.

The Board will continue their dedication and commitment to the Group’s
business developments and maximize the shareholders’ return in the
forthcoming year.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

| would like to thank the Board members, the senior management and staff
for their contributions and hard work. On behalf of the Board, | would also like
to express my sincere gratitude to all shareholders and business partners for
their continuous support extended to the Group.

Geng Ying

Chairman
26 June 2013, Hong Kong
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEENWE TN

BUSINESS REVIEW

Sino Resources Group Limited (the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries,
the “Group”) will continue to focus its business on the resources and energy
related sector.

1. COAL AND METALS TRADING BUSINESS

In 2012, China’s GDP growth rate went down, growth in coal
consumption slowdown, downstream inventory continued to remain
high, while coal price in the market was at low level, and there was
an oversupply in the overall domestic coal market. Facing a declining
coal trading market, management has taken a more cautious and
conservative approach towards sales orders of coal trading.

Profit Guarantee under Wealthy Wing Acquisition

With reference to the circular of the Company dated 28 September
2011, for the acquisition of the Wealthy Wing Limited and its subsidiaries
(“Wealthy Wing Acquisition”), the vendor undertakes and guarantees
to the Company that (i) the audited distributed profit (the “First Year
Distributable Profit”) after tax of Heilongjiang Derong Coal Industrial
Co., Ltd (“Derong”) for the period commencing from the Completion
date (i.e 30 November 2011) up to 31 December 2011 (the “First Year”)
prepared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRS”) will not be less than RMB15 million (the “First
Year Consideration Adjustment”); (ii) the audited distributable profits
(the “Second Year Distributable Profit”) after tax of Derong for the
period commencing from 1 January 2012 to 31 December 2012 (the
“Second Year”) prepared in accordance with the IFRS will not be less
than RMB50 million (the “Second Year Consideration Adjustment”);
and (iii) the audited distributable profits (the “Third Year Distributable
Profit”) after tax of Derong for the period commencing from 1 January
2013 to 31 December 2013 (the “Third Year”) prepared in accordance
with the IFRS will not be less than RMB70 million (the “Third Year
Consideration Adjustment”). The distribution of consideration shares
issued under the Wealthy Wing Acquisition is subject to a consideration
adjustment (“Derong’s Consideration Adjustment”) mechanism based
on Derong’s results throughout the three years ending 2013. Based on
the audited accounts of Derong, the Second Year Distributable Profit
was RMB559,000 which was far below the Second Year guaranteed by
vendor. Accordingly, no consideration shares will be delivered to the
vendor for the Second Year and the Derong’s Consideration Adjustment
for the First Year and Second Year will be rolled over to year ending
2013.

7  Sino Resources Group Limited ® Annual Report 2013
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Profit Guarantee under Zhan Sheng Acquisition

With reference to the announcement of the Company dated 31 March
2012, for the acquisition of the Zhan Sheng Investments Limited and
its subsidiaries (“Zhan Sheng Acquisition”), the vendor undertakes
and guarantees to the Company that (i) the audited distributed profit
(the “First Year Distributable Profit”) after tax of Hubei Tiegang for the
period commencing from the Completion date (i.e 31 August 2012) up
to 31 December 2012 (the “First Year”) prepared in accordance with
IFRS will not be less than RMB9 million (the “First Year Consideration
Adjustment”); (ii) the audited distributable profits (the “Second
Year Distributable Profit”) after tax of Hubei Tiegang for the period
commencing from 1 January 2013 to 31 December 2013 (the “Second
Year”) prepared in accordance with the IFRS will not be less than RMB16
million (the “Second Year Consideration Adjustment”); and (iii) the
audited distributable profits (the “Third Year Distributable Profit”) after
tax of Hubei Tiegang for the period commencing from 1 January 2014 to
31 December 2014 (the “Third Year”) prepared in accordance with the
IFRS will not be less than RMB23 million (the “Third Year Consideration
Adjustment”). The distribution of consideration shares issued under
the Zhan Sheng Acquisition is subject to a consideration adjustment
(“Tiegang’s Consideration Adjustment”) mechanism based on Hubei
Tiegang’s results throughout the three years ending 2014. Based on the
audited accounts of Hubei Tiegang, the First Year loss was RMB33,000
which was far below the First Year guaranteed by vendor. Accordingly,
no consideration shares will be delivered to the vendor for the First Year
and the Tiegang’s Consideration Adjustment for the First Year will be
rolled over to year ending 2013.

TRADE SHOWS AND EXHIBITION OPERATION

The expiry of both the Master Project Management Agreement with
Group Idea on 5 April 2012 and the Sales Agency Agreement with KEHKL
on 31 October 2012 respectively of the Group’s exhibition business.
The Group has restructured its business portfolio and ceased to engage
in the exhibition business. The Board intends to put more focus on the
development of the Group’s energy and resources related businesses
and considers it appropriate to exit from the exhibition industry.

UNCONVENTIONAL GAS BUSINESS

The Group continues its close collaboration with Coalfield Geology
Reconnaissance Design and Research Institute of Heilongjiang Province
(“HCI”).

On 20 June 2012, MCT (BJ) entered into a finance lease agreement with
EEREHEE (X2)AR2AF (Huixin Financial Leasing (Tianjin) Co.,
Ltd) (“Huixin”), pursuant to which the Huixin agreed to acquire certain
equipment and machines for carrying out coalbed methane exploration
(“Equipment”) by MCT (BJ) at the consideration of RMB7,680,000 and
lease back the Equipment to MCT (BJ) for a term of two years.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEENWE TN

In October 2012, two units of Equipment has already arrived at the port
of Tianjin in the PRC. Afterwards, MCT (BJ) has been cooperating with
HCI to set up a project by seeking the Heilongjiang Development and
Reform Commission (“HDRC”) approval to demonstrate the technology
of the Equipment in the cities of Hegang (/) , Jixi () and Yilan
(#k®) for CBM stimulation work (the “Project”). The Project also may
allow MCT (BJ) to get tax exemption on Customs duties and import VAT
for a maximum of 25% of the value of the Equipment. The Company
believes that the Equipment could be in full operation in the second
half of 2013 and shall contribute to the business growth of the Group’s
unconventional gas segment in the next financial year.

4. LITIGATION OF THE GROUP AND THE COMPANY IN
HONG KONG

Detail of the litigation of the Group and the Company as at 31 March
2013 were set out in Note 42 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS ANALYSIS

For the year ended 31 March 2013, the Group recorded turnover of
HK$37,084,000 from continuing operations (2012: HK$67,168,000),
representing a decrease of 44.8% over last year. The turnover were
contributed by the coal and metals trading segment. Decrease of the turnover
was mainly due to material adverse change in the coal trading business
environment in China, especially the coal market rapidly deteriorated in the
2nd to 4th quarter of 2012. The slowdown of coal demand and consumption
with oversupply in the market resulted in fiercer competition and extensively
minimised profit margin. The management has taken a more cautious and
conservative approach towards sales orders of the coal trading.

For the year ended 31 March 2013, the Group recorded a loss attributable to
shareholders of approximately HK$83,269,000 (2012: HK$34,145,000); basic
loss per share for continuing operations was approximately HK$4.7 cents
(2012: HK$3.3 cents). This has included some non-cash items: (i) imputed
interest expense of HK$18,657,000 (2012: HK$14,920,000) on convertible
notes under finance costs; (ii) fair value gain on derivative financial assets
of HK$4,925,000 (2012: fair value loss of HK$1,673,000) and fair value gain
on derivate financial liabilities of HK$4,722,000 (2012: HK$567,000); (iii) fair
value on share-based payment of HK$3,088,000 (2012: HK$Nil); and (iv)
impairment loss of goodwill of HK$46,485,000 (2012: HK$Nil) from Wealthy
Wing Acquisition.

Impairment loss on goodwill arising from Wealthy Wing Acquisition was
recognised during the year ended 31 March 2013 as the recoverable amount
determined based on the cash flow projections from Wealthy Wing Limited
does not turnout as expected due to the following reasons: (i) the unexpected
slowdown of the economic growth in China, especially a weak demand for
coal domestic market with oversupply. The coal price dropped significantly
and was volatile which resulted in low or even negative profit margin. The
market condition of coal trading business is unfavourable. The management
has taken a more cautious and conservative approach towards sales orders
of coal trading; (i) some unexpected operation issues incurred during the
year which was related to event occurred prior to the acquisition of Wealthy
Wing Limited by the Group. The civil claim against Derong so as to freeze

Q  Sino Resources Group Limited ® Annual Report 2013
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Management Discussion and Analysis

a bank deposit of RMB8,300,000 has directly affected Derong’s source of
funding for operation and performance in future; (iii) the capital funding is very
essential for the operation in coal trading business. However, the financial
market condition in the PRC was unstable and tighten during the year. The
delay payment from debtors affected the recovery of operating funds whereas
the suppliers usually demand for payment in advance before delivery of
goods. The cash return cycle of Derong was longer than expected and hence
the management was more cautious to enter into sales contracts; and (iv)
the capital injection of RMB17,600,000 into Derong has been delayed and
affected Derong’s working capital and operation.

PROSPECT AND OUTLOOK

Despite the slowdown in the PRC economy in 2012 and uncertainties of
global economic recovery, which affected the level of demand for coal and
minimized the opportunity of the coal trading business in the PRC, the
Directors are cautiously optimistic on the future of the coal trading business in
the PRC, as positive signs of recovery shown in the domestic economy in the
PRC together with the recovery of the downstream industry shall driven the
demand for coal.

For the unconventional gas business, the testing and installation of the
Equipment will be commenced in the second half of 2013. The success of
the Projects with HCI will bring a good opportunity for the Group to develop
the business with other state-owned enterprises on the stimulation work in
the PRC. The Group expects the unconventional business will commence to
generate revenue in the next financial year.

The Group will continue to explore investment opportunities in the resources
and energy related sector to achieve inorganic growth, on top of its existing
unconventional gas and coal and metals trading business platform.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
CAPITAL STRUCTURE

On 6 July 2012, the Company issued a convertible notes in an aggregate
principal amount of HK$15,000,000 at 12% coupon rate per annum with
maturity on the second anniversary of the issue date. The convertible note
will be convertible into 75,000,000 conversion shares at the initial conversion
price of HK$0.2 per conversion shares. Pursuant to convertible note
subscription agreement, the initial conversion price is subject to adjustment
on the occurrence of the average closing price of the Company’s shares as
quoted on the daily quotation sheet of the Stock Exchange for the period
commencing from the date of issue of the convertible note and ending on the
180th day thereafter falls below the then conversion price. On 2 January 2013,
the initial conversion price is adjusted to HK$0.129 per conversion shares
(Detail refer to Notes 34). As at 31 March 2013, no conversion shares were
issued upon conversion of the convertible notes.

On 25 October 2012, the Company has successfully placed of 174,000,000
shares, at the placing price of HK$0.115 per share and raised net proceed
of approximately HK$19,800,000. The proceed was used for general working
capital of the Group.
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BEEENWE TN

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND CAPITAL
STRUCTURE

The Group derived its working capital mainly from internal cash flow from
operating activities, issuance of convertible notes, shares placement and
shareholder’s loan.

As at 31 March 2013, deficit on shareholders’ funds of the Group aggregately
amounted to HK$229,136,000 (2012: HK$219,926,000). As at 31 March
2013, the Group’s assets-liabilities ratio (total liabilities to total assets) was
approximately 1.99 times (2012: 1.91 times). Net current liabilities of the
Group amounted to approximately HK$351,172,000 (2012: HK$313,658,000).
Current assets of the Group was approximately HK$101,329,000 (2012:
HK$148,594,000), of which fixed deposits, cash and bank balances amounted
to approximately HK$21,914,000 (2012: HK$15,816,000). The following items
with an aggregate amount of HK$348,338,000 (2012: HK$333,692,000), which
are included in current liabilities, are related to the legal proceedings with Mr.
Hung in the High Court of Hong Kong (the “High Court”): (i) HK$158,600,000
(2012: HK$158,600,000) was consideration payable for the acquisition of
Wealth Gain Global Investment Limited and its subsidiary; (i) HK$16,238,000
(2012: HK$15,358,000) was the shareholder’s loan plus interest from Mr.
Hung; and (iii) convertible notes of HK$173,500,000 (2012: HK$157,014,000),
and respective deferred tax liabilities of HK$Nil (2012: HK$2,720,000). The
Board considers that the liquidity of the Group is good enough for the year
ended 31 March 2013 and the Group would be turned to net assets position to
HK$119,202,000 (2012: HK$113,766,000) if removal of (i) to (iii). Details refer
to Notes 29, 30, 34 and 35 of the consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 March 2013, the Group’s gearing ratio (total debts to total equity)
was 99.5% (2012: 89.7%).

EXPOSURE TO FLUCTUATIONS IN EXCHANGE RATES AND
ANY RELATED HEDGES

The Group’s sales and purchase are mainly transacted in Hong Kong dollar
and Renminbi and the books are recorded in Hong Kong dollar. Therefore,
it may be exposed to foreign exchange risk. However in view of the stable
currency policies adopted by the PRC government, the directors consider that
the foreign exchange risk is insignificant.

The Group currently has no foreign exchange rate hedging policy in respect
of commercial transactions denominated in foreign currencies. However, the
directors monitor exchange rate exposure regularly and will consider hedging
significant exchange rate exposure when necessary.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS OF THE GROUP
No pledge of assets of the Group as at 31 March 2013.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Details of contingent liabilities as at 31 March 2013 were set out in Note 42 to
the consolidated financial statements.

DIVIDEND
The Board of the Company does not recommend any payment of final
dividend to shareholders for the year ended 31 March 2013 (2012: Nil).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

OTHER EVENTS

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 March 2013, the Group had a total of 30 employees (2012: 53) in
Hong Kong and the PRC. All employees are remunerated according to their
performance, experience and the prevailing industry practices.

The Group also participates in retirement benefit schemes for its staff in Hong
Kong and the PRC. It adopted a new share option scheme on 8 October 2010,
with options to be granted to employees at the discretion of the Board. During
the year ended 31 March 2013, 71,158,000 share options have been granted
to the directors and employee of the Group and 2,062,000 share options
were lapsed. As at 31 March 2013, 127,796,000 share options are remained
outstanding.

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL

On 31 August 2012, the Company duly completed the acquisition of
70.97% issued share capital of Zhan Sheng Group at a consideration of
HK$41,780,000. Zhan Sheng Group is principally engaged in trading of coal in
Northwestern region of the PRC. Please refer to Note 41(a) of the consolidated
financial statements for details.

The Group did not have material disposal for the year ended 31 March 2013.

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of material related party transactions of the Group as at 31 March 2013
were set out in Note 45 to the consolidated financial statements.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT
The Group did not hold any significant investment for the year ended 31
March 2013.
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Directors & Senior Management Profiles

BEENSREBEERBN

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. GENG Ying, aged 73, was appointed as the chairman and an executive
director of the Company on 1 August 2009. She has 12 years experience
in mining industry and over 22 years experience in commercial business in
the PRC and overseas. After her graduation from ith'& £z 2 (Geological
Institute of Vocational Studies) in the PRC in 1961, Ms. Geng joined Beijing
Geological Team. Equipped with extensive knowledge in geology, Ms. Geng
had been exploring mines for ten years and gained extensive experience in
mining and resources industries. Subsequently, she was transferred to work
at 4t FUHI 247 55 Fr (Beijing Institute of Pharmaceutical) and 1t X fE&E 2% (Beijing
Tumor Hospital). Ms. Geng was educated in bt E&EEBE (School of Chinese
Medicine of Beijing) and became a healthcare doctor after attaining medical
postgraduate qualification. Ms. Geng started her businesses in the PRC in
late 1984, and she went to the United States of America (“USA”) in 1986 for
further development. She was the chairman of Hely Development Corporation
in California, USA. Ms. Geng successfully acquired two manufacturing plants
in Malaysia during the years from 1992 to 2001. Ms. Geng has gained over
20 years experience in commercial business in the PRC and overseas. Ms.
Geng has all round talents and is a painter. Ms. Geng is also the chairman
and the secretary general of the China Cultural Heritage Foundation, and she
held public offices in the United Nations. Ms. Geng’s father was one of the
veterans of the Communist Party of the PRC, who was a principal leader in
military, diplomatic and political fields of the PRC. Ms. Geng and her family
have extensive and profound networks in political and economic fields in the
PRC and overseas.

Mr. GAO Feng, aged 43, was appointed as the vice chairman and an
executive director of the Company on 15 June 2009. He has extensive
management experience in particular for PRC businesses for over 12 years,
and has served various important roles in a couple of listed companies and
sizable financial institutions. From February 2008 to May 2009, Mr. Gao was
the executive director of China Infrastructure Investment Limited, a company
whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 600), in which
he was responsible for fund management and investors relationship. From
February 2006 to May 2007, he was also an executive director of Premium
Land Limited, a company whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange
with a stock code of 164. Besides, Mr. Gao was the former president of
North America for I.N.C. Financial Organization Ltd. and the former president
of Asia-Pacific for Morgan Funding Organization. Mr. Gao holds a master’s
degree in business administration from Keuka College in New York.

Mr. CHIU Sui Keung, aged 46, was appointed as the chief executive officer
and an executive director of the Company on 20 April 2009. Mr. Chiu has over
18 years’ experience in the financial industry and accounting field. He has
possessed extensive experience in corporate finance including initial public
offerings, takeovers, mergers and acquisitions, fund raising and corporate
advisory. Mr. Chiu graduated with a Bachelor’'s Degree in Commerce from
the University of Melbourne, Australia and has obtained a Master’s Degree in
Applied Finance from Macquarie University in Sydney, Australia. He has also
obtained a Diploma in Practices in Chinese Laws and Regulations Affecting
Foreign Businesses jointly organized by Southwest University of Political
Science and Law, the PRC and the Hong Kong Management Association.
At present Mr. Chiu is an independent non-executive director of King Stone
Energy Group Limited (stock code: 0663).
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Directors & Senior Management Profiles

Mr. WANG Xihua, aged 46, has over 17 years of commercial experience
in business development and enterprise management in PRC and 5 years
of teaching experience in the chemical engineering profession. Mr. Wang
has previously held positions in the senior management of a state-owned
enterprise and certain large corporations in the PRC. Mr. Wang graduated
from the Faculty of Chemical Engineering at HZ##2F% (Wuhan Institute of
Iron and Steel, currently called Wuhan University of Science and Technology)
in 1989. In addition, Mr. Wang completed a graduate program in business
administration from the Guanghua School of Management of Peking University
in 2003.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. LAM Williamson, aged 38, was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the Company on 1 January 2011. Mr. Lam is a fellow
member of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a
member of the CPA (Australia). He holds a Bachelor of Business Degree from
Monash University, Australia and a Master of Professional Accounting Degree
from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Mr. Lam had held directorships
and senior finance positions in various listed companies in Hong Kong. Mr.
Lam was an executive director of Seamless Green China (Holdings) Limited
(stock code: 8150) during the period from 2 October 2009 to 1 February 2010,
an independent non-executive director of Victory Group Limited (stock code:
1139) during the period from 28 September 2004 to 10 September 2008 and
China Post E-Commerce (Holdings) Limited (formerly known as Intcera High
Tech Group Limited, stock code: 8041) during the period from 5 February
2007 to 7 May 2008 respectively, the shares of all the three aforementioned
companies are listed on the Stock Exchange.

Mr. CHENG Wing Keung, Raymond, aged 53, was appointed as an
independent non-executive director of the Company on 25 August 2007.
Mr. Cheng is a solicitor practicing in Hong Kong and has over 23 years
of experience in corporate, company secretarial and listing affairs. He
is an associate member of The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administrators in United Kingdom and The Hong Kong Institute of Company
Secretaries in Hong Kong. He holds a degree in laws in the University of
London and a Master Degree in Business Administration in the University
of Strathclyde, Scotland. Mr. Cheng was an independent non-executive
director of Fortuna International Holdings Limited (stock code: 0530) from
27 September 2004 to 20 September 2006. At present, he is an independent
non- executive director in two listed companies in Hong Kong: Skyfame Realty
(Holdings) Limited (stock code: 0059) and Emperor Capital Group Limited
(stock code: 0717).

Mr. WONG Hoi Kuen, aged 52, was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the Company on 9 May 2011. Mr. Wong is a practising
certified public accountant in Hong Kong and a chartered accountant in
the United Kingdom. Mr. Wong is a fellow member of both the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Association of Certified
Public Accountants and an associate member of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales. Mr. Wong has been an independent
non-executive director, chairman of audit committee and a member of
remuneration committee of China Gamma Group Limited (stock code: 164)
since 13 February 2006.
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BEENSREBEERBN

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. CHOW Chi Fai, aged 42, who was appointed as the company secretary of
the Company on 29 December 2008 and possess over 18 years of experience
in accounting and finance field. Mr. Chow holds a bachelor’s degree in
Accountancy from the University of South Australia and is a member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. HO Tak Yuen, Peter

Joined the Group in February 2011 and was appointed as an executive
director of Multi-Century Technology Development Limited. Mr. Ho is
principally responsible for the overall technical activities within Multi-Century
Technology Limited. Mr. Ho has more than thirty (30) years experience
in the petroleum industry. He is acknowledged to be a reservoir and
production engineering geological expert in coal bed methane development
and enhanced oil recovery in North America and the PRC. Mr. Ho also has
expertise in carbon dioxide capture and sequestration and the related various
applications.

During the past 16 years, Mr. Ho has been actively participating in the PRC
and international oil and gas industries and acting as the chief technology
transfer officer for various companies from North America. He also has
lectured various oil and gas development technology seminars including
thermal recovery, miscible flood, chemical flood, reservoir simulation, coalbed
methane exploration and development and many others in the PRC and
overseas.

Mr. Ho is the first person to initiate carbon dioxide capture and sequestration
in enhancing coalbed methane production in the PRC and bridge the
two governments, of the PRC and Canada in the ever first international
cooperation on this type of project in the PRC. The experimental project
has been conducted for more than 6 years (2001-2007) and successfully
implemented its first phase pilot with exceptional results. Mr. Ho is the chief
liaison officer for Canada and technical simulation expert in this project and
works closely with the executor China United Coalbed Methane Corporation of
the PRC and Alberta Research Council consortium.

Mr. Ho graduated with a Bachelor of Science degree in Chemical Engineering
from the University of Ottawa in 1979.

Mr. Ho is a member of the Association of Professional Engineer, Geologist

& Geophysicist of Alberta, Canada; and a member of Society of Petroleum
Engineer in the US.
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Mr. Ken SINCLAIR

Joined the Group in February 2011 and was appointed as non executive
director of Multi Century Technology Development Limited on 9 February
2011. Mr. Sinclair is principally responsible for providing strategic planning
and technical advice to the group in overall CBM/Shale Gas development
directive. Mr. Sinclair has over 32 years of oil and gas experience in
over twenty countries and has advised numerous companies in areas of
research, exploration and development of unconventional and conventional
resources throughout the world. Mr. Sinclair is currently the President of a
newly formed private company KENGAS INC. which focuses on Western
Canada’s conventional and unconventional gas opportunities. Previously,
Mr. Sinclair founded Canadian Spirit Resources Inc., a public company who
raised Canadian Dollar 48 million for unconventional gas exploration and
development.

In Canada, Mr. Sinclair led the way in unconventional gas industry in the late
eighties and nineties and he developed and chaired the Canadian Coalbed
Methane Forum, a consortium that started with 13 companies and continues
today with over 150 members under the Canadian Society of Unconventional
Gas banner. The consortium’s main goal was to transfer technologies
within the group that would have companies having an advantage over
others outside of the group. This was accomplished by the biggest yearly
conferences in 2004, 2005, and 2006 in North America.
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Corporate Governance Report
TERERBWE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to ensuring high standards of corporate
governance through the establishment and adoption of good practices
and procedures which are in the best interests of the Company and its
shareholders. The principles of corporate governance adopted by the
Company enhance board practices, internal controls, transparency and
accountability to the Company’s shareholders.

During the year ended 31 March 2013, the Company had applied and
complied with all code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (the
“CG Code”) as set out in the Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities (“Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”). The board of directors (the “Board”) has updated
or established various policies and procedures and the committees have
updated their terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code.

The Board has taken up the corporate governance function stipulated in the
CG Code and has included such function in its terms of reference. The Board
has reviewed the compliance status of the Company with the CG Code.

The Board will review the CG Code from time to time and shall make
necessary arrangements when the Board considers appropriate.

We have summarised the CG Code adopted by the Company during the year
ended 31 March 2013 as below:

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (THE “BOARD”)

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises a total of seven directors,
including four executive directors and three INEDs. Two of the INEDs have the
relevant accounting and related financial management expertise as required
by the Listing Rules. The names of the directors by category are as follows:

Executive directors

Ms. Geng Ying (Chairman)

Mr. Gao Feng (Vice-Chairman)

Mr. Chiu Sui Keung (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Wang Xihua (Appointed on 11 March 2013)

Independent non-executive directors
Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond

Mr. Lam Williamson

Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen

Biographical details of each director are set out under the Directors and
Senior Management Profiles section on pages 13 to 16 of this annual report.

Each of the executive directors has respectively entered into a service

agreement with the Company for an initial term of three years but is subject to
retirement by rotation and is eligible for re-election.
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All of the independent non-executive directors have no fixed term of
appointment, but are subject to retirement by rotation and is eligible for re-
election.

None of the directors has any financial, business, family or other material or
relevant relationships among members of the Board.

The Company has received confirmation from each of the INEDs about his
independence pursuant to rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company is
of the view that all INEDs meet the independence rules and continues to
consider each of them to be independent.

The Board, as led by the Chairman and the Vice Chairman, is collectively
responsible for the set up of the Group’s overall strategies, operating and
financial policies, approval of annual budgets and business plans, evaluation
of the performance of the Company’s business, and oversight of the
management team. The management team is responsible for the day-to-day
operations of the Group under the supervision of the Managing Director.

CONTINUOUS TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT
FOR DIRECTORS

The directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The Company
would provide a comprehensive induction package covering the summary
of the responsibilities and legal obligations of a director of a Hong Kong
listed company, the Company’s constitutional documents and the Guides on
Directors’ Duties issued by the Companies Registry to each newly appointed
director to ensure that he/she is sufficiently aware of his/her responsibilities
and obligations under the Listing Rules and other regulatory requirements.

The company secretary reports from time to time the latest changes and
development of the Listing Rules, corporate governance practices and other
regulatory regime to the directors with written materials, and the legal advisers
of the Company prepare and provide the directors with detailed interpretations
and analysis on the revised contents for them to understand the latest
developments in a timely and accurate manner and to perform their duties in
accordance with relevant laws and regulatory requirements.

During the year, all directors were provided with regular updates on the
Group’s business and operations. The Company has arranged for the
directors to update the Directors on the amendments on the Listing Rules and
guidelines on disclosure of insider information and connected transactions.
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DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ INSURANCE

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in respect of
potential legal actions against its directors and officers.

CHAIRMAN, VICE CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The positions of the Chairman, Vice Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer
are held by separate individuals with a view to maintaining an effective
segregation of duties regarding the management of the Board and the day-to-
day management of the Group’s businesses.

The Chairman and the Vice Chairman lead the Board and oversees the
functioning of the Board to ensure that the Board acts in the best interests
of the Company and its shareholders, and Board meetings are planned and
conducted effectively. The Chairman is primarily responsible for the approval
of the agenda prepared by the Company Secretary for each Board meeting,
and taking into account, where appropriate, matters proposed by members
of the Board and including them in the agenda. With the support of the
Vice Chairman, other executive directors and the Company Secretary, the
Chairman seeks to ensure that all directors are properly briefed on issues
arising at Board meetings and receive sufficient and reliable information
in a timely manner before the Board meetings. The Chairman and the Vice
Chairman also actively encourage directors to engage in the Board’s affairs
and make contribution to the Board’s decisions.

The Chief Executive Officer is responsible for the day-to-day management
of the Group’s businesses, the formation and implementation of operating
and financial policies among the Group and accountability to the Board for
all the Group’s operations. The Chief Executive Officer together with the
management team ensure that the Company’s business plans are consistent
with the strategies and objectives established by the Board. In addition,
the Chief Executive Officer ensures that the Company meets its funding
requirements and closely monitors the operating and financial results
against the Company’s business plans and budgets, and takes remedial
actions if necessary. The Chief Executive Officer is also responsible for the
establishment and maintenance of an effective management team to assist
him in the day-to-day management of the Group’s businesses.

BOARD PRACTICES

Regular Board meetings are scheduled in advance to give all directors an
opportunity to attend in person. Thirteen regular Board meetings had been
held during the year ended 31 March 2013. Each of the directors has full
access to information of the Company and has access to the advice and
services of the Company Secretary in respect of compliance with board
procedures and all applicable rules and regulations. Each of the directors
may also take independent professional advice at the Company’s expense,
if necessary, in accordance with the approved procedures. The minutes of
the Board are prepared by the Company Secretary with details of the matters
considered by the Board and decisions reached, including any concerns
raised by the members of the Board or dissenting views expressed.
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The Board held thirteen Board Meetings and two General Meetings during the
year ended 31 March 2013 and the attendance record of each member of the
Board is set out below:

SREABE

EERRBE-F-=F=A=+-ALEENE]
THERESRRBRMARRAS ESRENE
EZHERGNT

Attendance of Attendance of
Board Meetings  General Meeting
EFECRHRERE BRXSHERH

Executive directors BTEE

Ms. Geng Ying (Chairman) BELL (XE)

Mr. Gao Feng (Vice-Chairman) S EE (BIERE)
Mr. Chiu Sui Keung (Chief Executive Officer) AL (THAR)

Mr. Wang Xihua (Appointed on 11 March 2013)

Independent non-executive directors BUEMRTESE
Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond BKiEEE
Mr. Lam Williamson HEEEE
Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen BEEELE

APPOINTMENTS, RE-ELECTION AND REMOVAL
OF DIRECTORS

In accordance with article 86(3) of the Articles, any director appointed by the
Board to fill a casual vacancy should be subject to election by Shareholders
at the first general meeting of the Company. In accordance with articles 87(1)
of the Articles, every director (including those appointed for a specific term
or holding office as Chairman of the Board or the Managing Director of the
Company) shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three
years.

Under the CG Code, non-executive directors should be appointed for specific
terms, subject to re-election. Currently, the independent non-executive
Directors have no set term of office but are subject to retirement by rotation at
annual general meetings of the Company in accordance with the Company’s
articles of association.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
BY DIRECTORS OF LISTED ISSUERS (THE
“MODEL CODE”)

The Company adopted a code of conduct regarding directors’ securities
transactions as set out in the Model Code in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules
on the terms no less exacting than the required standard set out in the Model
Code throughout the year ended 31 March 2013. After having made specific
enquiry to all directors of the Company, the directors are of the opinion that
they have complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code and
its code of conduct regarding directors’ securities transactions throughout the
year ended 31 March 2013.
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BERAWE

ACCOUNTABILITY

The

following statement, which sets out the responsibilities of the directors

in relation to the financial statements, should be read in conjunction with, but
distinguished from, the Independent Auditors’ Report on pages 46 to 159 of
the annual report which acknowledges their reporting responsibilities as the
external auditors of the Company:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

2]

Annual and Interim Reports and Financial Statements
The directors acknowledge their responsibility to prepare the financial
statements of the Company and of the Group for each financial year
which gives a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company
and of the Group as at the year end and of the Group’s profit or loss and
cash flow for the year then ended.

Accounting Policies

In preparing the financial statements for each financial year, the directors
have selected appropriate accounting policies and apart from those
new and amended accounting policies as disclosed in the notes to
the financial statements, have applied them consistently with previous
financial periods. Judgments and estimates have been made that are
prudent and reasonable.

Accounting Records

The directors are responsible for ensuring that the Group keeps
accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy the
financial position of the Group and enable the preparation of financial
statements in accordance with the Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the HKICPA, accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance and applicable disclosure provisions of the
Listing Rules.

Safeguarding Assets

The directors are responsible for taking all reasonable and necessary
steps to safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent and detect
fraud and other irregularities.

Going Concern

The directors, having made specific enquiries, consider that the Group
has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the
it is appropriate to adopt
the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements of the

foreseeable future and that, for this reason,

Company and of the Group.

Sino Resources Group Limited ¢ Annual Report 2013
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BOARD COMMITTEES

As an integral part of good corporate governance, the Board has established
the following Board Committees to oversee particular aspects of the
Company’s affairs. A majority of the members of each of these Committees
is INEDs. Each of the Audit, Remuneration and Nomination Committee is
governed by its respective terms of reference.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

On 18 March 2002, the Board established an Audit Committee which currently
comprises three INEDs, chaired by Mr. Lam Williamson and the other two
members of the Committee are Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond and Mr.
Wong Hoi Kuen.

The Audit Committee’s major responsibilities include:
(i)  Relationship with external auditors

. to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment,
reappointment and removal of the external auditor, and to approve
the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditor,
and any questions of its resignation or dismissal;

o to review and monitor the external auditor’s independence and
objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance
with applicable standards; and

° to develop and implement policy on engaging an external auditor to
supply non-audit services;

(i)  Review of financial information

To monitor integrity of the Company’s financial statements and annual
report and accounts, interim report and, if prepared for publication
reports, and to review significant financial reporting judgements
contained in them.

(iii) Oversight of the Company’s financial reporting system and internal
control procedures

° to review the Company’s financial controls, internal control and risk
management systems;

. to discuss the internal control system with management to ensure
that management has performed its duty to have an effective
internal control system; and

. to consider major investigations findings on internal control matters
as delegated by the Board.

The Committee’s authority and duties are set out in written terms of reference
which are publicly available on the website of the Group and the Stock
Exchange.
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i

XERARSE

The Audit Committee held two meetings during the year ended 31 March 2013
and the attendance record of each Audit Committee member is set out below:

Independent non-executive directors WIUFRTEE
Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond BR K 58 e
Mr. Lam Williamson MmEELEE
Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen BEERELE

The major work performed by the Audit Committee during the year end 31
March 2013 is summarised below:

(i)

(ii)

Review of Financial Statements

The Audit Committee met and held discussions with the Group’s external
auditors and senior management, and reviewed the draft annual report
and financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2013 and interim
report and financial statements for the six months ended 30 September
2012 before making recommendations for the Board’s approval. It
reviewed and discussed the management’s reports and representations
with a view to ensuring that the Group’s consolidated financial
statements are prepared in accordance with the accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong and the applicable disclosure
requirements of Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules.

Review of the Company’s financial controls, risk
management and internal control systems

The Audit Committee reviewed the process by which the Group
evaluated its control environment and its risk assessment process, and
the way in which business and control risks were managed. It made
recommendations to the Board about the effectiveness of internal control
systems in the Group’s business operations. These controls and systems
allowed the Board to monitor the Company’s overall financial position
and to protect its assets.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

On 14 July 2006, the Board established a Remuneration Committee which
currently comprises two INEDs and one executive director, chaired by Mr.
Lam Williamson and the other two members of the Committee are Mr. Cheng
Wing Keung, Raymond and Mr. Chiu Sui Keung.

The Remuneration Committee’s major responsibilities include:

(i) to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and
structure for all directors’ and senior management and establishment of
a formal and transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy;

(i) to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages to
individual executive directors and senior management;

(iii) to review and approve the management’s remuneration proposals with
reference to the Board’s corporate goals and objectives;

(iv) to make recommendations to the Board of the remuneration of non-
executive directors;

(v) to review and approve compensation payable to executive directors and
senior management for any loss or termination of office or appointment
to ensure that it is consistent with contractual terms and otherwise fair
and not excessive;

(vi) to review and approve compensation arrangements relating to dismissal
or removal of directors for misconduct to ensure that they are consistent
with contractual terms and are otherwise reasonable and appropriate;
and

(vii) to ensure that no director or any of his associates is involved in deciding
is own remuneration.

The Committee’s authority and duties are set out in written terms of reference
which are publicly available on the website of the Group and the Stock
Exchange.

The Remuneration Committee held five meetings during the year ended 31
March 2013.

Directors

EE

Mr. Lam Williamson MEEEE
Mr. Cheung Wing Keung, Raymond Bk R A
Mr. Chiu Sui Keung HmREE
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The remuneration of the members of the senior management by band for the

year ended 31 March 2013 is set out below:

Remuneration bands

g8 BY

BE-Z-=ZF=-A=1+-HLFESREEEZH
BAARRBI T

Number of persons
IN

Nil to HK$1,000,000 £%1,000,0008 7T
HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000
HK$2,000,001 to HK$3,000,000

HK$3,000,001 to HK$4,000,000

Further particulars regarding directors’ remuneration and the five highest paid
employees as required to be disclosed pursuant to Appendix 16 to the Listing
Rules are set out in Note 11 to the financial statements.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

On 14 July 2006, the Board established a Nomination Committee which
currently comprises three INEDs, chaired by Mr. Cheng Wing Keung,
Raymond and the other two members of the Committee are Mr. Lam
Williamson and Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen.

The Nomination Committee’s major responsibilities include:

(i) to review of the structure, size and composition of the Company’s
Board of Directors including, inter alia, the skills, knowledge, integrity,
accomplishment and experience in the relevant industry;

(i)  to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members and
make recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals
nominated for directorship;

(iii) to assess the independence of independent non-executive directors; and

(iv) to make recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating to
the appointment or reappointment of directors and succession planning
for directors.

The Committee’s authority and duties are set out in written terms of reference

which are publicly available on the website of the Group and the Stock
Exchange.
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The Nomination Committee held one meeting during the year ended 31 March
2013.

SREABE

REZEENRBEZE-—ZF=ZA=+—-HLFER

BT -REFE-

Attendance of

Nomination

Committee

Meeting

Directors REERY
E= FEHERE
Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond BRKIR A 11
Mr. Lam Williamson MEEEE 1/1
Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen EERELEE 1/1

The Nomination Committee has reviewed and discussed: (1) the prevailing
structure, size and composition of the Board; (2) the independence of
the INEDs; and (3) nomination of directors for re-election at the forth
coming annual general meeting. The Nomination Committee has made
recommendations to the Board.

In selecting a suitable candidate to become a member of the Board, the
Nomination Committee will consider various criteria such as education,
qualification, experience and reputation of such candidate.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Company’s corporate governance functions are carried out by the Board
pursuant to a set of written terms of reference adopted by the Board, which
include:

(a) to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the Board;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of the directors and senior management of the Group;

(c) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance
manual (if any) applicable to employees of the Group and the directors;
and

(e) to review the Company’s compliance with the Corporate Governance
Code and disclosure in the corporate governance report.

During the financial year, the Board reviewed the current changes to corporate
government requirements of the Stock Exchange and current were practices.
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INTERNAL CONTROL AND GROUP RISK
MANAGEMENT

The Board has overall responsibilities for maintaining sound and effective
internal control systems of the Group. The Group’s systems of internal control
include a defined management structure with limits of authority which is
designed to help the achievement of business objectives, safeguard assets
against unauthorised use or disposition, to ensure the maintenance of
proper accounting records for the provision of reliable financial information
for internal use or for publication, and to ensure compliance with relevant
legislation and regulations. The system is designed to provide reasonable, but
not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss and to manage
rather than eliminate risks of failure in operational systems and achievement of
the Group’s objectives.

(i) Organisational Structure
An organisational structure with operating policies and procedures, lines
of responsibility and delegated authority has been established.

(ii) Authority and Control
The relevant executive directors and senior management are delegated
with respective levels of authorities with regard to key corporate strategy
and policy and contractual commitments.

(iii) Budgetary Control and Financial Reporting
Proper controls are in place for the recording of complete, accurate
and timely accounting and management information. Regular reviews
and audits are carried out to ensure that the preparation of financial
statements is carried out in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles, the Group’s accounting policies and applicable
laws and regulations.

(iv) Group Risk Management
The Group has developed and implemented risk mitigation strategies
including the use of insurance to transfer the financial impact of risk
upon directors and senior management.

The Board, has reviewed the effectiveness of the Company’s system of
internal control over financial, operational and compliance issues for the
year 2013 and concluded that the Company has set up a sound control
environment and necessary control mechanism to monitor and correct non-
compliance. The Board is satisfied that the Company in 2013 fully complied
with the provisions on internal controls as set out in the CG Code.
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EXTERNAL AUDITORS

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited (“HLB”) are currently appointed as
the external auditors of the Company, which provides audit and non-audit
services to the Company. In order to maintain HLB’s independence and
objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance with the
applicable standards, the Audit Committee, under its terms of reference, holds
meetings with HLB to discuss the nature and scope of their audit and related
fees, and to approve the nature and scope of non-audit services requested by
the Company and related fees.

The nature of audit and non-audit services provided by HLB and fees paid
to HLB (including any entity that is under common control, ownership or
management with the audit firm or any entity that a reasonable and informed
third party having knowledge of all relevant information would reasonably
conclude as part of the audit firm nationally or internationally) are set out
below:

SREABE

b 8% 8% By Em

HESTMEBAAERAR (TEFH) REZREAER
Bl Z N EAT  MA D BRARBRIFLERE -
RESAFRREMREIETRREFZ2BY - B8
REXN BREZESEHARESHENEAHEETER
UNwmHERB M ERSEUREEER  LEHRR
RABRZIRBBBE2MERGBEUREFEER -

BEERH 2B RIFLBRE 2 HERXSTEE (B
FHEMEBEMZIARE  BEERNEE ZEMH
B RABFEEBEN 2R BABE =S USEE
ERZEFTMERA2BEARERD B2 ETHE) 2
BRAMT

HK$’ 000

Auditors’ remuneration BB £ FExT
- Audit services - ZE R 630
- Tax services — B BR S -
- Other services —H AR -
630

The Board has accepted the recommendation from Audit Committee on
appointment HLB as the external auditors of the Company at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board recognises the importance of maintaining clear, timely and
effective communication with shareholders of the Company and potential
investors. Therefore, the Group is committed to maintaining a high degree of
transparency to ensure the potential investors and the shareholders of the
Company receive accurate, clear and comprehensive and timely information of
the Group by the regulatory publications such as publish financial statements,
results announcements and circulars, press release and new articles, general
meetings and other investment market communications such as roadshows
and media interviews.

The primary platform for publication of all announcements and circulars
made by Company in accordance with applicable regulatory requirements
is through a financial printer who maintains a site for the Company at http://
www.capitalfp.com.hk/eng/index.jsp?co=223&ppage=contents&doc=&date1
=&date2=8&pageno=1. In addition, the Company also publishes all corporate
correspondence on its website http://www.sinoresourcesgp.com as an
additional communication channel to the shareholder.
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The Board maintain regular dialogues with the institutional investors
and analysts to keep them informed of the Group’s strategy, operations,
management and plans. The directors and the members of various
committees would attend and answer questions raised at the annual general
meeting of the Company. Separate resolutions would be proposed at the
general meeting on each substantially separate issue.

The Chairman of the general meetings of the Company would explain the
procedures for conducting a poll before putting a resolution to vote. The
results of the voting by poll would be published on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company respectively.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Shareholders’ rights to requisite for and convene an
Extraordinary General Meeting (“EGM”)

According to the Articles 58, any one or more shareholders holding not
less than 10 per cent of the paid-up capital of the Company may by written
requisition to require an EGM to be called by the Board or the Company
Secretary of the Company. The Board or the Company Secretary must
proceed to convene an EGM as soon as possible, within 21 days from the
date of deposit of the requisition. The meeting shall be held not later than
2 months after the date of deposit of the requisition. If the Board fail to
convene the EMG as requisitioned by the shareholders within 21 days after
the date of requisition was received, all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to
the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Shareholders’ rights of procedures for sending enquiries to
the Board and making proposals at shareholders’ meetings
Shareholders have the right to send their enquiries and concerns to the
Board or make proposals at the shareholders’ meeting by addressing
them to the Company Secretary of the Company by mail at the Company’s
correspondence address in Hong Kong or by email to the Company’s official
email address. The Company Secretary forwards all enquiries and proposals
relating to ordinary business matters, such as suggestions, inquiries and
consumer complaints to the Board.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary of the Company is Mr. Chow Chi Fai. Details of
the biography of the Company Secretary are set out in the section headed
“Directors & Senior Management Profiles” of this annual report.

In compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, the Company Secretary has
undertaken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training during the
year ended 31 March 2013.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There had been no significant change in the Company’s constitutional
documents during the year ended 31 March 2013.
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The board of directors (the “Board”) submit herewith their report and
the audited financial statements of Sino Resources Group Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) for the year ended 31
March 2013.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details of the
principal activities of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in Note 18 to the
consolidated financial statements. The Group has restructured its business
portfolio and ceased to engage in the exhibition business.

PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 March 2013 are set
out in Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s loss for the year ended 31 March 2013 and the state of affairs
of the Company and the Group at that date are set out in the consolidated
financial statements on pages 47 to 159.

The directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend (2012: Nil) in
respect of the year to shareholders of the Company.
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EEZERE

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The following is a summary of the published consolidated results and of the

assets and liabilities of the Group:

MERTHEBE

UTAREBECHRz2GREXEREERAEEHE

Turnover
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Taxation

operation

RESULTS X\
For the year ended 31 March 2013 BHE-F=F-A=1THIFE
2013 2012
—E—Z=% —E-—fF
Notes HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
B 5 FHET FHET
(restated)
(E31)
Continuing operations BERBREES
=S| 7 37,084 67,168
SHEMA (36,573) (66,003)
EF 511 1,165
Other revenue Hth & 7 655 3,390
Other income Hag A 8 302 5,290
Other operating expenses Hih&EM X (29,805) (48,501)
Share-based payment DERHpHER AR (3,088) -
Impairment loss of goodwill BEREEE 20 (46,485) -
Fair value gain on derivative financial liabilities T4 ¢@ME&E 22 FEKE 31 4,722 567
Fair value gain/(loss) on derivative fTEemMEEZATE
financial assets Wi, (E18) 22 4,925 (1,673)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE-—BHNBAR 2K E 40 - 9
Loss from operating activities BEEBER 8 (68,263) (34,753)
Finance costs & LA 9 (21,442) (15,873)
Loss before tax FRMATEIR (89,705) (50,626)
Bi1E 12 2,459 2,462
Loss for the year from continuing REBEEERBEZ
operations FEEBR (87,246) (48,164)
Discontinued operation ERILEEEES
Profit for the year from a discontinued REEKRIEEEEK
FEEF 13 3,670 9,788
Loss for the year FEEBER (83,576) (38,376)
Other comprehensive income, Htt 2@k &
net of tax (B&#)
Exchange differences on translating BREBIMCEXBZELER
foreign operations 196 242
Total comprehensive loss XEEZEBGREHE (BRR)
for the year, net of tax (83,380) (38,134)
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SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued) BEISHEE @)
2013 2012
—E—=% —E-—fF
Notes HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
B 5 FTHET FHET
(restated)
(%))
Loss attributable to: BERTIHIALZER:
Owners of the Company ELAFEEA (83,269) (34,145)
Non-controlling interests JERRES (307) (4,231)
(83,576) (38,376)
Total comprehensive loss BERTIIALTZ
attributable to: 2HEGAEE:
Owners of the Company ELAFIEEA (83,284) (83,915)
Non-controlling interests FFRERRES (96) (4,219)
(83,380) (38,134)
Loss per share attributable ENFHB AR
to owners of the Company BERCKRILEEZRE
for continuing and discontinued HSEEBR
operations 16
- Basic —ERK (4.5) centsi# il (2.5) centsi& 1l
- Diluted — 55 (4.5) centsi# il (2.5) centsi& Al
Loss per share attributable b X - PN
to owners of the Company BEREEESRER
for continuing operations
- Basic —HK (4.7) centsi# (il (3.3) centsiE Al
- Diluted — s (4.7) centsi# I (3.3) centsi& 1l

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial

statements.

BEM 2 I B AR E M MRER 2 — 301D ©

WMEREBBRAT « £32013 32



Report of the Directors

EEZERE

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued) MESISHEE @
As at 31 March
®B=A=+—H
2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
=% T —E——H CZT-ZTF CZZThF
HK$’ 000 HK$’000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
THET FExT FExT FiExT FET
Assets and liabilities BEHAR
Non-current assets ERBEE 131,113 94,209 4,492 1,886 1,234,355
Current assets RBEE 101,329 148,594 116,459 192,747 159,907
Current liabilities REBBEE (452,501) (462,252) (234,889) (362,251) (582,320)
Non-current liabilities FRBEE (9,077) (477) (147,276) (136,002) (204,846)
(229,136) (219,926) (261,214) (303,620) 607,096

Note: The results of the Group for the two years ended 31 March 2012 and 31

March 2013 and its assets and liabilities as at 31 March 2012 and 31 March
2013 are those set out on pages 47 to 159 of the consolidated financial
statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the year are set out in Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during the year and
details of the Company’s share option scheme are set out in Notes 36 and 38
to the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles of
association or the laws of the Cayman Islands, being the jurisdiction in which
the Company is incorporated, which would oblige the Company to offer new
shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

The Company or any of its subsidiaries had not purchased, redeemed or sold
any of the Company’s listed securities during the year.

BORROWINGS

Details of the borrowings of the Group are set out in Notes 32 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group during
the year are set out in Note 37 to the consolidated financial statements and in
the consolidated statement of changes in equity, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 March 2013, the Company did not have any reserves (2012: Nil),
available for cash distribution and/or distribution in specie, calculated in
accordance with the Companies Law (2003 Revision) of the Cayman Islands,
and no final dividend (2012: Nil) has been proposed out of such reserves
for the year. In accordance with the Companies Law (2003 Revision) of the
Cayman Islands, a company may make distributions to its members out of the
contributed surplus accounts under certain circumstances. In addition, the
Company’s share premium account, in the amount of HK$659,351,000 (2012:
HK$593,700,000) may be distributed in the form of fully paid bonus shares.

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this report
were:

Executive directors

Ms. Geng Ying (Chairman)

Mr. Gao Feng (Vice-Chairman)

Mr. Chiu Sui Keung (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Wang Xihua (Appointed on 11 March 2013)

Independent non-executive directors
Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond

Mr. Lam Williamson

Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen

In accordance with articles 86(3) of the Articles, Mr. Wang Xihua will be
eligible for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

The Company has received confirmation from each of the INEDs about his
independence pursuant of rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company is of
the view that all INEDs meet the independent rules and continues to consider
each of them to be independent.
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EEZERE

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the directors of the Company and the senior
management of the Group are set out on pages 13 to 16 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

During the year ended 31 March 2013, the services agreements of executive
directors, Ms. Geng Ying, Mr. Gao Feng and Mr. Chiu Sui Keung were expired
and have renewed with the Company for further three years. At the end of this
report date, there is no service agreement entered between Mr. Wang Xihau
and the Company. Mr. Wang’s emolument will be determined on annual basis
subject to review by the remuneration committee.

All INEDs have no fixed terms of appointments. No service agreement has
been or will be entered into between the Company and either of the INEDs.

Apart from the foregoing, no director proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with the Company
which is not determinable by the Company within one year without payment
other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

During the year, directors’ remuneration, comprised payments to the directors
of the Company and its subsidiaries in connection with the management of the
affairs of the Group, is as follow:

EFkEREHBZMAE

ARARESRAEESREERE 2HEHNARFHRE
132 %16H °

EEZRBED

AZE-—=ZF=ZRA=1+T-HFER ITESUZEL
T -SRAERBHRBEECRESEACIHYCE
B=F -BEABRFAHH/L TARELRERELLD
ARERBER -TEECHEKRFEE  YAR
FHEESEMF -

FEBLFDTESHEBREMEH - NAAHETS
TERBUFHTESTIRBEH -

BREENS  BREERRBFASLEEEECE
EMBERERQFTLARRAIER—FRLIULMEBR
EHBEE CEERERMD) 2RBEL -

ESHe

R ESME (BRBREEREEEBEMIATFAR
AREMBLARASEETZRE)MNT :

Basic Other Share-based MPF
Name of director Fees salaries  allowances payment  contributions Total
UERE
EFpa e EFHS HitRE ERZAR  HESHS &t
HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$' 000 HK$’ 000
TiER TR TiER TiER TR TER
2013: —E-CE:
Executive directors HWTER
Ms. Geng Ying BEgat - 1,000 - 331 - 1,331
Mr. Gao Feng (Vice-Chairman) SBEE(FLE) - 3,250 40 331 14 3,635
Mr. Chiu Sui Keung HRERE (THAZR)
(Chief Executive Officer) - 1,601 - 331 14 1,946
Mr. Wang Xihua IRERE
(Appointed on 11 March 2013) (R-E-ZfF=F+-HEZFH) - - - - - -
Independent non-executive BUFYTEE
directors
Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond BxEEE 120 - - 33 - 153
Mr. Lam Williamson HEEEE 180 - - 33 - 213
Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen BEELE 120 - - 33 - 153
420 5,851 40 1,092 28 7,431
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued) EEME @
Basic Other  Discretionary MPF
Name of director Fees salaries allowances bonuses  contributions Total
E=fF Hne ExFe 2ok B BB CH
HK$’000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
TR TER TiEn TiER TR T#n
2012: —E--F:
Executive directors BiEs
Ms. Geng Ying REat - 1,000 - 1,208 - 2,208
Mr. Gao Feng (Vice-Chairman) BREE(HZE) - 3,686 184 3,750 12 7,632
Mr. Chiu Sui Keung BRBAL(THER)
(Chief Executive Officer) - 1,751 - 1,139 12 2,902
Independent non-executive BUFHTES
directors
Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond 158 i3 120 - - - - 120
Mr. Lam Williamson H2EEE 180 - - - - 180
Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen BRREE 107 - - - - 107
407 6,437 184 6,097 24 13,149
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No director had a significant beneficial interest, either directly or indirectly,
in any contracts of significance to the business of the Group to which the
Company, its holding company or any of its subsidiaries was a party during
the year. Save as disclosed in this report, none of the director has had any
direct or indirect interest in any assets which have been acquired or disposed
of by, or leased to, or which are proposed to be acquired or disposed of by, or
leased to, any member of the Group during the year.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed below, as at 31 March 2013, none of the directors had
any beneficial interests (including interests or short positions) in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (“SFO”)) which would be required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including the interests and short positions which they are taken or deemed
to have taken under such provisions of the SFO), or which will be required,
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to
in that section, or will be required, pursuant to the Model Code in the Listing
Rules, to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Long positions in the shares of the Company
Long Positions in the shares and underlying shares of the company

Interest in shares/

ESZah#ER

AR - B A E R EE T A TR E BT
VRESHERMEALEAR S ERMY S EEE
BEEBAZEMEH - RERSHEEN  FAS
EEMEABERMBEHEE A EMETRELDWA -
HERARNRBA  HENEE S EAEE S E
% -

EERERTHRARRKG - MR
MRRGFCHEZRRE

BRTXREEN RZZE-ZF=ZA=+—-H #HE
ESRAQAREETAHE AT (AERSZRMERM
(TESRBMEHED ) EXVEFAET 2BRE) 2BRD
HERORESTEERER S RAERMEXVEG
BIRSAHMAMEADRARBRM(BERERESR
HERPI2EBRIBREFIRERER 2 BER K
) RAREF 5 & B B R 5 553521R A RS SR R AR B PR
MR MAARBRETINEARA AT RBRAZ
EfEREDR (BERERILR) -

RELFDERGBZHE

RARARGREERD 2FR

Number of shares/

Name of Directors Underlying shares Capacity underlying shares held
EEE8 RER HARERHRZES 513 FrisBen HHRBRB<® A
Geng Ying Share options Beneficial owner 20,622,000
Bk& B AE EEBEEA
Gao Feng (Note 1) Shares Beneficial owner 178,000,000
L0 =2 R BHREBA
Shares Interest of a controlled corporation 178,000,000
g BEZESINRZER
Shares options Beneficial owner 20,622,000
B AE EEBEAEA
Chiu Sui Keung Share options Beneficial owner 20,622,000
iz Bk IR BREEA
Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond Share options Beneficial owner 2,062,000
HpoK R B AR EREAA
Lam Williamson Share options Beneficial owner 2,062,000
ma2g BRI ERBEAA
Wong Hoi Kuen Share options Beneficial owner 2,062,000
9=y o BB I BaEEA
Note: Kt -
1. Mr. Gao Feng is beneficially interested in the entire issued share capital of 1. BE%4EEZEAEACE Channel Limitedz 23 E 3

ACE Channel Limited.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the share option scheme as set out in Note 38 to
the consolidated financial statements, at no time during the year was the
Company, its holding company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangement to enable the Company’s directors, their respective spouse or
children under 18 years of age to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Details of the Company’s share option scheme are set out in Note 38 to the
consolidated financial statements.

During the year ended 31 March 2013, 71,158,100 share options have been
granted to the directors and employees of the Group and 2,062,000 share
options were lapsed. As at 31 March 2013, 127,796,000 share options are
remained outstanding.

SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Board has approved the adoption of the share award scheme (“Scheme”)
on 11 February 2011 (“Adoption Date”), pursuant to which existing shares
will be purchased by the Bank of East Asia (Trustees) Limited (“Trustee”)
from the market at the cost of the Company and be held in trust for the
relevant selected participants (“Selected Participants”). Selected Participants
may cover any Director (including executive and non-executive Director),
employee, officer, agent, advisor or consultant of the Company and of its
subsidiaries.

The purpose of the Scheme are (i) to recognise the contributions by the
Selected Participants and to give incentives thereto in order to retain them for
the continuing operation and future development of the Group; and (ii) attract
suitable personnel for further development of the Group.

If the Board selects a Director as the Selected Participant, the grant of the
Awarded Shares to the Director may constitute a connected transaction
of the Company. However, since the grant of awarded shares to Director
forms part of the remuneration of the relevant Director under his/her service
contract, such grant of awarded shares is exempted from all the reporting,
announcement and independent Shareholder’s approval requirement under
Rules 14A.31(6) of the Listing Rules.

For the award of Shares to Selected Participants who are connected persons
(excluding Directors), the Company will comply with the relevant provisions of
the Listing Rules in relation to the reporting, announcement and independent
Shareholders approval requirements. However, any grant to any Director
or senior management of the Company must first be approved by the
Remuneration Committee.

Subject to any early termination as may be determined by the Board pursuant
to the rules relating to the Scheme, the Scheme shall be valid and effective for
a term of 10 years commencing on the Adoption Date provided that no further
contribution to the Trust shall be made by the Company on or after the 10th
anniversary date of the Adoption Date.
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SHARE AWARD SCHEME (continued)

On 9 March 2011, the Board approved and transfered HK$5,000,000 to
Trustee. During the year ended 31 March 2013, 10,100,000 shares were
purchased and held by the Trustee, representing approximately 0.49% of the
issued share capital of the Company.

During the year ended 31 March 2013, no award shares have been released to
Selected Participants.

ISSUE OF CONVERTIBLE NOTES AND PLACING
OF NEW SHARES

On 6 July 2012, the Company issued a convertible notes in an aggregate
principal amount of HK$15,000,000 at 12% coupon rate per annum with
maturity on the second anniversary of the issue date. The convertible note
will be convertible into 75,000,000 conversion shares at the initial conversion
price of HK$0.2 per conversion shares. Pursuant to the convertible note
subscription agreement, the initial conversion price is subject to adjustment
on the occurrence of the average closing price of the Company’s shares as
quoted on the daily quotation sheet of the Stock Exchange for the period
commencing from the date of issue of the convertible note and ending on the
180th day thereafter falls below the then conversion price. On 2 January 2013,
the initial conversion price is adjusted to HK$0.129 per conversion shares
(Detail refer to Notes 34). As at 31 March 2013, no conversion shares were
issued upon conversion of the convertible notes.

On 25 October 2012, the Company has successfully placed of 174,000,000
shares, at the placing price of HK$0.115 per share and raised net proceed
of approximately HK$19,800,000. The proceed was used for general working
capital of the Group.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND
INTERESTS DISCLOSABLE UNDER THE SFO

As at 31 March 2013, the following interests of 5% or more of the issued
share capital of the Company were recorded in the register of interests
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO:

Approximate
percentage of
existing issued

Number of ordinary share

Name of shareholders Notes shares interested  Nature of interests Capacity capital of the Company
FAFRFERTHER
BREE &8 fE HEESCKMBE HEHH EL] BFEhziGREBHTSLL
Mr. Hung Chen Richael 1 423,640,000 Long positions Beneficial owner 20.54%
(“Mr. Hung”) wa EnEBA
B EE ((HEE]D 198,000,000 Long positions Interest of a controlled corporation 9.60%
e BEZEMARZER
Mr. Zheng Xue Feng (“Mr. Zheng”) 2 270,000,000 Long positions Beneficial owner 13.09%
BEEEE (TBEED 3y EZBBA
Toeca National Resources B.V. 3 215,200,000 Long positions Beneficial owner 10.43%
(“Toeca National”) #a EXEEAA
118,000,000  Short positions Beneficial owner 5.72%
KA BEREHA
Ramphastos Investments N.V. 3 215,200,000 Long positions Interest of a controlled corporation 10.43%
(“Ramphastos Investments”) 53 BESEH AR ER
(TRamphastos Investments J) 118,000,000  Short positions Interest of a controlled corporation 5.72%
KR BEZEHRARzESR
Boekhoom Marcel Martinus 3 215,200,000 Long positions Interest of a controlled corporation 10.43%
Jacobus Johannes we BEZESARZERS
(“Boekhoom Marcel”) 118,000,000  Short positions Interest of a controlled corporation 5.72%
(I Boekhoom Marcel ) KR BEZESNARZER
ACE Channel Limited 4 178,000,000 Long positions Interest of a controlled corporation 8.63%
(“ACE Channel”) Ha BESEHARzER
(TACE Channel )
Mr. Gao Feng 4 191,000,000 Long positions Beneficial owner 9.26%
S EE HR BEGEREA
Mr. Mak Wai Chun 118,000,000 Long positions Interest of a controlled corporation 5.72%
(“Ms. Mak”) HE BEZES AR ERE
EE2Rut+((Hit)) 118,000,000 Long positions Interest of Spouse 5.72%

"R

BB RS
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND
INTERESTS DISCLOSABLE UNDER THE SFO

(continued)

FERFRREBEESRPEEMNA
FHEZER @

Approximate
percentage of
existing issued

Number of ordinary share
Name of shareholders Notes shares interested  Nature of interests Capacity capital of the Company
FARRAERTHER
BEgE &8 MiE BEESCKENBE HEMH {3 BFEPzHREEHTALL
Mr. Wan Chuen Chung, Joseph 118,000,000 Long positions Interest of Spouse 5.72%
(“Mr. Wan”) 3y e B e a5
FERBEETHREE] 118,000,000 Long positions Interest of a controlled corporation 5.72%
¥ BEZERARZER
Sun Investment Development 5 105,088,000 Long positions Interest of a controlled corporation 5.096%
(“Sun Investment”) wE BRESEHARZER
(I'Sun Investment ])
Mr. Sun Hui (“Mr. Sun”) 5 105,088,000 Long positions Beneficial owner 5.096%
BREEE (HREED ¥R EREBA
Advanced Elation Holdings 6 176,333,333  Long positions Beneficial owner 8.55%
Limited (“Advanced Elation”) HR BREAA
(I Advanced Elation )
Notes: BT

41

These 423,640,000 shares include the aggregate of 76,640,000 shares is
beneficially owned by Mr. Hung, a former executive director (Resigned on 1
August 2009), and the outstanding principal amount of the Convertible Notes
as at 30 September 2011 was HK$173,500,000, which can be converted into
347,000,000 ordinary shares at a convertible price of HK$0.5 shares.

Mr. Hung is the beneficially interested in the entire issued share capital
of Mega Wealth Capital Limited (“Mega Wealth”) and Webright Limited
(“Webright”). By virtue of the SFO, he is deemed to be interested in the
100,000,000 shares beneficially owned by Mega Wealth and 98,000,000
shares beneficially owned by Webright. Accordingly, Mr. Hung is deemed to
be interested in these 621,640,000 shares under the SFO.

The Company signed a sale and purchase Agreement (“the Agreement”) with
Mr. Zheng on 8 August 2011. Pursuant to the Agreement, the Company will
issue and allot of 270,000,000 consideration shares at the issue price of
HK$0.45 per share to Mr. Zheng at the completion subject to the terms and
conditions of the Agreement in relation to the consideration adjustments.
(Details refer to the Company circular dated on 28 September 2011).

Boekhoom Marcel has the ultimate beneficial interest in the entire issued
share capital of Toeca National and Ramphastos Investments. By virtue of
the SFO, Boekhoom Marcel is deemed to be interested in these 215,200,000
shares beneficially owned by Toeca National.

Mr. Gao is the beneficially interested in the entire issued share capital of
ACE Channel. By virtue of the SFO, he is deemed to be interested in the
178,000,000 shares beneficially owned by ACE Channel.
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5. Mr. Sun is the beneficially interested in the entire issued share capital of
Sun Investment. By virtue of the SFO, he is deemed to be interested in the
105,088,000 shares beneficially owned by Sun Investment.

6. The Company signed a sale and purchase agreement (the “S&P Agreement”)
with Advanced Elation Holdings Limited on 31 March 2012. Pursuant to
the S&P Agreement, the Company issued and allotted of 251,833,333
consideration shares at the issue price of HK$0.30 per share to Advanced
Elation on 31 August 2012 and only 176,283,333 of consideration shares
subject to the terms and conditions of the S&P Agreement in relation to the
consideration adjustments. (Details refer to the Company announcement date
on 1 April 2012).

7. This percentage is calculated based on the existing issued share capital of
the Company as at 31 March 2013.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

During the year, save for the service contracts of the directors, the Company
had not entered into any contract with any individual, firm or body corporate
to manage or administer the whole or any substantial part of any business of
the Company.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

(1) Unsecured loans from Mr. Hung Chen, Richael, a former executive
director and a substantial shareholder who resigned on 1 August 2009,
under the followings terms:

()  principal amount of HK$3,000,000, bearing interest at a fixed rate of
8% per annum due on 3 December 2009;

(i)  principal amount of HK$8,000,000, bearing interest at a fixed rate of
8% per annum due on 8 March 2010; and

(20 On 15 August 2011, the Company signed a shareholder’s loan facility
agreement of HK$20,000,000 with ACE Channel Limited, beneficially
owned by Mr. Gao Feng, a director of the Company, is unsecured,
bearing interest at a prime rate plus 1% (i.e. 6%) per annum and due
on 14 August 2012. On 12 September 2012, the agreement has been
extended for one year and due on 14 August 2013. The Company has
already drawn down a total amount of HK$6,641,000 as at 31 March
2013.

Save as disclosed above, no contracts of significance, to which the Company,
its holding companies, its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party
and in which a director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

No contracts of significance for the provision of services to the Company or
any of its subsidiaries by a controlling shareholder of the Company or any of
its subsidiaries subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

No contracts of significance between the Company or any of its subsidiary
companies and a controlling shareholder of the Company or may compete
with the business of the Group.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

A wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, Pro-Capital Investments
Limited, entered into a Master Project Management Agreement with Group
Idea International Limited was expired on 5 April 2012. As such, there is no
continuing connected transaction occurred during the year ended 31 March
2013.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

So far as the directors were aware, none of the directors or their associates
had any interest in a business that competes or may compete with the
business of the Group.

COMPLIANCE WITH CG CODE

The Company is committed to ensuring high standards of corporate
governance through the establishment and adoption of good practices
and procedures which are in the best interests of the Company and its
shareholders. The Company has applied the principles and complied with all
code provisions of the CG Code throughout the year.

COMPLIANCE WITH MODEL CODE

Details of compliance with the Model Code by directors of the Company is
set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 17 to 29 of this annual
report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the directors of the Company as at the date of this report,
the Company has maintained the prescribed public float under the Listing
Rules.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Details of the composition of the Company’s Audit Committee and the major
work performed by the Committee during the year is set out in the Corporate
Governance Report on pages 17 to 29 of this annual report.
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AUDITORS

The accounts for the year were audited by HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng
Limited whose term of office will expire upon the forthcoming annual general
meeting. In March 2012, the practice of HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng was
reorganised as HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited. The Audit Committee
has recommended to the Board that HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited be
nominated for appointment as the auditors of the Company at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Geng Ying
Chairman

Hong Kong
26 June 2013
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Independent Auditors’ Report
BYZBEHRES

HLB B o m EH AR
Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited

31/F Gloucester Tower
The Landmark

11 Pedder Street
Central

Hong Kong

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
SINO RESOURCES GROUP LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Sino Resources
Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to
as the “Group”) set out on pages 47 to 159, which comprise the consolidated
and company statements of financial position as at 31 March 2013, and the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements based on our audit and to report our opinion solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report. We
conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.
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Independent Auditors’ Report

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY (continued)

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.
The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments,
the auditors consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 31 March 2013
and of the Group’s loss and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly
prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY CONCERNING GOING
CONCERN BASIS OF ACCOUNTING

Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 3(a) in the
consolidated financial statements which indicates that the Group incurred
a net loss of approximately HK$83,576,000 during the year ended 31
March 2013 and, as of that date, the Group had net current liabilities
of approximately HK$351,172,000 and net liabilities of approximately
HK$229,136,000. These conditions, along with other matters as set forth in
Note 3(a) in the consolidated financial statements, indicate the existence of a
material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt about the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Hon Koon Fai, Alex
Practising Certificate Number: P05029

Hong Kong, 26 June 2013
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

SEZHERRK

For the year ended 31 March 2013 #HE-T—=F=A=+—HILFE

Turnover
Cost of sales

Gross profit
Other revenue
Other income

Finance costs

Taxation

operation

2013 2012
—2—=F —E-CF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’ 000
Mt 2 FTHET FET
(restated)
(E31)
Continuing operations FEBERD
=2 7 37,084 67,168
HERA (36,573) (66,003)
EF 511 1,165
Hfth iy 2= 7 655 3,390
HAb A 8 302 5,290
Other operating expenses Hit g8 (29,805) (43,501)
Share-based payment LURR 19 & L7 2 43R (3,088) -
Impairment loss of goodwill BERESE 20 (46,485) -
Fair value gain on derivative financial liabilities $T42@mME &z A FEKE 31 4,722 567
Fair value gain/(loss) on derivative TEERMEEZ N TE
financial assets W= (E51E) 22 4,925 (1,673)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—RBK B2 Rz WS 40 - 9
Loss from operating activities BEXBER 8 (68,263) (34,753)
R A 9 (21,442) (15,873)
Loss before tax RBNEE (89,705) (50,626)
g 12 2,459 2,462
Loss for the year from continuing REBEEERBZ
operations FEGR (87,246) (48,164)
Discontinued operation ERIEEERY
Profit for the year from a discontinued RECKRLEEEKZ
F E i Al 13 3,670 9,788
Loss for the year FEEBER (83,576) (38,37¢)
Other comprehensive income, Hth2mik
net of tax (Fx#)
Exchange differences on translating REBIKEXB BT ER
foreign operations 196 242
Total comprehensive loss TFEEREBGIRAE (RR)
for the year, net of tax (83,380) (38,134)
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

REZHERRKR

For the year ended 31 March 2013 #HBZE-T—=5=A=+—HI5E

2013 2012
—E—=f —E-CF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’ 000
Mt 2 T#T FET
(restated)
(E51)
Loss attributable to: BERTIHIALZER:
Owners of the Company EXFEHEEA (83,269) (34,145)
Non-controlling interests FEEER (307) (4,231)
(83,576) (38,376)
Total comprehensive loss BERTIIALZ
attributable to: EEEGIRAHE
Owners of the Company ELFEEA (83,284) (33,915)
Non-controlling interests iR E D (96) (4,219)
(83,380) (38,134)
Loss per share attributable ERFEB ARG
to owners of the Company BERECRIEREXRY
for continuing and discontinued SRR
operations 16
- Basic —ER (4.5) cents# il (2.5) centsi#E Al
— Diluted —-#8 (4.5) centsi#&ll (2.5) centsiE AL
Loss per share attributable FAFWAE ARG
to owners of the Company BREERBESRER
for continuing operations
- Basic —HR (4.7) centsi& il (3.3) centsi& Al
— Diluted —# (4.7) centsi#fl (3.3) centsi#E Al

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial

statements.

BEM B AR E M B RRER 2 — 30 -
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e B AR O &R

At 31 March 2013 =ZZ—=F=/F=+—H

Goodwill

Current assets

Assets classified as

Borrowings

operation

2013 2012
—E—=F —E-C-F
Notes HK$’000 HK$' 000
i =% FTHET THET
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment M- BEREE 17 27,793 4,595
(5ES 20 70,135 71,689
Derivative financial assets TEEMEE 22 33,184 17,924
Available-for-sale financial assets JHEESREE 23 1 1
131,113 94,209
REEE
Trade receivables 2 5 EWFIE 24 21,381 71,212
Deposits, prepayments and Re - AAHRER
other receivables H fth FE TR IE 25 58,034 61,532
Amount due from a director EW—REEHE 26 - 34
Deposits with banks RITER 27 10,891 10,786
Cash and cash equivalents BHeRBELEEER 27 11,018 5,030
101,324 148,594
RHEACDRILEEER
discontinued operation ZEE 13 5 =
Total current assets nHEEMEE 101,329 148,594
Less: Current liabilities wcRBAR
Trade payables B ENHRE 28 20,022 69,426
Accrued liabilities and other payables Rt EREEMTRIE 29 206,191 193,387
Amounts due to shareholders EARRRE 30 23,215 16,670
Derivative financial liabilities TEEHEE 31 1,703 4,159
BE 32 17,282 18,414
Obligations under finance leases RMERYNET 33 5,235 462
Convertible notes ARRER 34 173,500 157,014
Deferred tax liabilities RERIESE 35 - 2,720
447,148 462,252
Liabilities directly associated with HEEAERLELE
assets classified as discontinued EREEEEERCEE
13 5,353 -
Total current liabilities nHRRHEE 452,501 462,252
Net current liabilities mERRBE (351,172) (313,658)
Total assets less current liabilities BREHEREDAR (220,059) (219,449)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e B3 AR O &R

At 31 March 2013 =ZZ2—=#=A=+—H

2013 2012
—2-=F —EB-CF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’ 000
M E FET TER
Less: Non-current liabilities wERBAR
Obligations under finance leases MEBENEME 33 723 477
Convertible notes REEE 34 8,093 -
Deferred tax liabilities EERIEAE 35 261 -
9,077 477
Net liabilities ARBE (229,136) (219,926)
Equity attributable to owners FOTBAABGRS
of the Company
Share capital B 36 20,623 16,365
Reserves e (247,609) (233,064)
(226,986) 216,699)
Non-controlling interests FRBES (2,150) (3,227)
Total equity waea (229,136) (219,926)
The consolidated financial statements on pages 47 to 159 were approved and BA7RIS9E 2GR BRRER=Z—Z=ZFx<A
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 26 June 2013 and signed on SHABEESEHAERBETE  YATHALR
its behalf by: RE=E:
Gao Feng Chiu Sui Keung
= g IR 54
Director Director
EE £
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial MM 2B AGRE M ERREE S —3 17D -
statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
REERBEX

For the year ended 31 March 2013 #HE-T—=F=A=+—HILFE

Equity attributable to owners of the Company

FATRAABERE
Convertible ~ Shares held
Share nofes  for share Share Non-

Share  premium  Exchange Accumulated equity award options  Warrant Sub controlling Total
copital ~ account  reserves losses reserve scheme reserve reserve fofal inferests equity
Ef

TRRRE %Wt BE  EREE 314

ks RRERE  ERRW  AtER  MEEE KRR i ] ] it LI
HKE000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'O00  HKF'OO0  HKE'O00  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKE'000  HK$'000
Tin Tn Tin Tén Tin Tn Tin Tén Tin Tn Tin

Note 37(a]|
(Hit37(a))

A1 Apil 2011 H-g--£mA-A ERTIY) wopsmy N P 8% ©opseEsy R pelaig
Exchange differences on BEENRHERZE

fronslaing foreign operafion - 20 - - - 230 12 1)
Net income and expense ERRERETL

recognised direcly in equity YAREXEE - - 20 - - - - - 20 12 242
Net loss for the year FEEFERE - - - (34,145) - - - - (34,145) (4,231 (38,376
Tofol comprehensive loss REEREEER

for he year 88 - (33915) {409 (38,134)
Acquisiion of subsidiaries WENRAR

N 41 W) 7B
Share opions lapsed BANERE = = =
Shares purchased for AROEBTARRRG

share aword scheme - - (1,263 (1,263 (1,263
Placing of shares RERR 300 10,500 - 10,800 = 10,800
Consideration shares RERH 2700 62,100 64,800 64,800
Share ssving expenses BRARR - (431) (431) [431)
Placing of warranfs REDRER - - 2,300 2,300
Warrants issuing cosls ARERRGHA - - - (136) - (136]
A1 Mach 2012 Hog-§2Az1-R 16365 5970 1984 mess P [osy
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 March 2013

MERBEBE R

BE-T-—=F=A=1+—HIEFE

Equity attributable to owners of the Company

FATRAABERE
Convertible ~ Shares held
Share nofes  for share Share Non-
Share  premium  Exchange Accumulated equity award options  Warrant Sub controlling Total
copital ~ account  reserves losses reserve scheme reserve reserve fofal inferests equity
Ef
TRRRE %Wt BE  EREE 314
ks RRERE  ERRW  AtER  MEEE KRR i ] ] it LI
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tin Tn Tin Tén Tin Tn Tén Thn Thn Tén Thn
Note 37(a]|
(HEE37)
N1l 012, cspercboe BLHZE-=ERA-F 16365 90 W9 N U9 8IS 2l Qe B gy
Exchange differences on BEENRHERZE
franslofing foreign operafion - (1] - - - - - (15) N 19
Net income and expense ERRERETL
recognised direcly in equity YAREXEE - (15 - - - - - (15) 201 19
Net loss for the year REERERE - - - (83,269) - - - (83,269 (307) (83,576)
Tofol comprehensive loss REEREEER
for e yer 45 - 0§ g2 - ] [
Acquisiion of subsidiaries WEKELT
INot 41 W) ; - - - ; ; R N A
Share options granted ERLERE - - - - - 3,088 - 3,088 - 3,088
Share opions lapsed BXMERE - 89 - - (69) - - - -
Release upon maturit of TARZEARER
converfible notes - - 30,568 (30,568 - - - - - -
Placing of shares RERN 1,740 18,270 - - - - - 20,010 20,010
Consideration shares fERH 2518 47597 - - - - - 50,115 - 50,115
Share issuing expenses BRARR - (216] - - - - - (216) - [216)
At 31 March 2013 RZE-Z2RZ+- 062 659351 % OI540) M98 T8 2l6h (126986 (2150 (229136)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial

statements.

BEMY 2 B EB AR S MR R 2 — 34D o
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
mEEERER

For the year ended 31 March 2013 #HE-T—=F=A=+—HILFE

Cash flows from operating activities BEXBZAERE

Loss before tax BRBE Al &5 18
Adjustments for: TR
Finance costs B & A
Bank interest income RAT R B WA
Reversal of other payables H fth FE S RO [
Share options granted 2R B R RE
Depreciation of property, plant and M- BER
equipment RfEZE
Impairment loss of goodwill HMEREER
Fair value gain on derivative financial PTEEMEEATE
liabilities 25
Fair value (gain)/loss on derivative financial TESRMEELATE
assets (W) B8

REEDTRREE 2 WS

Gain on early redemption of
convertible notes

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEM B AR 2z W
Loss on disposal of property, HEWXE - BER
plant and equipment R ZE1BE
Loss on written off of property, MSEYE - BB
plant and machinery REREzER
Operating loss before working capital ReEis RTS8
changes B2
Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables B 5 EWRIERD, (Eh)
Decrease in inventory FERD
Decrease/(increase) in deposits, e FAANRER

prepayments and other receivables H o e R R A (32 4n)
Decrease in amount due from a director B —EBESRIERD
Z 5 EMNFRIE CRD)

(Decrease)/increase in trade payables

Increase/(decrease) in accrued liabilities 2t EREMmES
and other payables R\, O D)
Decrease in deposits received in advance FEWRE R
Cash used in operations ReEXBHHAZRE
Interest received 2WFE
Net cash outflow from BEXBZRS
operating activities Pridaipe g ]

53 Sino Resources Group Limited ® Annual Report 2013
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(105)

(2,690)
3,088

652
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(302)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

mEREMRNER

For the year ended 31 March 2013 HZE=ZZ—=F=/A=+—HItFE

2013 2012
—E2—=5 —E-C-F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’ 000
Mt 2 THET FHET
Cash flows from investing activities BREEDZRERE
(Increase)/decrease in deposits with banks RATEMZ (EM) ED (105) 58,373
Net cash outflow from acquisition WEHEBARZRE
of subsidiaries i np=sE-C} 41 (1,930) (4,730)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEYE BERRE (15,861) (2,461)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant HEWME BERZE
and equipment Fri8RIE 3 814
Purchase of available-for-sale financial assets BEAHHELSHEE = (1)
Net cash outflow from HEWBAREEZ
disposal of subsidiaries REeEREFE 40 - (2)
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from BREIHZRE (RH)
investing activities AR (17,893) 51,993
Cash flows from financing activities METHZRERE
Increase in amounts due to shareholders JE 45F B 3R 0 38 20 5,340 1,300
Proceeds from new borrowings LB R Z FT B FRIE 2,600 8,593
Repayment of borrowings BERE (3,879) (28,500)
Repayment of obligations under finance lease  EEBMER LI EE (4,127) (490)
Interest paid on borrowings BEENAE (136) (32)
Payment for other finance costs H 5 & B A Z 43 7K (5) =
Proceeds from issuance of convertible notes BITABRREE ZFIERE 15,000 =
Payment for purchase of shares ABROEBE
for share award scheme BERGOZHAR = (1,263)
Proceeds from placing of shares BER D 2 5 RIE 20,010 10,800
Share issuing expenses RMDETHX (216) (431)
Proceed from placing of warrants BERRER ZIEHIE - 2,300
Warrants issuing cost R RE R AT A = (136)
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from MEFBZRE
financing activities WA ()28 34,587 (7,859
Increase/(decrease) in cash and cash HeéeRBEFEHRH
equivalents |/ (D) 5,695 (16,294)
Cash and cash equivalents at FOZBEeRE&
beginning of the year ${EEHH 5,030 21,220
Effect of foreign exchange EFxgncveE
rate changes 298 104
Cash and cash equivalents at end FERZAERAS
of the year SEHEA 11,023 5,030
Analysis of balances of cash and BeRBE&FERAE
cash equivalents BERS
Cash and bank balances BHERBITER 11,023 5,030
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial BEME 2 izt BAAR S B IR R EE 2 — 517 -
statements.
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Statement of Financia

B #5 IR &=

At 31 March 2013 =ZZ—=F=/F=+—H

| Position

2013 2012
—E—=F —E--F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Fff &F THET FET
Non-current assets FRBEE
Interests in subsidiaries RHEB AT 2R 18 97,286 84,187
Derivative financial assets TESHMERE 22 33,184 17,924
Available-for-sale financial assets AfHEEMERE 23 1 1
130,471 102,112
Current assets e E
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables RE -~ FBAFRIERE it B R E 25 10,836 15,783
Amount due from a director BN —BESRIE 26 - 34
Deposits with banks RITER 27 10,891 10,786
Cash and cash equivalents RERBEEEEE 27 114 17
21,841 26,720
Less: Current liabilities i REAR
Accrued liabilities and other payables Rt BERHEMBESRIE 29 172,109 175,841
Amounts due to shareholders FEAFBIRERFRIE 30 23,215 16,670
Derivative financial liabilities TEeHAasE 31 1,703 4,159
Borrowings EE 32 2,600 -
Convertible notes R EE 34 173,500 157,014
Deferred tax liabilities EERBEEE 35 - 2,720
373,127 356,404
Net current liabilities RBRAREHE (351,286) (329,684)
Total assets less current liabilities EEHMEBERBRARK (220,815) (227,572)
Less: Non-current liabilities i ERBAR
Convertible notes CIE:Y 34 8,093 =
Deferred tax liabilities EERIBEEE 35 261 =
8,354 —
Net liabilities ARBE (229,169) (227,572)
Capital and reserves BE R G
Share capital B2 36 20,623 16,365
Reserves R0 37(b) (249,792) (243,937)
Total equity Y ] (229,169) (227,572)

The consolidated financial statements on pages 47 to 159 were approved and

authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on
its behalf by:

Gao Fen
=g
Director

EFE

The accompanying notes form an integral part of
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these financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2013

CORPORATE INFORMATION

Sino Resources Group Limited (the “Company”) is a limited liability
company incorporated in the Cayman Islands and its shares are listed on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The
registered office of the Company is located at Cricket Square, Hutchins
Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The
principal place of business of the Company is located at Suvite 2502,
25/F, No. 9 Queen’s Road Central, Central, Hong Kong.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are engaged as investing and developing
in unconventional gas business and coal and metals trading business.
The principal activities, other particulars of its subsidiaries are set out in
Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements. During the year ended
31 March 2013, the Group's trade shows and exhibition operation was
discontinued.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars,
which is the same as the functional currency of the Company and dll
values are rounded to the nearest thousand (HK$'000) except when
otherwise indicated.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”)
has issued certain new and revised standards, amendments and
interpretations that are mandatory for accounting periods beginning on
or after 1 April 2012. The new and revised standards, amendments and
interpretations adopted in the current year are referred to as new and
revised HKFRSs. A summary of the effect on initial adoption of these new
and revised HKFRSs is set out below.

HKFRS 1T (Amendments) First-time Adoption of Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards —
Severe Hyperinflation and Removal
of Fixed Dates for First-time Adopters

HKFRS 7 (Amendments) Financial Instruments: Disclosures —
Transfers of Financial Assets

HKAS 12 (Amendments) Deferred Tax: Recovery of Underlying
Assets

B IS AR MY aE

BE_Z—=F=A=+—HILFE

QAFEH

HMNEREBERAT (ARARA]) ARHERH
EEMALIZERAT  MEROBREBEHSR
ZHERAR (TBRA]) £h o RAQ Tz
E Rl A Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O.
Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands e R AR EELE XM BVREBHRIRESS
KB FHOSE2512502F ©

KRRz ETEXZBRREER - AMBAR IR
ERBEFFRRAREBUARERREBES
EB - BETHBRARZEIEXERREMFEBRRN
FEMBBRRMEIS - RBE=-F—=F=H
=T-HLEFER AEEZRESEBEKLL -

REUBBRUBIREY  MEBELRARDFZ
NEEEW  REBEBIN  FEBEGNEET
fZ(FHBxT) °

RN REBIIZEEMBEREER
([HFRMBEEEN])

BEEMMAS ((BEEMAS ) SEMAET
A RBETTER - BRIARRE R-F—=
FHOA-—HRZEBKRETHBREER - &K
FERM T RBETEL - BITARZRE
BRI KRBT BB BIREER o RRAZ
EHAIREETEBNBRELENZE RS
PIAT L »

EBUBRBEEL BRRATBUBHREER
F 15 BRI A) - BESBRIIUEEIR

RanEZEEHH

BEPBRELEN SRMIE KE-EZSH
F75% BRI A) BE

BB ER EIERIR | WEIEEEE
1258 (BRI A)
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B IS RAR MY aE

For the year ended 31 March 2013 #HE-T—=F=A=+—HILFE

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

(continued)

The directors anticipate that the application of these new and revised

HKFRSs has no material impact on the results and the financial position of

the Group.

The Group has not applied in advance the following new and revised
HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective.

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG 2,

ERAHITREBITIZEEMBEREER
((EEMBEREERDN]) ()

ESRAEAZSEHIREETEBMBRESE
A AEEz EEAR A BERRLEEERTE -

REBEWEZLEAUT B EMAE N RERZH
AIRBIETEBMBREER -

HKFRS T (Amendments) Government Loan? EBMEREERER BT & 72
(BFTA)
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments* BB R G E R SEo% @I A
HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements? ERMBEREENEIOR FRERBERER’
HKFRS 11 Joint Arrangements? EERMBEHREERE BE T
HKFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities? BB KREERE1255 BEAAMER2
Em?
HKFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement? BBMEREER S35 DEEFE
HKFRS 7 (Amendments) Disclosures — Offsetting Financial Assets BB HREERE7R BE-HEemE
and Financial Liabilities? CCHEN) ERERERE?
HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 Mandatory Effective Date of HKFRS 9 ERMBHREEANEIRR BB KREER
(Amendments) and Transition Disclosures? ERUBRELEAE7R e
(BFTA) EREERBE
P 5
HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11 and Consolidated Financial Statements, Joint EBIEREEAE10%E REBHHRE A
HKFRS 12 (Amendments) Arrangements Disclosure of Interests in ERMBEREENEIR ZHREBEENH

HKFRS 10, HKFRS 12 and
HKAS 27 (Amendments)

HKAS 19 (as revised in 2011)

HKAS 27 (as revised in 2011)

HKAS 28 (as revised in 2011)

Other Entities: Transition Guidance?

Investment Entities®

Employee Benefits?
Separate Financial Statements?

Investments in Associates and Joint

REBMBEREEDFE29%
(CHES
ERBERELENEI05
BRI EREENE25%
REBETELE27E
CHES
BEHASTEREI9%
(R=Z——F &)
BRI ERE27H
(R=F——F&&)
BBSTERE285%

BREED  BE
E5l?
REBE

EERA?
BRI BHRR?

REERATREE
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 #Z—Z—=%#=F=1+—HII5E
2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG 2, ERARITREETZEEBMBEEED

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

HKFRS 9 issued in 2009 introduced new requirements for the classification
and measurement of financial assets. HKFRS 9 was amended in 2010 to
include requirements for the classification and measurement of financial
liabilities and for derecognition.

Key requirements of HKFRS 9 are described below:

e All recognised financial assets that are within the scope of HKAS
39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement to be
subsequently measured at amortised cost or fair value. Specifically,
debt investments that are held within a business model whose
objective is to collect the contractual cash flows, and that have
contractual cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal outstanding are generally measured at
amortised cost at the end of subsequent reporting periods. All other
debt investments and equity investments are measured at their fair
values at the end of subsequent accounting periods. In addition,
under HKFRS 9, entities may make an irrevocable election to present
subsequent changes in the fair value of an equity investment (that
is not held for trading) in other comprehensive income, with only
dividend income generally recognised in profit or loss.

e  With regard to the measurement of financial liabilities designated
as at fair valve through profit or loss, HKFRS 9 requires that the
amount of change in the fair value of the financial liability that is
attributable to changes in the credit risk of that liability is presented
in other comprehensive income, unless the recognition of the effects
of changes in the liability’s credit risk in other comprehensive income
would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss.
Changes in fair value of financial liabilities aftributable to changes
in the financial liabilities’ credit risk are not subsequently reclassified
to profit or loss. Previously, under HKAS 39, the entire amount of the
change in the fair value of the financial liability designated as fair
value through profit or loss was presented in profit or loss.

HKFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2015, with earlier application permitted.

The directors anticipate that the adoption of HKFRS 9 in the future may
have a significant impact on the amounts reported in respect of the
Group's financial assets and financial liabilities. Regarding the Group’s
financial assets, it is not practicable to provide a reasonable estimate of
that effect until a detailed review has been completed.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG 2. BRAHITRECITIZEEMBEREE

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(continued)

New and revised standards on consolidation,
joint arrangements, associates and disclosures

In June 2011, a package of five standards on consolidation, joint
arrangements, associates and disclosures was issued, including HKFRS 10,
HKFRS 11, HKFRS 12, HKAS 27 (as revised in 2011) and HKAS 28 (as
revised in 2011).

Key requirements of these five standards are described below.

HKFRS 10 replaces the parts of HKAS 27 Consolidated and Separate
Financial Statements that deal with consolidated financial statements. HK
(SIC) = Int 12 Consolidation — Special Purpose Entities will be withdrawn
upon the effective date of HKFRS 10. Under HKFRS 10, there is only one
basis for consolidation, that is, control. In addition, HKFRS 10 includes a
new definition of control that contains three elements: (a) power over an
investee, (b) exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the investee, and (c) the ability to use its power over the investee to
affect the amount of the investor’s returns. Extensive guidance has been
added in HKFRS 10 to deal with complex scenarios.

HKFRS 11 replaces HKAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures. HKFRS 11 deals
with how a joint arrangement of which two or more parties have joint
control should be classified. HK (SIC) - Int 13 Jointly Controlled Entities
— Non-monetary Contributions by Venturers will be withdrawn upon the
effective date of HKFRS 11. Under HKFRS 11, joint arrangements are
classified as joint operations or joint ventures, depending on the rights and
obligations of the parties to the arrangements. In contrast, under HKAS
31, there are three types of joint arrangements: jointly controlled entities,
jointly controlled assets and jointly controlled operations. In addition,
joint ventures under HKFRS 11 are required to be accounted for using
the equity method of accounting, whereas jointly controlled entities under
HKAS 31 can be accounted for using the equity method of accounting or
proportionate consolidation.

HKFRS 12 is a disclosure standard and is applicable to entities that
have interests in subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates and/or
unconsolidated structured entities. In general, the disclosure requirements
in HKFRS 12 are more extensive than those in the current standards.

In July 2012, the amendments to HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11 and HKFRS 12
were issued to clarify certain transitional guidance on the application of
these five HKFRSs for the first fime.

These five standards, together with the amendments relating to the
transitional guidance, are effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2013 with earlier application permitted provided all of
these standards are applied at the same time.

The directors anticipate that the application of these five standards will
have no impact to the Group's consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 #HE-Z—=F=A=+—HItFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(continued)

HKFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement

HKFRS 13 establishes a single source of guidance for fair value
measurements and disclosures about fair value measurements. The
standard defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair
value, and requires disclosures about fair value measurements. The scope
of HKFRS 13 is broad; it applies to both financial instrument items and
non-financial instrument items for which other HKFRSs require or permit
fair value measurements and disclosures about fair value measurements,
except in specified circumstances. In general, the disclosure requirements
in HKFRS 13 are more extensive than those in the current standards. For
example, quantitative and qualitative disclosures based on the three-level
fair value hierarchy currently required for financial instruments only under
HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures will be extended by HKFRS 13
to cover all assets and liabilities within its scope.

HKFRS 13 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2013, with earlier application permitted.

The directors anticipate that the application of the new standard may
affect certain amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements
and result in more extensive disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements.

HKFRS 7 and HKAS 32 (Amendments) Offsetting
Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities and the
related disclosures

The amendments to HKAS 32 clarify existing application issues relating
to the offset of financial assets and financial liabilities requirements.
Specifically, the amendments clarify the meaning of “currently has a
legally enforceable right of set-off” and “simultaneous realisation and
settlement”.

The amendments to HKFRS 7 require entities to disclose information about
rights of offset and related arrangements (such as collateral posting
requirements) for financial instruments under an enforceable master netting
agreement or similar arrangement.

The amendments to HKFRS 7 are effective for annual periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2013 and interim periods within those annual periods.
The disclosures should be provided retrospectively for all comparative
periods. However, the amendments to HKAS 32 are not effective until
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014, with retrospective
application required.

The directors anticipate that the application of these amendments to HKAS
32 and HKFRS 7 may result in more disclosures being made with regard to
offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities in the future.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(continued)

HKAS 1 (Amendments) Presentation of ltems of
Other Comprehensive Income

The amendments to HKAS 1 introduce new terminology for the statement
of comprehensive income and income statement. Under the amendments to
HKAS 1, a statement of comprehensive income is renamed as a statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and an income statement
is renamed as a statement of profit or loss. The amendments to HKAS
1 retain the option to present profit or loss and other comprehensive
income in either a single statement or in two separate but consecutive
statements. However, the amendments to HKAS 1 require items of other
comprehensive income to be grouped into two categories in the other
comprehensive income section: (a) items that will not be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss and (b) items that may be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss when specific conditions are met. Income tax
on items of other comprehensive income is required to be allocated on the
same basis. The amendments do not change the option to present items of
other comprehensive income either before tax or net of tax.

The amendments to HKAS 1 are effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 July 2012. The presentation of items of other comprehensive
income will be modified accordingly when the amendments are applied in
the future accounting periods.
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 #HE-Z—=F=A=+—HItFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(continued)

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2009 - 2011
Cycle issued in June 2012

The Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2009 - 2011 Cycle include a
number of amendments to various HKFRSs. The amendments are effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013. Amendments to
HKFRSs include:

. amendments to HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements;
e amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment; and

° amendments to HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation.

HKAS 1 (Amendments)

HKAS 1 requires an entity that changes accounting policies
retrospectively, or makes a retrospective restatement or reclassification
to present a statement of financial position as at the beginning of the
preceding period (third statement of financial position). The amendments
to HKAS 1 clarify that an entity is required to present a third statement
of financial position only when the retrospective application, restatement
or reclassification has a material effect on the information in the third
statement of financial position and that related notes are not required to
accompany the third statement of financial position.

HKAS 16 (Amendments)

The amendments to HKAS 16 clarify that spare parts, stand-by equipment
and servicing equipment should be classified as property, plant and
equipment when they meet the definition of property, plant and equipment
in HKAS 16 and as inventory otherwise. The directors do not anticipate
that the amendments to HKAS 16 will have a significant effect on the
Group’s consolidated financial statements.

HKAS 32 (Amendments)

The amendments to HKAS 32 clarify that income tax on distributions
to holders of an equity instrument and transaction costs of an equity
transaction should be accounted for in accordance with HKAS 12 Income
Taxes. The directors anticipate that the amendments to HKAS 32 will have
no effect on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies have
been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise
stated.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with all applicable HKFRSs, which is a collective term that includes all
applicable individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”), and Interpretations issued by the HKICPA
and accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures required
by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the
“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

(a) Basis of preparation
The measurement basis used in the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements is historical cost except for certain financial
assets and financial liabilities which are carried at fair value.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company have given careful consideration to the
future liquidity of the Group in light of the Group’s net loss
of approximately HK$83,576,000 for the year ended 31
March 2013 (2012: HK$38,376,000), the Group’s net current
liabilities and net liabilities of approximately HK$351,172,000
(2012: HK$313,658,000) and HK$229,136,000 (2012:
HK$219,926,000) at 31 March 2013 respectively. In preparing
the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the Company
have given careful consideration to the impact of the current and
anticipated future liquidity of the Group and the ability of the
Group to attain profitable and positive cash flows operations in the
immediate and longer term.

In order fo strengthen the capital base of the Group and to improve
the Group's liquidity and cash flows in the near foreseeable future,
and to sustain the Group as a going concern, the Company has
entered into a loan facility agreement of up to HK$20,000,000
with ACE Channel Limited, beneficially owned by Mr. Gao Feng,
a director and the substantial shareholder of the Company. The
Company has already drawn down a total amount of approximately
HK$6,641,000 as at 31 March 2013.

On 13 June 2013, the Company entered into a share placing
agreement to place up to 412,470,000 shares to not less than 6
share placees at the placing price of HK$0.08. The net proceeds
from the placement is approximately HK$32,460,000 which will be
utilised by the Group as its general working capital and to finance
the possible future acquisition when investment opportunities arise.
The share placement has already been completed on 21 June 2013.

Moreover, the substantial shareholders of the Company have agreed
to provide continuing financial support to the Group.

In the opinion of the directors, after taking into account of the above
procedures, the Group will have sufficient working capital for its
current requirement. Accordingly, the directors consider that it is
appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial statements on a
going concern basis.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(a)

(b)

Basis of preparation (continued)

Should the Group be unable to continue as a going concern,
adjustments would have to be made to restate the values of assets to
their recoverable amounts, to provide for any further liabilities which
might arise and to classify non-current assets and liabilities as current
assets and liabilities respectively. The effects of these potential
adjustments have not been reflected in these consolidated financial
statements.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities (including special purpose
entities) controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries). Control is
achieved where the Company has the power to govern the financial
and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its
activities.

Income and expenses of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during
the year are included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income/income statement from the effective date of acquisition
and up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of
the Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in
the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance (effective from 1
January 2010 onwards).

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements
of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with those
used by other members of the Group.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

(a)

(b)
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(b) Basis of consolidation (continued)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in subsidiaries that
do not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries are
accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the
Group’s interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to
reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any
difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests
are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received
is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of the
Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it (i) derecognises
the assets (including any goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary
at their carrying amounts at the date when control is lost, (ii)
derecognises the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest in
the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost (including any
components of other comprehensive income attributable to them), and
(iii) recognises the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
received and the fair value of any retained interest, with any
resulting difference being recognised as a gain or loss in profit or
loss attributable to the Group. When assets of the subsidiary are
carried at revalued amounts or fair values and the related cumulative
gain or loss has been recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity, the amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity are accounted
for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets
(i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred directly to retained
earnings as specified by applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of
any investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date when
control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition
for subsequent accounting under HKAS 39 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement or, when applicable, the cost on initial
recognition of an investment in an associate or a jointly controlled

entity.
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 #HE-Z—=F=A=+—HItFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EXEMHREE(K|)

POLICIES (continued)
(c) Business combination (c) EBaH

Business combinations that took place on or after 1 January 2010

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination
is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the Group,
liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised in
profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

° deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities
related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised and
measured in accordance with HKAS 12 Income Taxes and
HKAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively;

e liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based payment
arrangements of the acquiree or share-based payment
arrangements of the Group entered into to replace share-
based payment arrangements of the acquiree are measured
in accordance with HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment at the
acquisition date (see the accounting policy below); and

e assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in
accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance with that
Standard.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity
interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-
date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed. If, after reassessment, the net of the acquisition-date
amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the
acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess
is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase
gain.
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 #HE-T—=F=A=+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(c) Business combination (continued)
Business combinations that took place on or after 1 January 2010
(continued)

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and
entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the entity’s net assets
in the event of liquidation may be initially measured either at fair
value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the
recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The
choice of measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction
basis. Other types of non-controlling interests are measured at their
fair value or, when applicable, on the basis specified in another
HKFRS.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a business
combination includes assets or liabilities resulting from a contingent
consideration arrangement, the contingent consideration is
measured at its acquisition-date fair value and included as part of
the consideration transferred in a business combination. Changes
in the fair value of the contingent consideration that qualify as
measurement period adjustments are adjusted retrospectively, with
the corresponding adjustments against goodwill. Measurement period
adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional information
obtained during the “measurement period” (which cannot exceed one
year from the acquisition date) about facts and circumstances that
existed at the acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value of the
contingent consideration that do not qualify as measurement
period adjustments depends on how the contingent consideration
is classified. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is
not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration
that is classified as an asset or a liability is remeasured at
subsequent reporting dates in accordance with HKAS 39, or HKAS
37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, as
appropriate, with the corresponding gain or loss being recognised in
profit or loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair
value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date when the Group obtains
control) and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit
or loss. Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the
acquisition date that have previously been recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss where such
treatment would be appropriate if that interest were disposed of.
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 #HE-Z—=F=A=+—HItFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(c) Business combination (continued)
Business combinations that took place on or after 1 January 2010
(continued)

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by
the end of the reporting period in which the combination occurs,
the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the
accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted
during the measurement period (see above), or additional assets or
liabilities are recognised, to reflect new information obtained about
facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date that, if
known, would have affected the amounts recognised at that date.

The policy described above is applied to all business combinations
that take place on or after 1 January 2010.
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 #HE-T—=F=A=+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EXEHBFEE(E)

POLICIES (continued)

(d) Subsidiaries (d) MR 2F)
A subsidiary is an entity controlled by the Company. Control exists MEBARIHEARTEH 2hE - EXAT
when the Company has the power, directly or indirectly, to govern ERNIEESIBEEE -—BEEHBERE
the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain EHER EUHBAHEBESANE  AFEEE
benefits from its activities. The existence and effect of potential voting HE o EFEAEERSES S — bR
rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered ;I—;%J%E RIATESTERNEERE
when assessing whether the Company control another entity. ERAFERHEEE -
In the Company’s financial statements, the investments in subsidiaries RADB 2B EMEK » WIHFIBFEHEZ
that are not classified as held for sale are stated at cost less provision MEARREDEAAEREBRESEE
for impairment losses. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by BHER - B AR 2 EEBRARLQTREBED K
the Company on the basis of dividends received and receivable. REWRE AR -

(e) Revenue recognition (e) U= FER2
Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits WETIRA SR TS KBRS - MR Ih
will flow to the Group and when the revenue can be measured BEA TSRt E R R T EERER

reliably, on the following bases:

(i)  Participation fee income is derived from the letting of exhibition (i) Z2RBRARBHEREHVREMS
booths and the provision of decoration facilities for the BUBRIMIBERE  LIEWARER
exhibition booths, and is recognised when the decoration BREGBERGEREELRETRHER
facilities are provided and when the shows are held; N

(i) Advertising fee income earned from the publication of trade (i) EHBUARBAEZIRESREE
show and exhibition booklets is recognised when the trade SHRET  RESEESRREES
show and exhibition booklets are published; 5 H) AR B R SR B

(iii) Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective (i) FEWARERFIZEBIALR

interest method.

(iv) Sales of coal, metals and other goods is recognised as follows: (iv) SHERR EEREGERERMNT

- the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks - AEBCRNEFEBERMERZE
and rewards of ownership of the coal; KERE K ER ;

- the Group retains neither continuing managerial - FAEBYERERBEHMHMEEMER
involvement to the degree usually associated with CREFEEEMHSH NEERE
ownership nor effective control over the coal sold; HEEHZER

—  the amount of revenue can be measured reliably; = WAZ &M ST E

- it is probable that the economic benefits associated with - RRXBBBZRENRKRETER
the transaction will flow to the Group; and AREEH ;R

—  the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the - BRIELEIBELEZRAEEHASE
transaction can be measured reliably. &
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 #HE-Z—=F=A=+—HItFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EXEMHREE(K|)

POLICIES (continued)

(f) Property, plant and equipment (f) W% BEREK

Building held for own use which are situated on leasehold land,
where the fair value of the building could be measured separately
from the fair value of the leasehold land at the inception of the lease
and all other items of property, plant and equipment are stated at
cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the
cost of items of property, plant and equipment, less their estimated
residual value, if any, over its estimated useful life. The principal
annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

20%
Over the lease terms
20% to 33‘/3%

Plant and equipment
Leasehold improvements
Furniture and equipment

Fixtures and fittings 20%
Computer equipment 20%
Motor vehicles 20%

The residual values and useful lives of items of property, plant and
equipment are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of
each reporting period.

The gain or loss on disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is the difference between the net sale proceeds
and the carrying amount of the relevant asset, and is recognised in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

(g) Goodwiill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at
cost less accumulated impairment losses, if any, and is presented
separately in the consolidated statement of financial position.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to
each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or groups of cash-
generating units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination.

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested
for impairment annually, or more frequently when there is indication
that the unit may be impaired. If the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit is less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss
is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of the unit on a
pro- rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the
unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised directly in profit
or loss in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent
periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the attributable
amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the profit or
loss on disposal.

(9)
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 #HE-T—=F=A=+—HILFE
3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

P/l

POLICIES (continued)
(h) Intangible assets

E-commerce platform

Acquisition costs of purchasing an E-commerce platform are stated at
cost less any impairment losses and are amortised on a straight-line
basis over their estimated useful lives.

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite
or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised over
the useful economic life and assessed for impairment whenever
there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The
amortisation period and the amortisation method for an intangible
asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at the end of each
reporting period.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment
annually either individually or at the cash-generating unit level. Such
intangible assets are not amortised. The useful life of an intangible
asset with indefinite useful life is reviewed annually to determine
whether indefinite life assessment continues to be supportable. If not,
the change in the useful life assessment from indefinite to definite is
accounted for on a prospective basis.

Sino Resources Group Limited ¢ Annual Report 2013
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 #HE-Z—=F=A=+—HItFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EXEHBREE(E)
POLICIES (continued)
(i) Financial instruments (i) MBIR

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group entity
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.
Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other
than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the
financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition
of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss are recognised immediately in consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

i Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are classified into loans and
receivables and available-for-sale financial assets. All regular
way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and
derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or
sales of financial assets that requires delivery of assets within
the time frame established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace. The accounting policies adopted in respect of
each category of financial assets are set out below.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
(including all fees on points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial asset, or, where appropriate, a shorter period.

Income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt
instruments other than those financial assets designated as at
fair value through profit or loss, of which interest income is
included in net gains or losses.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market. At the end of each reporting period subsequent to initial
recognition, loans and receivables including trade receivables,
other receivables, amount due from a director, deposits with
banks and cash and cash equivalents are carried at amortised
cost using the effective interest method, less any identified
impairment losses (see accounting policy on impairment loss on
financial assets below).
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 #HE-T—=F=A=+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(i) Financial instruments (continued)
i.  Financial assets (continued)

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that
are either designated or not classified as any of the other
categories. At the end of each reporting period subsequent
to initial recognition, available-for-sale financial assets are
measured at fair value. Changes in fair value are recognised in
equity, until the financial asset is disposed of or is determined
to be impaired, at which time, the cumulative gain or loss
previously recognised in equity is removed from equity and
recognised in consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
Any impairment losses on available-for-sale financial assets are
recognised in consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
Impairment losses on available-for-sale equity investments will
not reverse in subsequent periods. For available-for-sale debt
investments, impairment losses are subsequently reversed if an
increase in the fair value of the investment can be objectively
related to an event occurring after the recognition of the
impairment loss.

For available-for-sale equity investments that do not have a
quoted market price in an active market and whose fair value
cannot be reliably measured, they are measured at cost less
any identified impairment losses at the end of each reporting
period subsequent to initial recognition. An impairment loss is
recognised in consolidated statement of comprehensive income
when there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired. The
amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference
between the carrying amount of the asset and the present
value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the
current market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such
impairment losses will not reverse in subsequent periods.

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss, are assessed for indicators of
impairment at the end of each reporting period. Financial assets
are impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a result
of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition
of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the
financial assets have been impacted.

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment
could include:

(i)  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty;
or

(i) default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; or
(iii) it becoming probable that the borrower will enter

bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 #HE-Z—=F=A=+—HItFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(i) Financial instruments (continued)

I.

Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

For certain categories of financial asset, such as trade
receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired
individually are subsequently assessed for impairment on
a collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment for
a portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s past
experience of collecting payments, an increase in the number
of delayed payments in the portfolio past the average credit
period over 180 days, observable changes in national or local
economic conditions that correlate with default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, an impairment
loss is recognised in profit or loss when there is objective
evidence that the asset is impaired, and is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present
value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the
original effective interest rate.

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of impairment
loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows
discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar
financial asset. Such impairment loss will not be reversed in
subsequent periods.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by
the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the
exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is
reduced through the use of an allowance account. Changes in
the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised
in profit or loss. When a trade receivable is considered
uncollectable, it is written off against the allowance account.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are
credited to profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a
subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss decreases
and the decrease can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment losses was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit
or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the asset at
the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the
amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been
recognised.

Impairment losses on available-for-sale equity investments
will not be reversed in profit or loss in subsequent periods.
Any increase in fair value subsequent to impairment loss is
recognised directly in equity.
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 #HE-T—=F=A=+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(i) Financial instruments (continued)

ii.  Financial liabilities and equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a
group entity are classified according to the substance of the
contractual arrangements entered into and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of the group after deducting all of its
liabilities. The Group’s financial liabilities are classified into
other financial liabilities. The accounting policies adopted in
respect of financial liabilities and equity instruments are set out
below.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
through the expected life of the financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis
other than those financial liabilities designated as at fair value
through profit or loss, of which the interest expense is included
in net gains or losses.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities including trade payables, accrued
liabilities and other payables, amounts due to shareholders,
borrowings and obligations under finance leases, are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest rate method.

Convertible notes

Convertible notes issued by the Company that contain both
financial liability and equity components are classified
separately into respective liability and equity components on
initial recognition. On initial recognition, the fair value of the
liability component is determined using the prevailing market
interest rate of similar non-convertible debts. The difference
between the gross proceeds of the issue of the convertible loan
notes and the fair value assigned to the liability component,
representing the embedded call option for the holder to convert
the notes into equity, is included in equity (convertible notes
equity reserve). Transaction costs that relate to the issue of
the convertible notes are allocated to the liability and equity
components in proportion to the allocation of the gross
proceeds.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2013 #Hz—-ZT—

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(i) Financial instruments (continued)

ii.

Financial liabilities and equity (continued)
Convertible notes (continued)

In subsequent periods, the liability component of the convertible
notes is carried at amortised cost using the effective interest
method. The equity component, representing by the option
to convert the liability component into ordinary shares of the
Company, will remain in convertible notes reserve until the
embedded option is exercised (in which case the balance
stated in convertible notes equity reserve will be transferred to
share capital and share premium). Where the option remains
unexercised at the expiry date, the balance stated in convertible
loan notes equity reserve will be released to retained profits.
No gain or loss is recognised in consolidated statement of
comprehensive income upon conversion or expiration of the
option.

If the conversion option of convertible notes exhibits
characteristics of an embedded derivative, it is separated from
its liability component. On initial recognition, the derivative
component of the convertible notes is measured at fair value
and presented as part of derivative financial instruments. Any
excess of proceeds over the amount initially recognised as the
derivative component is recognised as the liability component.
Transaction costs are apportioned between the liability and
derivative components when the instruments are initially
recognised. The portion of the transaction costs relating to the
liability component is recognised initially as part of the liability.
The portion relating to the derivative component is recognised
immediately in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date
when derivative contracts are entered into and are subsequently
remeasured to their fair value at the end of the reporting
period. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
immediately unless the derivative is designated and effective
as a hedging instrument, in which case the timing of the
recognition in profit or loss depends on the nature of the hedge
relationship.

Warrants

Warrants issued by the Company that will be settled by
other than a fixed amount of cash for a fixed number of the
Company’s own equity instruments are derivative financial
instruments. Warrants classified as derivative financial
instruments are recognised at their fair values at the date
of issue. Changes in fair values in subsequent periods are
recognised through profit or loss.

Warrants issued by the Company that will be settled by a fixed
amount of cash for a fixed number of the Company’s own
equity instruments are equity instruments. The net proceeds
received from the issue of warrants is recognised in equity
(warrant reserve). The warrant reserve will be transferred to
share capital and share premium accounts upon the exercise of
the warrants. When the warrants are still not exercised at the
expiry date, the amount previously recognised in the warrant
reserve will be transferred to accumulated losses.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
B 7% #R 3} MY &E
For the year ended 31 March 2013 HE-T—=%=A=1+—HIFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(i)

(i)

Financial instruments (continued)
iii.  Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs. Repurchases of the
Company’s own equity instruments is recognised and deducted
directly in equity.

iv.  Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive
cash flows from the assets expire or, the financial assets are
transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial assets.
On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable and the cumulative gain or loss
that had been recognised directly in equity is recognised in
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled
or expires. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid or payable is recognised in consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable
and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income because it excludes items of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years, and
it further excludes items of consolidated statement of comprehensive
income that are never taxable or deductible.

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on
differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities in
the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for using the liability
method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all
taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which deductible temporary difference can be utilised. Such
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from goodwill (or negative goodwill) or from the initial
recognition (other than a business combination) of other assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor
the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investment in subsidiaries and associates,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 #HE-Z—=F=A=+—HItFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(i)

(k)

(

Taxation (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all
or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to
apply to the period when the liability is settled or the asset realised.
Deferred tax is charged or credited to the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, except when it relates to items charged
or credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also
dealt with in equity.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of past events and it is probable
that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation,
and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made.
Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. Where the effect of the
time value of money is material, the amount of a provision is the
present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligations.

Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past
events and whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence
or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly
within the control of the Group. It can also be a present obligation
arising from past events that is not recognised because it is not
probable that outflow of economic resources will be required or the
amount of obligation cannot be measured reliably. A contingent
liability is not recognised but is disclosed in the notes to the financial
statements. When a change in the probability of an outflow occurs so
that outflow is probable, they will then be recognised as a provision.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and
whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within
the control of the Group. A contingent asset is not recognised but is
disclosed in the notes to the financial statements when an inflow of
economic benefits is probable. When inflow is virtually certain, an
asset is recognised.

(m) Dividends distribution

Final dividend proposed by the directors are classified as a
separate allocation of retained profits within the equity section of
the consolidated statement of financial position, until they have
been approved by shareholders in a general meeting. When these
dividends have been approved by the shareholders and declared,
they are recognised as a liability in the Group’s financial statements.

Interim dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
proposed and declared.
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 #HE-T—=F=A=+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(n) Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity,
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that
entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the respective functional
currency (i.e. the currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates) at the rates of exchanges prevailing on
the dates of the transactions. At the end of each reporting period,
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period.

Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date
when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
refranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the seftlement of monetary items,
and on the translation of monetary items, are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they arise, except for exchange
differences arising on a monetary item that forms part of the
Company’s net investment in a foreign operation, in which case, such
exchange differences are recognised in equity in the consolidated
financial statements. Exchange differences arising on the
retranslation of non-monetary items carried at fair value are included
in profit or loss for the period except for differences arising on the
retranslation of non-monetary items in respect of which gains and
losses are recognised directly in equity, in which cases, the exchange
differences are also recognised directly in equity.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements,
the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign operations are
translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Hong
Kong dollars) at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end of the
reporting period, and their income and expenses are translated at
the average exchange rates for the year, unless exchange rates
fluctuate significantly during the period, in which case, the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of transactions are used. Exchange
differences arising, if any, are recognised as a separate component
of equity (the translation reserve). Such exchange differences are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which the foreign
operation is disposed of.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets acquired
arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation on or after 1 January
2005 are treated as assets and liabilities of that foreign operation
and translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end of the
reporting period. Exchange differences arising are recognised in the
translation reserve.
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 #HE-Z—=F=A=+—HItFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(o) Employee benefits

i Paid leave carried forward

The Group provides paid annual leave to its employees under
their employment contracts on a calendar year basis. Under
certain circumstances, such leave which remains untaken as
at the end of the reporting period is permitted to be carried
forward and utilised by the respective employees in the
following year. No accrual is made at the end of the reporting
period for the expected future cost of such paid leave earned
during the year by the employees and carried forward as the
amount is immaterial.

ii.  Pension scheme

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme (the “MPF Scheme”)
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for
those employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF
Scheme. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are charged to the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income as they become payable
in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of
the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group
in an independently administered fund. The Group’s employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed into
the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operates
in Mainland China are required to participate in a central
pension scheme operated by the local municipal government.
The contributions are charged to the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the central pension scheme.

(p) Equity-settled share-based payment

transaction
Share Options Scheme and Share Award Scheme

The fair value of share options and awarded shares granted to
employees in an equity-settled share based payment transaction is
recognised as an employment cost with a corresponding increase
in the employee share-based compensation reserve within equity.
In respect of share options, the fair value is measured at grant date
using the Binomial option pricing model, taking into account the
terms and conditions upon which the options were granted. In respect
of awarded shares, the fair value is based on the closing price at
the grant date. Where the employees have to meet vesting conditions
before becoming unconditionally entitled to the share options and
awarded shares, the total estimated fair value of the share options
and awarded shares is spread over the vesting period, taking into
account the probability that the share options and awarded shares

will vest.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

81

POLICIES (continued)
(p) Equity-settled share-based payment

transaction (continued)

Share Options Scheme and Share Award Scheme (continued)

During the vesting period, the number of share options and awarded
shares that is expected to vest is reviewed. Any adjustment to the
cumulative fair value recognised in prior years is charged/credited
to the statement of comprehensive income for the year of the review,
with a corresponding adjustment to the employee share-based
compensation reserve. On vesting date, the amount recognised as an
expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number of share options and
awarded shares that vest (with a corresponding adjustment to the
employee share-based compensation reserve).

The equity amount for the share options is recognised in the
employee share-based compensation reserve until either the option is
exercised (when it is transferred to the share premium account) or the
option expires (when it is released directly to retained profits).

Shares held for Share Award Scheme

Where the shares of the Company are acquired under the Share
Award Scheme, the consideration paid, including any directly
attributable incremental costs, is presented as “Shares held for Share
Award Scheme” and deducted from total equity.

When the awarded shares are transferred to the awardees upon
vesting, the related weighted average cost of the awarded shares
vested are credited to “Shares held for Share Award Scheme”, and
the related employment costs of the awarded shares vested are
debited to the employee share-based compensation reserve. The
difference between the related weighted average cost and the related
employment costs of the awarded shares is transferred to retained
profits.

Where the Shares held for Share Award Scheme are revoked and
the revoked shares are disposed of, the related gain or loss is
transferred to retained profits, and no gain or loss is recognised in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Where the cash or non-cash dividend distribution is declared in
respect of the shares held for Share Award Scheme, the cash or
fair value of the non-cash dividend is transferred to retained profits,
and no gain or loss is recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2013 #Hz—-ZT—

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(q) Related party transactions
A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group if:

(A)

(B)

(C)

A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to

the Group if that person:

(i)
(ii)

(iii)

has control or joint control over the Group;
has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or of a parent of the Group.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following

conditions applies:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

The entity and the Group are members of the same group
(which means that each parent, subsidiary and fellow
subsidiary is related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of a
group of which the other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit
of employees of either the Group or an entity related to
the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (A).

A person identified in (A)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

Close members of the family of a person are those family

members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced

by, that person in their dealings with the entity and include:

(i)
(ii)

(iii)

that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;
children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and

dependants of that person or that person’s spouse or
domestic partner.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(r)

(s)

(1)

(v)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits and shortterm, highly liquid investments which
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short
maturity of generally within three months when acquired, less bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an integral part
of the Group’s cash management.

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are interests and other costs incurred in connection
with the borrowing of funds. All borrowing costs are charged to the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income in the period in
which they are incurred.

Leasing

Lleases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the
lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to
the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessee

Assets held under finance leases are initially recognised as assets
of the Group at their fair value at the inception of the lease or, if
lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. The
corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the consolidated
statement of financial position as a finance lease obligation.

Lease payments are apportioned between finance expenses and
reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate of
interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance expenses
are recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless they are directly
attributable to qualifying assets, in which case they are capitalised
in accordance with the Group’s general policy on borrowing costs
(Note 3(s)). Contingent rentals are recognised as expenses in the
periods in which they are incurred.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on
a straight-line basis over the lease term, except where another
systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which
economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed. Contingent
rentals arising under operating leases are recognised as an expense
in the period in which they are incurred.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating
leases, such incentives are recognised as a liability. The aggregate
benefit of incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental expense
on a straightline basis, except where another systematic basis is
more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits
from the leased asset are consumed.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements, are identified from the financial
information provided regularly to the Group’s most senior executive
management for the purposes of allocating resources to, and
assessing the performance of, the Group’s various lines of business
and geographical locations.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

(u) Segment reporting (continued)

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar economic characteristics
and are similar in respect of the nature of products and services, the
nature of production processes, the type of class of customers, the
methods used to distribute the products or provide the services, and
the nature of the regulatory environment. Operating segments which
are not individually material may be aggregated if they share a
majority of these criteria.

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND

SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described
in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements, management is
required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing
basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in
the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

Critical judgments in applying accounting policies
The followings are the critical judgments, apart from those involving
estimations, that management has made in the process of applying the
Group’s accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on
the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

(i) Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in numerous jurisdictions.
Significant judgment is required in determining the worldwide
provision for income taxes. There are many transactions and
calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain
during the ordinary course of business. The Group recognises
liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of
whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome
of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred
tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made.

(i) Impairment of assets

The Group tests annually whether the assets have suffered any
impairment. The recoverable amount of an asset or a cash generating
unit is determined based on value-in-use calculations which require

the use of assumptions and estimates.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

Critical judgments in applying accounting policies
(continued)
(iii)  Estimated impairment of goodwill

The Group performs annual tests on whether there has impairment
of goodwill in accordance with the accounting policy stated in Note
21. The recoverable amounts of cash generating units are determined
based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations require the
use of estimates and assumptions made by management on the
future operation of the business, pre-tax discount rates, and other
assumptions underlying the value-in-use calculations.

(iv) Share-based payment

The valuation of the fair value of share options granted requires
judgment in determining the expected volatility of the share price, the
dividends expected on the shares, the risk free interest rate during
the life of the options and the number of share options that are
expected to become exercisable, details of which are set in Note 38
to the consolidated financial statements. Where the actual outcome
of the number of exercisable options is different from the previously
estimated number of exercisable options, such difference will have
impact on the consolidated statement of comprehensive income in the
subsequent remaining vesting period of the relevant share options.

(v)  Estimated impairment of trade receivables

When there is objective evidence of impairment loss, the Group takes
into consideration the estimation of future cash flows. The amount
of the impairment loss is measured as the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future
cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred)
discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate |i.e.
the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition). Where
the actual future cash flows are less than expected, impairment
loss may arise. As at 31 March 2013, the carrying amount of
trade receivables is approximately HK$21,381,000 (2012:
HK$71,212,000).

(vi] Fair value of derivatives and other financial instruments

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active
market is determined by using valuation techniques. The Group uses
its judgment to select a variety of methods and make assumptions that
are mainly based on market conditions existing at the end of each
reporting period.

(vii] Property, plant and equipment

In accordance with HKAS 16, the Group estimates the useful lives of
property, plant and equipment in order to determine the amount of
depreciation expenses to be recorded. The useful lives are estimated
at the time the asset is acquired based on historical experience, the
expected usage, wear and tear of the assets, as well as technical
obsolescence arising from changes in the market demands or service
output of the assets. The Group also perform annual reviews on
whether the assumptions made on useful lives continue to be valid.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include borrowings and cash

and cash equivalents. Details of these financial instruments are disclosed

in respective notes. The risks associated with these financial instruments

and the policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The

management manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate

measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Market risk

(i)

(ii)

Foreign currency risk

The Group operates mainly in the People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC”) and Hong Kong and majority of transactions are
denominated in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”) and Renminbi (“RMB”).
The Group is exposed to limited foreign exchange risk as most of
the commercial transactions, assets and liabilities are denominated
in a currency same as the functional currency of each entity of the
Group. Therefore the Group will only exposed to foreign exchange
risk arising from the assets and liabilities which are denominated in
currencies other than the functional currency of the entity to which
related. The conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is subject to
the rules and regulations of foreign exchange control promulgated
by the PRC government. The Group currently does not have a foreign
currency hedging policy in respect of foreign currency assets and
liabilities. The Group will monitor its foreign currency exposure
closely and will consider hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.

Price risk

At the end of the reporting period, the Group did not have any
financial assets and liabilities which are measured at fair value. The
Group does not have significant exposure to price risk.
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

(iii) Interest rate risk

The Group's cash flow interest rate risk relates primarily to variable
rate borrowings. It is the Group’s policy to keep its borrowings at
floating rate of interests so as to minimise the fair value interest rate
risk.

The Group’s exposures to interest rates on financial assets and
financial liabilities are detailed in the liquidity risk management
section of this note. The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly
concentrated on the fluctuation of HSBC prime rate arising from the
Group’s Hong Kong dollar denominated borrowings.

Sensitivity analysis on interest rate risk management

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on
the exposure to interest rates for derivatives and non-derivative
instruments at the end of the reporting period. The analysis is
prepared assuming the financial instruments outstanding at the end
of the reporting period were outstanding for the whole year. A 50
basis points increase or decrease in HSBC prime rate is used when
reporting interest rate risk internally to key management personnel
and represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible
change in interest rates.

If interest rates had been 50 basis points higher/lower and all other
variable were held constant, the Group’s:

e  post tax profit for the year ended 31 March 2013 would
decrease/increase by approximately HK$28,000. This is
mainly attributable to the Group’s exposure to interest rates on
its variable rate borrowings.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk

As at 31 March 2013, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk
which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure to discharge
an obligation by the counterparties is arising from the carrying amount
of the respective recognised financial assets as stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group has
credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up
action is taken to recover overdue debts. In this regards, the directors of
the Company consider that the Group's credit risk is significantly reduced.

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade or other
receivables. The Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk. The
exposures to these credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.

The credit risk on liquid funds in limited because the counterparties are
banks which are reputable in the opinion of management.

Liquidity risk

The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash and cash
equivalents, monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and matching the
maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities.

The liquidity risk is under continuous monitoring by management. Reports
with maturity dates of borrowings and thus the liquidity requirement are
provided to management for review periodically. Management will raise
or refinance borrowings whenever necessary.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities that will be
settled into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period
at the end of the reporting period to the contractual maturity date. The
amounts disclosed in the table are based on the contractual undiscounted
payments, as follows:
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The Group At 31 March 2013
55E RZ8-ZF=A=1-H
Weighted
average On demand
effective or Between Between Between More Total Total
interest less than 1to3 3 months 1 year than undiscounted  carrying
rate % 1 month months to 1year  to 5 years 5years  cashflow  amount
mEEY EEXE R E
ER#2% —fEAA —EZfif Z@AE-¥F —FELF BBLE RéiR #REE
HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000
THERT THERT TARL THER THAR THET THART
Non-derivative FHEMBRR
financial liabilities
Trade payables EC) R - 8,608 - 11,414 - - 20,022 20,022
Accrued liabilities R BEREM
and other payables A 57E - 201,857 - - - - 201,857 201,857
Amounts due to shareholders T fRER B 7.4 16,238 - 7,126 - - 23,364 23,215
Borrowings BE 12.5 116 2,836 15,609 - - 18,561 17,282
Obligations under finance ~ BERHER
leases 14.0 41 1,494 4,338 767 - 6,640 5,958
Convertible notes G 12.0 174,781 197 884 9,956 - 185,818 181,593
Total @it 401,641 4,527 39,371 10,723 - 456,262 449,927
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

5. MERBRER (#)

Financial risk management objectives and BEREEEEERBE (8)
policies (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) REESMBE ()
The Group At 31 March 2012
34 ]| RZZE-—£=B=+-H
Weighted
average  On demand
effective or Between Between Between More Total Total
inferest less than Tto3 3 months 1 year than  undiscounted carrying
rafe % 1 month months fo 1 year fo 5 years 5 years cash flow amount
mE¥ EZXs BRER
BIRAI%E% —fBAR -B=f§f =fiRZ-% —ERRE BRLE Beif AREE
HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000
TET TET TER TER TET TET TET
Non-derivative financial FiEHBasE
liabilities
Trade payables ESEAHE - 10,741 2,769 55916 - - 69,426 69,426
Accrued liabilities ZitEEREM
and other payables 5B - 174,863 = = = = 174,863 174,863
Amounts due fo shareholders ~ E{f RRFE 6.9 15,358 - 1,341 - - 16,699 16,670
Borrowings a8 8.5 - - 19,531 - - 19,531 18,414
Obligations under finance ~ BEBNEME
leases 1.7 41 81 368 490 - 980 939
Convertible nofes TREZEE 10.5 = = 173,500 = = 173,500 157,014
Total Fo 201,003 2,850 250,656 490 - 454,999 437,326
The Company At 31 March 2013
345 R-B—-=%£ZA=1+-H
Weighted
average On demand
effective or Between Between Between More Total Total
interest  less than 1to3 3 months 1 year to than undiscounted  carrying
rate % 1 month months to 1 year 5 years 5years  cash flow  amount
mEEY BEXE HRIH
ERFIE% —EAR —E=fif Z=[ERE-% —-£E5f BRLE Ren akmE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEx Tax TER TER TEx TER TEx
Non-derivative financial s &MA &
liabilities
Accrued liabilities and ZHEERA
other payables 58 - 169,805 - - - - 169,805 169,805
Amounts due to shareholders ~ FEIRRFE 7.4 16,238 - 7,126 - - 23,364 23,215
Borrowings B 30.0 - 2,600 - - - 2,600 2,600
Convertible notes TERER 12,0 174,781 197 884 9,956 - 185,818 181,593
360,824 2,797 8,010 9,956 - 381,587 377,213
The Company At 31 March 2012
LN RZE-Z#=A=+-H
Weighted
average  On demand
effective or Between Between Between More Total Total
interest less than 1103 3 months 1 year to than  undiscounted carrying
rate % 1 month months fo 1 year 5 years 5 years cash flow amount
MmEF3 EZX BRER
EBRAZE% —BAR -B=f§f =fiRZ-% —FZRF BRLE Beif AEEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Non-derivative financial FTEERERE
liabilities
Accrued liabilities and 2 EER A
other payables EfFE - 162,980 - - - - 162,980 162,980
Amounts due fo shareholders B RRFE 6.9 15,358 = 1,341 = = 16,699 16,670
Convertible notes RRE 10.5 - - 173,500 - - 173,500 157,014
178,338 - 174,841 - - 353,179 336,664
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3.

Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year

B IS AR MY aE

ended 31 March 2013 HZE—Z-—=F=A=1+—HILFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 5. WERBEER (&)

Fair value of financial instruments MEBEIRZALATFE

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined as MREERMBEGBZATFERUTARETE

follows:

e the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities (including o BEEEGRRGY  TRRBEFRBMEE
derivative instruments) with standard terms and conditions and traded BB EERMBAB (BEMETR)
on active liquid markets are determined with reference to quoted ZAFE NARSERBSEARBEHRE
market bid prices and ask prices respectively; and BE R

e the fair value of other financial assets and financial liabilities e HMMBEERMBEG(BFETEIAR)
(including derivative instruments) are determined in accordance ZAFE DRBEAREERN - WIRITR
with generally accepted pricing models based on discounted cash REREBDN  RAEABA ZTBRRE
flow analysis using prices or rates from observable current market TIER G2 BRREBR;E - UHEAE
transaction as input. For an option-based derivative, the fair value is EZHTETEMS A FEDFAHEEE
estimated using option pricing model. B ALE -

Except as detailed in the following table, the directors consider that the BRTERAEFM)  AATESRE  REeWK

carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in BEREBRZYKEERVBEABEZRAEEE A

the consolidated financial statements approximate to their fair values. FEMEE -

At 31 March 2013 At 31 March 2012
R-EB—=%=A=+—H R-ZE—_—F=A=+—H
Carrying Carrying
amount Fair value amount Fair value
AR H B [EFEHE BREE AFE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET FET :Ffﬁfc

Financial liabilities MBAR

Convertible notes (Note) IR Z 5 (KAL) 181,593 182,397 157,014 159,506

Note: o=

The fair value of the liability component of convertible notes is determined using
a 23.5% interest rate with reference to the Hong Kong Exchange Fund Notes
yields.

JRBREBEBERD 2 AFEDISEREBINE
ESEBWHERMA23.5%FEREE -
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B IS RAR MY aE

For the year ended 31 March 2013 #HE-T—=F=A=+—HILFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
Fair value of financial instruments (continued)

Fair value measurements recognised in the consolidated statement of

3.

91

financial position

The following provides an analysis of financial instruments that are
measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair value, grouped into
Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair value is observable:

- Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices
(unadijusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

- level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other
than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for
the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e.
derived from prices); and

- level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation
techniques that include inputs for the asset or liability that are not
based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

5.

MEREETRE (&)

MEBEIRZAFEGE)

R & BN R RAER 2 A FETE

o DREAFEZIBERESIRFE —E5

;e

- E-RLVEFEDEHEREEREEBE
BTS2 HRE CRERR) S

- FIRAVEFEHEE-RAEBEUIL
ZAUBZEERNEEHBEEE (MER) X

B (BRBER)FH 0 R

- BZRLATVEAERBEHAFUTEERED
SHE (FUEEHE) AER2EEHR

BHE 2 AERMES -

As at 31 March 2013
N _E—=F=H=1+—H

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
£—8 -t BZ® #Et
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FET FET FET FET
Financial assets SREE
Derivative financial assets fTE£&@EE - - 33,184 33,184
Total et - - 33,184 33,184
Financial liabilities SRERE
Derivative financial TTESRERE
liabilities - - 1,703 1,703
Total et - - 1,703 1,703
As at 31 March 2012
R=ZB-—Z=—F=ZA=+—H
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
£ E-R E=H et
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FE T FET FE T FET
Financial assets SREE
Derivative financial assets fTEERMEE - = 17,924 17,924
Total et - - 17,924 17,924
Financial liabilities ol N=R
Derivative financial TEEeRmERE
liabilities - - 4,159 4,159
Total et - — 4,159 4,159
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3.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
Fair value of financial instruments (continued)

There were no transfers between Levels 1 and 2 in the current year.

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements of financial assets and

liabilities

Balance as at 1 April 2011
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 41(a))
Fair values (loss)/gain through profit or loss

Balance as at 31 March 2012 and 1 April 2012

Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 41(a))

Issuance of convertible notes (Note 34)

Derecognition due to early redemption of
convertible notes

Fair values gain through profit or loss

Balance as at 31 March 2013

Notes to the Financial Statements

B IS AR MY aE

For the year ended 31 March 2013 #HE-Z—=F=A=+—HItFE

R-Z——FMNA-B 28R
WEE B 1B 2 A (B 5E4 1 (a))
FFABBZAFE(ER) KE

R-ZE-—-—F=A=+—-HEK
“E-—FNA-BZ&EH
W BB B 2 B (B EE4 1 (a))
BATHRRERE (MEE34)
RiEREE AR RS
i BH #E &%
FFABZEZ AFERS

R-IE—Z=fZA=+—HZHR

5. MERBRER (#)
MEBEIRZAFEGE)
RAFE F-REF_-FHoBLEGE -

THEEREEE=RATEFEZHIR

Derivative Derivative
financial financial
assets liabilities
TTEEMEE TESMAR
HK$’ 000 HK$' 000
FET FET
19,597 (4,726)
(1,673) 567
17,924 (4,159)
10,335 -

= (3,583)

- 1,317

4,925 4,722
33,184 (1,703)
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B IS RAR MY aE

For the year ended 31 March 2013 #HE-T—=F=A=+—HILFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) S

Capital risk management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will
be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to
stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The
Group's overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debts (which includes
amounts due to shareholders, borrowings, obligations under finance leases
and convertible notes), cash and cash equivalents, and equity attributable
to owners of the Company, comprising issued share capital and reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on an annual
basis. As part of this review, the directors of the Company consider the
cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital.

The Group monitors capital using gearing ratio, which is calculated as
either total borrowings divided by total capital or net borrowings divided
by total capital. The gearing ratios as at the end of the reporting period
are as follows:

MERRER (W)

"HEERRETE

AEEEBHES  URASEEZBRETE
EEE WEBEEBREREHAN AN
EFRBADE - AEBIREBERBERTE
BEAFHRE -

FEBCEAEROERER (HEBEETRER
HoEE BREENEARTRARER) BHE
RRESEERERAQRAEEAEGER (HE
FEBRITRARERE) -

FEBESTERIELRLEE - FRUBFT Z—
B AEEESERESKAREHE AR
ZEk -

FEBRAEAEELRERER  BAREERK
DBEARFEERNBER - RIBEHTER
REXREBLEMT

31 March 31 March

2013 2012

—2—= —E-——F

=A=+—H =A=+-—8H

HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000

TH#T TET

Total debt (i @ () 228,048 193,037

Less: Cash and cash equivalents W RERREEHEER (11,023) (5,030)

Net debt FEH 217,025 188,007

Equity (i 2 i) (229,136) (219,926)

Net debt to equity ratio REBE R R N/A%EH N/ATE A

Total debt to equity ratio BERHERLIEE N/ATEH N/ATE A
Notes: Mat .

(i)  Total debt comprises amounts due to shareholders, borrowings,
obligations under finance leases and convertible notes as detailed in
Notes 30, 32, 33, 34 respectively.

(i)  Equity includes all capital and reserves of the Group.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B IS AR MY aE

For the year ended 31 March 2013 #HE-Z—=F=A=+—HItFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the chief operating decision maker for the
purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment performance
focuses on types of goods or services delivered or provided.

The Group organised into three operating divisions: unconventional gas
business, coal and metals trading business and trade shows and exhibition
operation. These divisions are the basis on which the Group reports its
segment information. The segment information reported does not include
any amount for the discontinued operation which is described in more
details in Note 13.

The three operating and reportable segments under HKFRS 8 are as
follows:

Provision of services in connection
with unconventional gas and
import of technical equipment for the
unconventional gas industry

Unconventional gas business

Trading of coal and metals
in the PRC (trading of metals
commenced during the year ended
31 March 2013)

Coal and metals trading
business

Sales agent to introduce potential
exhibitors for exhibition, trade shows
and exhibition operation and
providing ancillary services (the
operation was discontinued in the
current year)

Trade shows and exhibition
operation

Segment revenues and results
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by
reportable segment:

6.

SEHRHE

AEREERRERENETERARKT LD

%%E%ﬁﬂﬁ%i‘f%ﬁﬁiﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁZﬁﬁERHE
Z 35

REFDB=EKE DI FERRAARER
BrRetBEEXBUNRES XL - 2508
AXREBEEHRASFER 2 BE - T2 20
ERTRECRIEECEXR 2 EMNSE AR
BRHEIS

RESBHBHRELERESS  —EALERRE

2EMT

FERRAREE (BREEFERARAR
RIS R IR KA
RATEBARMRAE

EREERERARES
RESRE RESX
BREEEER® (£
FEZEBORILE

&)

SWUA R RIRF
i%@%x&%ﬁﬁﬂ$ﬁﬁ%gﬁ2ﬁmm

2013 —E—=%
Continuing operations
RREERE
Coal and
Unconventional metals trading
gas business business Consolidated
BRRE&EE
FERXRRRE RERS -
HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, TER LTRR FRn
Turnover BRE
Turnover from external customers RENREF & %5 - 37,084 37,084
Result £ |
Segment loss ABER (4,814) (2,023) (6,837)
Unallocated income RABBA 763
Unallocated corporate expenses K2 B %X i (22,263)
Share-based payment R RER 2 IR (3,088)
Impairment loss of goodwill HMERERE - (46,485) (46,485)
Fair value gain on derivative fTEcReEz A FERE
financial liabilities - 4,159 4,722
Fair value gain on derivative fEEmMER 2 A FERS
financial assets - 4,925 4,925
Finance costs MERA (21,442)
Loss before tax BB AIE B (89,705)
Taxation BE 2459
Loss for the year FEEB (87,246)
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 #HE-T—=F=A=+—HILFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
Segment revenues and results (continued)

6. FWMEHHE)
SEUA BRI (R

)

2012 —E-——F
Continuing operations
FESEER
Coal and
Unconventional  metals trading
gas business business Consolidated
FER BEnReE
RARES BEEK &a
HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000
THER TET TERT
Turnover EER
Turnover from external customers RENREFZE£H - 67,168 67,168
Result %5
Segment (loss)/profit A (BE) /8 (8,859) 534 (8,325)
Unallocated income RABWA 8,197
Unallocated corporate expenses KA B %X i (33,528)
Fair value gain on derivative TEEmEe B A FENS
financial liabilities - 567 567
Fair value loss on derivative TESRMEEZ A TERSE
financial assets - (1,673) (1,673)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary  H & —RIK B A 7 2 Wz 9
Finance costs 7t & B AR (15,873)
Loss before tax BRB AT B (50,626)
Taxation BiE 2,462
Loss for the year FEBB (48,164)

Turnover reported above represents revenue generated from external

customers. There were no inter-segment sales in the year (2012: Nil).

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as
the Group's accounting policies described in Note 3. Segment results
represent the (loss)/profit generated by each segment without allocation of
corporate expenses, share-based payment, fair value gain on conversion
option of convertible notes, gain on disposal of a subsidiary, finance costs
and taxation. This is the measure reported to the chief operating decision
maker for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment

performance.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B IS AR MY aE

For the year ended 31 March 2013 #HE-Z—=F=A=+—HItFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. ZEHEH (&)
Segment assets and liabilities THEERAR
2013 —2—-=%
Discontinued
Continuing operations operation
HIRBERS ERILEEERE
Coal and  Trade shows
Unconventional metals trading and exhibition
gas business business operation  Consolidated
BRR&B
FERXRRRY BEER%E RESRH we
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
TER TER TER TER
Assets BE
Segment assets DEHEE 31,006 177,175 5 208,186
Unallocated corporate assets RKOBEEEE 24,256
232,442
Liabilities RE
Segment liabilities PEHEE 6,320 67,238 5,353 78,911
Unallocated corporate liabilities KOBMEEER 382,667
461,578
—m—
2012 =¥-=F
Discontinued
Continuing operations operation
RELEER BRIEREER
Coal and Trade shows
Unconventional metals trading and exhibition
gas business business operation Consolidated
BErkER
FERRARFEH BEXK RESEK &a
HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000
TEx TEr TER TER
Assets EE
Segment assets PEEE 20,210 188,818 2,459 211,487
Unallocated corporate assets ROBMEEEE 31,316
242,803
Liabilities &
Segment liabilities AWEE 708 95,779 11,478 107,965
Unallocated corporate liabilities ROBEEER 354,764
462,729

For the purpose of monitoring segment performance and allocating
resources between segments:

RERSBERRARSMABHERME :

RECEEEN FIBEEEIBREZETRBRS
B -BERITELREEIBEAHRS
5K

BREXEE BEARRHE - TELBE

e  all assets are allocated to reportable segments other than corporate c
assets. Goodwill and derivative financial assets are allocated to
reportable segments; and

e all liabilities are allocated to reportable segments other than C
corporate liabilities, amounts due to shareholders, derivative B B8 RMEBEINEME  TREREBERE
financial liabilities, borrowings, obligations under finance leases, EHBBEEN  FEEGEIREARRS

convertible notes and deferred tax liabilities. B o
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 #HE-T—=F=A=+—HILFE
6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

6.

Other segment information

Depreciation and
amortisation

SHMEHE)
HEth s BREH

Additions to
non-current assets*

hERMSA ERBEEZEBM*
2013 2012 2013 2012
=% —E-—_F —E—=% —E-—CF
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
TER FEx FTHET TEx
Continuing operations: HHRBEXRS:
Unconventional gas business FERRARFEH 188 83 23,714 1,297
Coal and metals trading business HExREBEHFXH 16 5 11 11
Unallocated Ko B 448 567 18 2,553
Discontinued operation: ERIEEERS:
Trade shows and RESXEK
exhibition operation - 7 - -
652 662 23,743 3,861

*  Additions to non-current assets excluding goodwill, derivative financial

assets and available-for-sale financial assets.

In addition to the depreciation and amortisation reported above,
impairment loss of goodwill of approximately HK$46,485,000 was
recognised attributable to coal and metals trading business segment during

the year ended 31 March 2013 (2012: Nil).

Geographical information

The Company is domiciled in Hong Kong. The Group’s operations are
mainly located in Hong Kong and the PRC for the year ended 31 March
2013. The following table provides an analysis of the Group’s turnover by
geographical market,irrespective of the origin of the goods/services:

The PRC

* ORDEEZENTEERE  TESRERE
RAHHEEREE -

BREXFIERZIMNERBHEN REE=F—=
RB=A=+—HLEFEARERREBEEX
B MR E B RMEREA46,485,000/8 T (=
F—_FE)-

WERH
HEENAQATDETELEMBUNRET R - BEZ
EZ-—=F=A=+—-HLEE AEBZLEE
EURBEBRTE - TREHRRMETSE S 2
AEEEXBE O UBEEER MRBEZRE
R

Turnover by
geographical market

BRUMWETHASZERA
2013 2012
—B—=% —ZT__—F
HKS$’ 000 HK$’ 000
TR FHET
37,084 67,168
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 #HE-Z—=F=A=+—HItFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Geographical information (continued)

The following is an analysis of the carrying amount of non-current assets
(excluding derivative financial assets and available-for-sale financial
assets) analysed by the geographical area in which the assets are located:

6.

SEHEH (]|

WERH &)

TRAFRDEE (TEFRTESRMERTHH
EEREERE) REEMTHED ZHED I :

Carrying amount
of non-current assets

FRDREZIREE
2013 2012
—B8—= —E-C-F
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
TERT FEx
Hong Kong B8 2,789 3,252
The PRC H 95,139 73,032
97,928 76,284

Information about major customers EREEERZEH

For the year ended 31 March 2013, the Group’s largest two customers
contributed revenue from coal and metals trading business of
approximately HK$33,664,000, which represent 90.8% of total revenue.

For the year ended 31 March 2012, the Group’s largest two customers

contributed revenue from coal and metals trading business of
approximately HK$65,897,000, which represent 98.1% of total revenue.

Customer A BEFH
Customer B EFEZ
Customer C EFA
Customer D EET
Others HAth

HEZZ—=F=-A=1+—HLFE ZX&£EH
AREFEHMTEEARREBEEER ZWALN
33,664,000 7T » {H4AU A 290.8% °

BHEZZE——F=A=1+—HLEE ZX&£EH
AREFEHMTEEARREBEEER ZWALN
65,897,000 T » {5 A 298.1% °

2013 2012
—g-=% S
HK$’000 HK$’000

T FiB

= 49,240

= 16,657
23,714 -
9,950 =
3,420 1,271
37,084 67,168
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 #HE-T—=F=A=+—HILFE

7. TURNOVER AND OTHER REVENUE 7. BEXBRHEMKS
Turnover represents the aggregate of coal sales and metal sales. EXEBIERAREREEREBHERAZEM -

FEERAFELEB EXERE MRS DN

An analysis of the Group’s turnover and other revenue from continuing

operations is as follows:

mE

2013 2012
—E—=F —E-—CF
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
THET FTET
(restated)
(E5)
Turnover Exm
Coal sales MR E 27,134 67,168
Metcl sales EBHEE 9,950 =
37,084 67,168
Other revenue Hfth iy &=
Bank interest income R AT A B WA 105 144
Refund of legal and professional fee REEEREXER 369 2,799
Sundry income RMEBA 181 447
655 3,390
Total revenue Bl 37,739 70,558
8. LOSS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 8. BERHEBR
2013 2012
—E—=% —E-—C-F
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
THET FET
(restated)
(E5)
The Group’ s loss from operating activities from ZFE.;E ﬁ?#igi“‘Mﬁﬁ%Zi“‘M
continuing operations is arrived at after charging: ¥ EEE KR :
Cost of inventory sold EERFERAK 36,573 66,003
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment NE - BERRBZITE 652 655
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment HEYE - BERRZE2EIE - 328
Loss on written off of property, plonr ond equipment Mﬁﬁ%% FE&-&%Z@TE = 268
Staff costs (including directors’ remuneration B TR ( @?ﬁ%%@ﬂf(ﬂ/f&“lw
(Note 10))
- wages and salaries - IERFS 13,838 22,079
— share-based payment — RGO RBER AR 3,088 =
- retirement benefits scheme conrrlbuhons —RIREFIFTE ﬁ‘—:?ﬁ( 426 291
17,352 22,370
Auditors’ remuneration % BT B <
- current year —BEAFE 630 630
= under provision in previous year —FFERETR - 16
630 646
Minimum lease payments under operating lease BEFEKEHEHRES
rentals of office premises ZRERAENFR 2,719 2,082
and after crediting: I 5T A
Other income: Hthr A -
Reversal of other payables H Aty AT FRIE - 5,290
Gain on early redemption of convertible notes ?;Eiﬁa@f”ﬁﬂﬁmﬁzl&ﬁi 302 -
302 5,290
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B IS AR MY aE

For the year ended 31 March 2013 HE-ZT—=F=A=+—HItEE

9. FINANCE COSTS 9. MERF
2013 2012
—E—=5 —E-C=F
HK$’000 HK$" 000
TET FET
Continuing operations: HEEEERY -
Interests on borrowings wholly AROLFRATZHEEEEZFE
repayable within five years 136 32
Interests on obligations under finance leases BERAIFEANTHEERNE
wholly repayable within five years HAEEZFE 1,200 29
Interests on amounts due to shareholders ARDFRNBHEEEMNRR
wholly repayable within five years MIEZ R E 1,205 892
Imputed interest expense on convertible notes AR RS 2 EERNERX
(Note 34) (Hiz£34) 18,657 14,920
Other finance costs H fth B & B A 244 -
21,442 15,873
10. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 10.EE=8l &
Directors’ remuneration for the years ended 31 March 2013 and 2012, BELFTHIBESATEASZI6EZEEM
disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules and Section 161 of the Hong Kong ARBEBE—_ZT—=FR-ZFB-—-F=ZA=+-—
Companies Ordinance, is as follows: ALFECESHEMT -
Basic Other Share-based MPF
Name of director Fees salaries  allowances payment contributions Total
HERE
Eung fig ExfHe RftRl  ERZAR  ERSHR &t
HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$' 000
TER TER TER TER TER TER
2013: -g-=§:
Executive directors BTEE
Ms. Geng Ying RExt - 1,000 - 331 - 1,331
Mr. Gao Feng (Vice-Chairman) BELE (FIZE) - 3,250 40 331 14 3,635
Mr. Chiu Sui Keung EIRBEE (THEH)
(Chief Executive Officer) - 1,601 - 331 14 1,946
Mr. Wang Xihua IRELE
(Appointed on 11 March 2013) (R=F-=F=H1—-HEZH) - - - - = =
Independent non-executive ~ BIFHTER
directors
Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond ~ B8k 38 % 4 120 - - 33 - 153
Mr. Lam Williamson H2EEE 180 - - 33 - 213
Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen BERELE 120 - - 33 - 153
420 5,851 40 1,092 28 7,431
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 #HE-T—=F=A=+—HILFE
10. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued)

Name of director Fees
sy e
HK$' 000
THERT
2012: =gk
Executive directors HiTES
Ms. Geng Ying RELL -
Mr. Gao Feng (Vice-Chairman) BREE(FEE) -
Mr. Chiu Sui Keung BB AL (T HAF)
(Chief Executive Officer) =
Independent non-executive BUFHTES
directors
Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond Bk %% 120
Mr. Lam Williamson HE2EEE 180
Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen BRERLE 107
407

10. E=EH £ (48)

Basic Other  Discrefionary MPF
salaries allowances bonuses  contributions Total
EXfie Hith 28 BEa RESHN A3t
HKS$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000
TR Thx TEx TEL TEx
1,000 - 1,208 - 2,208
3,686 184 3,750 12 7,632
1,751 . 1,139 12 2,902
- - = = 120
= = = = 180
_ - - = 107
6,437 184 6,097 24 13,149

There was no arrangement under which a director waived or agreed to
waive any remuneration during the years ended 31 March 2013 and
2012.

During the years ended 31 March 2013 and 2012, no emoluments were
paid by the Group to the directors as an inducement to join, or upon
joining the Group, or as compensation for loss of office. None of the
directors has waived any emoluments during the year (2012: Nil).
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 #HE-Z—=F=A=+—HItFE

11.FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included three (2012:
three) directors. Details of whose remuneration are set out in Note 10 to
the consolidated financial statements.

The details of the remuneration of the remaining two non-director, highest
paid employees are as follows:

Basic salaries and allowances BEARFERIZER
Share-based payment LG BER 2R
Retirement benefits scheme contributions EIRERIGEIHR

N.IEEEFHES
FAREBRSH EERE=8(ZF—Z=F: =
REE HMESFHEHRNGFS B HERRME0
W o

HBMERFESRESHES EMSFHBNT

The Group
FKE

2013 2012
—E2—=F —E-—C-F
HKS$’ 000 HK$’ 000
TER FEBx
1,715 2,637
194 -
29 24
1,938 2,661

The number of employees whose remuneration fell within the following
band is as follows:

HENFUTSHEE 2 EEABNT :

Number of employees

RAAR
2013 2012

—g-=% —z-=f

HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 5t £2,000,0007% 7T = 1
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 5Tt %=1,500,0007% 7T 1 -
Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z#ETE1,000,000% T 1 1
2 2

During the years ended 31 March 2013 and 2012, no emoluments were
paid by the Group to the non-director, highest paid employees as an
inducement to join, or upon joining the Group, or as compensation for loss
of office.

The emoluments paid or payable to member of senior management
(excluding the directors as disclosed in Note 10) are within the following

bands:

BE-Z-—=K=-ZFT--F=ZA=t—-Hi
FERN  AEBEWLESFES| MBRRMBREEH
B RMESREBEEOFESRSHESSIMH
ﬁ o

ENRENSREEE (BEESE (BOMEI0
FriReE)) 2SN FUTEHE :

Number of senior management

EREEEAR
2013 2012
—g-=% —z-=f
Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z#ETE1,000,000% 7T 2 2
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,00178 5Tt %= 1,500,000 7T 1 -
HK$1,500,0001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,00017% T £2,000,0007% 7T = 1
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 #HE-T—=F=A=+—HILFE

12. TAXATION 12. R\
The Group
*5%H
2013 2012
—E—=5 —E-CF
HKS$’ 000 HK$’ 000
THT FET
Current tax ANERBE
- Hong Kong Profits Tax —BEFNEH - -
— PRC Enterprises Income Tax — RS - =
Deferred tax (Note 35) BEERE — BRI FE (#a£35) (2,459) (2,462)
Tax credit for the year AEEHRERR (2,459) (2,462)
Tax credit from continuing operations for the year AFERBEBFEEEE 2HBER (2,459) (2,462)
Tax credit from a discontinued operation TEERBCRIELREEL >
for the year HEER = =
Tax credit for the year AEEHEBEER (2,459) (2,462)
Hong Kong profits tax is calculated at 16.5% (2012: 16.5%) on the EBFSHOHMAFEMFERBERRH R
estimated assessable profit for the year. 16.5% (=B — =5 : 16.5%) {EHEHE -
Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law”) BIEPECEMERE (LEMEBED RE
and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC X EzERMAA  B=EENF—-HA—H
subsidiaries is 25% from 1 January 2008 onwards. B BB LR ZHER25% -
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 #HE-Z—=F=A=+—HItFE
12.1RIA (#])

FRAFESEEB  HEXHNGEE2EBER
REREFEREXB CRBABEERNT ¢

12.TAXATION (continued)

The tax charge for the year for continuing operations can be reconciled
to the loss before tax from continuing operations per the consolidated

statement of comprehensive income as follows:

2013
—Z-=F
Hong Kong The PRC Total
8 HE #E
HK$’ 000 % HK$’ 000 % HK$’ 000 %
TER TER TER
Loss before tax (from continuing BRBLAIE R CRB&FE
operations) REER) (84,077) (5,628) (89,705)
Tax at applicable tax rate RERBEAEZHE (13,873) (16.5) (1,407) (25.0) (15,280) (17.0)
Estimated tax effect of AR B 2 fh st
non-deductible expenses BB E 8,577 10.2 - - 8,577 9.6
Estimated tax effect of BARRBA 2 &5
non-taxable income BT E (2,523) (3.0) - - (2,523) (2.8)
Estimated tax effect of unrecognised ~ KBERFEEEZ
tax losses At RBEE 5,360 6.4 1,644 29.2 7,004 7.8
Utilisation of tax losses BAREEE - - (237) (4.2) (237) (0.3)
Tax credit at the Group's BEAEERNAFE2ER
effective rate for the year BEFEREER (2,459) (2.9) - - (2,459) (2.7)
2012
—E2-F
Hong Kong The PRC Total
b H Bz
HK$’ 000 %  HK$’ 000 %  HK$' 000 %
TET TET TET
(restated) (restated)
(E51) (E5))
Loss before tax (from continuing MRBIAIEE (REFE
operations) REER) (46,384) (4,242) (50,626)
Tax at applicable tax rate RERREFE 2B (7,654) (16.5) (1,060) (25.0) (8,714) (17.2)
Estimated tax effect of AR A 2 2 5T
non-deductible expenses RETE 2,738 59 2,536 59.8 5,274 10.4
Estimated tax effect of BAERBIRA 2 &5t
non-taxable income BBTE (1,445) (3.1) (2,867) (67.6) (4,312) (8.5)
Estimated tax effect of unrecognised ~ RHERFIBEE 2
tax losses et g e 3,899 8.4 1,391 32.8 5,290 10.4
Tax credit at the Group's BRASERAEE 2ER
effective rate for the year REGFTEZRERR (2,462) 53 = - (2,462) (4.9)
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 #HE-T—=F=A=+—HILFE
13.DISCONTINUED OPERATION

During the year ended 31 March 2013, the Group decided to discontinue
its trade shows and exhibition operation and focus its resources on

13.ERLEERYE
HE-Z-=F=-A=+-BILFER F&£HE
RERILHBRESES  YEXHERRIERS
FARREBURKRREBMEEE - Al B
HEEEBRERCKRILEEE -

unconventional gas business and coal and metals trading business. Hence,
trade shows and exhibition operation was classified as discontinued
operation.

RESEXBFEXEZ5WT :

The results of the trade shows and exhibition operation for the year are

presented below:

2013 2012

—E—=%f —E--F

HKS$’ 000 HK$’ 000

FHET FHERT

Turnover IR 1,334 69,480
Cost of sales SHE LA - (53,491)
Other revenue H by &5 - 269
Other income Hiug A 2,700 =
Other operating expenses Hih & ER % (364) (6,470)
Profit from operating activities RE B KR 3,670 9,788
Finance costs L= %N = _
Profit before tax BB AR F 3,670 9,788
Taxation BB = -
Profit for the year REEER 3,670 9,788

The major classes of assets and liabilities of the trade shows and

exhibition operation classified as discontinued operation as at 31 March

2013 are as follows:

K-B-=2=A=+-EBEACALEEX
BrRESRB > AERABZEBAAMT :

2013 2012
=% —E-C=F
HK$’ 000 HK$' 000
FHET FHET
Assets wE
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables & BARERHEAEWKRIE - -
Cash and cash equivalents RekREEEER 5 -
Assets classified as discontinued operation RHEACRLIREXBZEE 5 =
Liabilities ai®
Accrued liabilities and other payables 28 EREMESTRIE 5,353 -
Liabilities directly associated with assets HBRERCRIREXKEE
classified as discontinued operation HEMHBERE 5,353 -
Net liabilities directly associated with the BHE A% I R 2T B B AR EE
discontinued operation ZEEFE (5,348) -
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 #HBZE-T—=5=A=+—HI5E

13.DISCONTINUED OPERATION (continued) 13. E%iﬁﬂiﬁ (#8)
The cash flows incurred by trade shows and exhibition SEBELEZREREBNT :

operation are as follows:

2013 2012
—E—=5 —E-C-F
HKS$’ 000 HK$’ 000
TET FET
Net cash outflows from operating activities REEB2RERNEFRE (297) (1,939)
Ner cash outflows from |nveshng activities BRETH 2B SR H FEE - (269)
Net cash outflows ReRnEFE (297) (2,208)
Profit for the year from discontinued operation includes the followings: RECKRLEREXEB 2 FERNEFEMOT ¢
2013 2012
—E—=5 —E-C-F
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
TET FET
Depreciation e - 7
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment HEYE - BEKZE2EE = 12
Loss on written off of property, plant and equipment #iEE#% - BERREZEEB = 29
Earnings per share from discontinued operation: REEREREER ZBRER :
2013 2012
—E2—=% —E-—F
HK cents HK cents
A&l Al
- Basic —&EK 0.2 0.7
— Diluted -8 0.2 0.7
The earnings per share attributable to owners of the Company from the AAREBEAEBLHE R IELERE %i%’éﬂ%&ﬂ
discontinued operation is based on the profit for the year of approximately DREFE®A#H3,670,0008 T (=& —=
HK$3,670,000 (2012: HK$9,788,000) and the weighted average % :9,788,0008 t) RFRE BETMETY
number of ordinary shares in issue during the year of 1,858,242,012 T AR AR E,858,242,012 (=& — =% :
(2012: 1,351,766,302). 1,351,766,3028%) 5t & °
Diluted earnings per share was the same as the basis earnings per share. BRESRANEGREREFER - XD F ZiHE
The Company’s outstanding warrants, convertible notes and share options RITERREE - TRREZERBEREIL RAA
were not included in the calculation of diluted earnings per share because SAEESREBEREFNA - DEADQAERITERR
the effect of the Company’s outstanding warrants, convertible notes and EE TR EEREREEGREESE -
share options were anti-dilutive.
14.LOSS FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS 14. X 0P R ABEFEESIR
OF THE COMPANY
Of the consolidated loss for the year attributable to owners of the RADTEEAEBEFEELREEES3,269,000
Company of HK$83,269,000 (2012: HK$34,145,000), a loss of BT (ZZ— =1 :34,145,000/87T) F ' 18
HK$23,506,000 (2012: HK$30,912,000) has been dealt with in the 23,506,000 5t (=& — = : 30,912,000/&
financial statements of the Company, ) ERARBFHHRFERE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 #HE-T—=F=A=+—HILFE

15.DIVIDENDS 15.8& 8
The directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend in respect of AARBMERBZE_ZT—=F=A=+—HLHF
the year ended 31 March 2013 (2012: Nil). EERZBWREMARE(ZZE——F 1 &) -
16.LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF 16. FAFIHBTAEEBRER
THE COMPANY
The calculation of basic loss per share amounts is based on the loss for SFTEEBRERABERENDURATEE A
the year attributable to owners of the Company and the weighted average EEEFEFEBRFRAERTMEFLIESR
number of ordinary shares in issue during the year of 1,858,242,012 BRARET,858,242, 012K (=& — =& :
(2012: 1,351,766,302). 1,351,766,302%) 5t & °
Diluted loss per share for the years ended 31 March 2013 and 2012 BE-_Z—=FR-_F—_-_F=A=+—HILHF
were the same as the basic loss per share. The Company’s outstanding EzERBEGEERESREREEERE - AQF
warrants, convertible notes and share options were not included in the HARTERAREE  THRREBERBEREREHR
calculation of diluted loss per share because the effect of the Company’s AFTESRBEEFEEZA  BARDFEKRITER
outstanding warrants, convertible notes and share options were REE TRREEREREARBESE -
anti-dilutive.
2013 2012
—E—=5 —E-C-F
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
THT FET
The (loss)/profit for the year attributable KAREEABEFE (FB)
to the owners of the company are as follows: AT
— from continuing operations - REFERSEXER (86,939) (43,933)
— from discontinued operation —RECKRIEEEEE 3,670 9,788
Loss for the year from continuing and REFERSRIEREEK
discontinued operations ZEEEE (83,269) (34,145)
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 #HE-Z—=F=A=+—HItFE
17. 9%  -BEREMR

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

The Group 7. 3 |
Furniture Fixtures
Plant and  Leasehold and and Computer Motor
equipment improvements  equipment fittings  equipment vehicles Total
BERRE HEMREE RARSMG 2 KEREH# L1 Ed RE &t
HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000
TERL THART THET THET TART TR THAR
Cost: BEE:
At 1 April 2011 WZB--%MA-A - 1,566 445 109 578 1,752 4,450
Additions R 992 20 230 75 64 2,480 3,861
Written off e - (673 158) (109] (1 : (1,041)
Disposals e - - - - (215) (1,752) (1,967)
Acquisition of subsidiaries WEKBAR - - 67 - - - 67
Exchange realignment E5iAZ 11 - 3 1 1 - 16
At 31 March 2012 RZB-Z§=f=t-BRK
and 1 April 2012 “E-"¥MA-A 1,003 713 687 76 427 2,480 5,386
Additions 'R 23,705 - 32 - 6 - 23,743
Disposals HE - - (4) - - - 4)
Exchange realignment EiAR 108 - 3 1 - - 112
At 31 March 2013 RZE-Z%ZA=1-H 24,816 713 718 77 433 2,480 29,237
Accumulated depreciation RTERRE :
and impairment:
At 1 April 2011 RZZE--%£MA-A - 721 137 28 333 439 1,658
Provided during the year EREE - 87 97 18 89 371 662
Writen of e ; (674) (34 (3¢ - - 744
Acquisition of subsidiaries WEHBAR - - 27 - - - 27
Disposals hE = = - - (204) (609) (813)
Exchange realignment ERHRZE - - 1 - - - ]
At 31 March 2012 RZE-—§=f=1+-HEK
and 1 April 2012 “E--¥MA-A - 134 228 10 218 201 791
Provided during the year ERER 109 71 115 15 93 249 652
Disposals HE - - ) - - = )
Exchange realignment Bz [ - 1 - - - 2
At 31 March 2013 RZB-ZE=ZA=1-H 110 205 343 25 3N 450 1,444
Net book value: IRE#E
At 31 March 2013 RZB-Z%Zf=+-8 24,706 508 375 52 122 2,030 27,793
At 31 March 2012 W=B-Z%=p=t-H 1,003 579 459 66 209 2,279 4,595

The net book value of the Group’s plant and equipment and motor vehicle
held under finance lease as at 31 March 2013 were approximately
HK$23,705,000 and approximately HK$1,453,000 respectively (2012:
HK$Nil and HK$1,629,000).

Included in the plant and equipment of approximately HK$23,705,000
was not yet in the condition necessary for it to be capable of operating
in the manner intended by the management of the Group. Therefore,
no depreciation was recognised for the respective plant and equipment
during the year ended 31 March 2013.

REERBREBNFE 2HBRRBEURTE
REZB-—Z=ZF=ZA=+—-HZKREFED D
%23,705,000/8 T K #9%1,453,000/8 T (==&
—Z=F  BEBR1,629,00087T) °

HEBE T SR EEE 423,705,000 Tt 18 S B F IR A
SEEEERESNREMBEZGRE - Bitt
MREBE-Z—=F=ZF=+—HILEERLES
EHMERZERANE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 #HE-T—=F=A=+—HILFE
18.INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

1. RIEBARZES

The Company

b 3/
2013 2012
-—8—= —E-C-F
HK$’000 HK$’ 000
FET FHET
Unlisted investments, at cost FEMBE  BERAIE 809,313 767,533
Less: Impairment loss recognised in W RIRERAERZ
respect of investment cost WEEE (743,992) (696,421)
65,321 71,112
Amounts due from subsidiaries AL NG BT 107,724 85,317
Less: Impairment loss recognised AR A R
in respect of amounts due from MIRTER 2B EE 1R
subsidiaries (75,759) (72,242)
97,286 84,187
The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and EUHMBARREDLDERR RERERERE

repayable on demand. In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the
Company will not demand repayment within one year from the end of the

reporting period and are therefore considered as non-current.

The carrying amounts of interests in subsidiaries are reduced to the
recoverable amounts which are determined by reference to the estimation

of future cash flows expected to be generated from the respective

subsidiaries.

The carrying amounts of amounts due from subsidiaries are reduced
to their recoverable amounts which are determined by reference to
the estimation of future cash flows expected to be generated from the

respective subsidiaries.

The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries as at 31 March 2013:

Nominal value

B ARNARESRA  ARAHABREHTHEAE
—FRABTEERENR FRREEMRERIFE
RBEE -

RMBARERNREERETRERIE - T)
2RABEMBRRAEEZGEFARARASREE

E o

FE U Ff B X R RROR 2 BRIEMEDR 2 A B RRIE - T3
SREMBLAAEE 2GR RRREEREE ©

UTAR=B—=£=A=+-A2TEWE2L
AL :

Percentage of
equity attributable
to the Company
and proportion of

Place of of issued voting power held
incorporation share capital/ FREEGEE
Name and operations paid up capital BRLRFHRFELILH
1] EMEIR ERTHE/BME Direct Indirect Principal activities
BB BFEE EE & FERE
Pro-Capital Investments Limited British Virgin Islands US$50 100 - Investment holding
RBELHS 50%7T REER
Wealth Gain Global Investment Limited British Virgin Islands Us$1 100 - Investment holding
EERBRREERAF KBELHES 127 REER
Sino Talent Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 Operation company
FEEEERAR BB 187 EENT
Kenfair International (Overseas) Limited Hong Kong HK$10 - 100 Organisation of overseas
EE 1087 exhibitions and trade shows
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18.INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Name

1

Place of
incorporation
and operations
B3 R
BERE

Bright Top Investment Holdings Limited
EEREEZRERAT

Profull Int'l Holdings Limited
REEBRERERAF

Twinkle Win Limited

Sino Giants Group Limited

Multi Century Technology Development Limited
AIERBRRERANE

Multi Century Engery Technology (Beijing) Limited (i)
(UMCT (BJ)H)

British Virgin Islands
REELEE

British Virgin Islands
HBRLHE

British Virgin Islands
REELHE
British Virgin Islands
EERLHE

Hong Kong

EiE

The PRC
H

ARG RERNE (30 AR A A1) (TAIZ AL (3 )

Wealthy Wing Limited (“Wealthy Wing")
EXERRA(TEX])

Western Spark Investments Limited

HEREARAF

Heilongjiang Derong Coal Industrial Co., Ltd (iii) (“Derong”)

BEIERBERARAR () (TER))

Zhan Sheng Investments
Limited (iv) (“Zhan Sheng”)
RAREBRDA(V)([RE D

World Grace Enterprises
Limited (iv) {“World Grace”)
SR ERA A (iv) (Tt )

Zhuhai Tiegang Commerical
Trading Company Limited (iv)(v) (“Zhuhai Tiegang”)
wSHEBERRAAiv)(v) (HEEHE D)

Hubei Tiegang Trading
Company Limited (iv) (“Hubei Tiegang”)
WM EEEZERAR (iv) (DH L8 D)

British Virgin Islands
REELHE

Hong Kong
5

The PRC
HE

British Virgin Islands
RBRELZHE

Hong Kong
&g

The PRC
HE

The PRC
H

For the year ended 31 March 2013

Nominal value
of issued

share capital
/paid up capital
BERTRE @R
BE@E

Percentage of
equity attributable
to the Company
and proportion of
voting power held

FLAFEGHR

BRLRAERRELE

Indirect
HE

Direct
EE

Us$1
1%

US$1
[E
US$1
1%
Us$1
1£7
HK$490
4903 7T

RMB13,854,996
AE#13,854,996 7T

US$1
1X7

HK$10,000
10,0005 7T

RMB14,400,000
AEK#14,400,0007

US$10,000
10,000% 7t

HK$1
1Ex

US$151,611
151,611%7

RMB10,200,000
AK#10,200,0007T

100 -

100 -

100 -

100 -

- 100

70.97 -

- 100

- 100

- 77.5

B IS AR MY aE

HE-T-=F=A=t+-ALEFE
18. B AR ZH#EE (H)

Principal activities
FEEH

Investment holding

REER

Investment holding

REER

Investment holding

REER

Investment holding

REER

Investment holding

REER

Provision of services in connection
with unconventional gas and
import of technical equipment
for the unconventional gas
industry

RERHEFERRAFAE
BERFERXAR
TRBARMR

Investment holding

RERR

Investment holding
REZER

Trading of coal in the PRC
REEEER R

Investment holding

RERR

Investment holding

REZR

Trading of metals in the PRC
RAEBEELE

Trading of coal in the PRC
RPEEERR
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 #HE-T—=F=A=+—HILFE
18.INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Notes:

(i) The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group, which, in the opinion
of the directors, principally affected the results or assets of the Group. To
give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors,

result in particulars of excessive lengths.

(i) The registered capital of MCT (BJ) is RMB15,000,000. As at 31 March
2013, the Group had injected RMB13,854,996 and the remaining

RMB1,145,004 will be injected to MCT (B]).

(iii) The registered capital of Derong is RMB22,220,000 and the Group
will contribute RMB22,000,000. As at 31 March 2013, the Group had
injected RMB4,400,000 and the Group will inject RMB17,600,000
to Derong of which RMB7,820,000 is for the registered capital and

RMB9,780,000 is for additional capital contribution.

(iv)  Acquired during the year ended 31 March 2013.

(v)  The registered capital of Zhuhai Tiegang is US$1,000,000. As st 31
March 2013, the Group had injected US$151,611. The Group will inject

US$848,389 to Zhuhai Tiegang for the registered capital.

19.INTANGIBLE ASSETS
The Group

Cost: % 3-\
At 1 April 2011, 1 April 2012 and
31 March 2013

Accumulated amortisation and RetBBAREE:
impairment:
At 1 April 2011, 1 April 2012 and “E-—5MmA-H" -F

31 March 2013

MR PE
R-B-Z%#ZA=+-H

Net book value:
At 31 March 2013

IH BR= i——ﬁ H +—H

18. RINB AR ZES (M)

(i)

(ii)

(i)

(iv)

Bs :

ERAIEAEBZHMBAR  NEERAF
A AEEBCEBEREEETVEE - ESR
?ia Hil i E A B A B 2 51 %ﬁﬂiﬂfﬁ

TR e

AR (R 2FTMERBARE
15,000,000t c A=ZZE—=H=8A=+—
B AEEBEEEAARYE3,854,9967T > M
BT AR®,145,0047T #5% A B2 4 (4t
) e

BRzEMERE ARKY22,220,000T - B
AREBEZETEARYEE22,000,0007Tt c A=ZE
—=5=ZA=+—H FXEEEETAARH
4,400,000 - REBE K EEREAARYE
17,600,000 » E & A K#7,820,0007t A
fEsEME AR AR#9,780,0005T A/EFEINE
§ °

REBE_Z—=F=A=1+—HLFERIKE -
REE B 2 MERAT,000,000% 7T c =
E—=F=ZA=1+—H  AKEXE151,611

En -AKERARBHEBZEMENTE
848,389% T °

19. ‘LB E
FHRME

e-commerce
platform
EFERTER
HK$' 000
TiEx

At 31 March 2012 —E=f=+-H

The e-commerce platform represents “Kenfair.com” held by the Group.
Kenfair.com is widely used in the Group’s operation and generates income
through membership fee, advertising fee and on-line application from its
users. It acts as a virtual exhibition-sourcing platform for the suppliers
to search for the target buyers. Members receive the latest information
related to trade shows and exhibitions held by the Group. The cost of
the e-commerce platform is amortised on a straightline basis over the
estimated remaining useful life of seven years. During the year ended 31
March 2009, the Group has fully impaired the e-commerce platform.
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 HE-ZT—=F=A=+—HItEE

20. GOODWILL 20.%8
The Group EKHE
HK$’000
FET
Cost: 5%
At 1 April 2011 R=-ZFE——FWMA—H 1,700
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 41(b)) WE M B A B (MfaE41(b)) 69,989
At 31 March 2012 and 1 April 2012 R=ZEB——-F=A=+—HR=Z—-FMA—H 71,689
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 41(a)) WK EE BT BB A B (A1 aE41(a)) 44,931
At 31 March 2013 R-ZE—=F=HA=+—H 116,620
Accumulated impairment: REtR(E :
At 1 April 2011, 31 March 2012 R=ZB-——-SNA-H -Z2—-—=F
and 1 April 2012 =A=+—-HER=Z—-=-"5HTA—H
Impairment for the year FARE 46,485
At 31 March 2013 R=Z—=F=A=+—H 46,485
Carrying amounts: IRERE :
At 31 March 2013 R-E—=%=RA=+—H 70,135
At 31 March 2013 R=-E—=F=A=+—H 71,689

Particulars regarding impairment testing on goodwill are disclosed in Note

21.

FEEERENAZFERWE21KE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 #HE-T—=F=A=+—HILFE

21.IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON GOODWILL 2. HERENR

As explained in Note 6, the Group uses business segments as its primary WKt ot  AEERABEB S BERERES

segment for reporting segment information. For the purposes of impairment WERZEESI - BUETHERNEMS » MEE

testing, goodwill with indefinite useful lives set out in Note 20 has been 20TV BREAFRAFH2EEE ST 5

allocated to following cash generating unit (CGUs). The carrying amount ReEdBN ((REELEEN]) - RZTE—=F

of goodwill (net of accumulated impairment losses) as at 31 March 2013 R-—ZE——-—F=ZA=+—HB B2 (AEREFH

and 2012, is allocated as follows: BEER) 2ERAEIBRBEROT :

2013 2012
—E—=%F ZE-C-F
HK$’000 HK$' 000
THT FET
Unconventional gas business EERRARES 1,700 1,700
Coal and metals trading business BEREEBEEX£K 68,435 69,989
70,135 71,689

Unconventional gas business FERXRRARY

The recoverable amount of this cash-generating unit is determined based ReEsBENcWmEBEIRE-—BEEAEERE

on a value-in-use calculation which uses cash flow projections based on AEEBEE HERAZREREEANNDERES

financial budgets approved by the directors covering a five-year period, HOEF R F 2 BETEE  WABF23%MERE -
and a discount rate of 23% per annum.

Cash flow projections during the budget period are based on the same EEHRZRESRERADREEERRN ZEE

expected gross margins throughout the budget period. The cash flows FEHEMNEFE ZEFHEZRERECEA

beyond that five-year period have been exirapolated using a steady 3N REFEBRREL - ZBRBXRKBEBTS

3% per annum growth rate. The growth rate does not exceed the long- RETFHERE -EEHE  ETETRESEE

term average growth rate for the market. The directors believed that ZEEBRRAERZEMSEAEEE  H1E

any reasonably possible change in the key assumptions on which the EYREELBUZREEBHETWREIAE -
recoverable amount is based would not cause the carrying amount of the

unit to exceed the aggregate recoverable amount of the cash generating

unit.

The key assumptions used in the value-in-use calculations for the AEFERAAREBENCAEERAZEE

unconventional gas business are as follows: BRERWT :

Budgeted market share ~ The values assigned to the assumption reflect BEMSLEAEER EARZERRZEBERR
past experience, except for the growth factor, WAL WEHBEEER
which is consistent with the directors’ plans ZEMGE ZKENTEER
for focusing operations in these markets. The —H - EEME RREF
directors believe that planned market share WErEm S A RFRRER
growth per year for the next five years is Al S B HER o
reasonably achievable.

Budgeted gross margin ~ Average gross margins achieved in the FEEER = 22 43 78 & HA AT HA RS P B8
period immediately before the budget ZFHEFRE - EE R
period, increased for expected efficiency BEMIZ N o b ARIB AL
improvements. This reflects past experience, o MEMBRRERI o

except for efficiency improvements.
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21.IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON GOODWILL (continued)

Coal and metals trading business

The recoverable amount of this cash-generating unit is determined based
on a value-in-use calculation which uses cash flow projections based on
financial budgets approved by the directors covering a five-year period,
and a discount rate of 23% per annum.

Cash flow projections during the budget period are based on the same
expected gross margins throughout the budget period. The cash flows
beyond that five-year period have been extrapolated using a steady
3% per annum growth rate. The growth rate does not exceed the long-
term average growth rate for the market. The directors believed that
any reasonably possible change in the key assumptions on which the
recoverable amount is based would not cause the carrying amount of the
unit to exceed the aggregate recoverable amount of the cash generating
unit.

The key assumptions used in the value-in-use calculations for the coal and
metals trading business are as follows:

Budgeted market share ~ The values assigned to the assumption reflect
past experience, except for the growth factor,
which is consistent with the Directors’ plans
for focusing operations in these markets. The
directors believe that planned market share
growth per year for the next five years is
reasonably achievable.

Budgeted gross margin ~ Average gross margins achieved in the
period immediately Before the budget
period, increased for expected efficiency
improvements. This reflects past experience,
except for efficiency improvements.

2. @ & E A ()

BREEBEERY
GREELBUTRE LB REEAEE
BoORtEEARSRERRN MZEAERE
$M@§£$%ﬁﬁm&zﬁﬁﬁ§&§$%%
ZBHRE o

RESEHEARSRSFDENRZEREHE
ZHEBEHERNE - BHAFHB2RERET
RABFI%BEFREREEH - ZIEREI R
BETSRETHERE -BEEZHE  TRES
HARBEZEIERR2EMESETREBEIE
BYZENRAEEBREEAE M2 AIRE
HWEH o

RERREBEEXB cEABEFEMRKAZ
EFEB/RAOT
BEEBEEER BEZRRZEERRSE
GE,éé‘é%f: MR R E R
HESEZEThEmEH
B2stE - EEMEERRE
FEFZHEATEEAERE
RASERE -

REEF= SEAE IRz B RE
ZFHEFNR - FEHNE
HEMZM - REBER
B MRBRBRI -
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21.IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON GOODWILL (continued) 21. &R ENK (]|

Coal and metals trading business (continued)
Impairment loss on goodwill arising from the acquisition of Wealthy Wing
of approximately HK$46,485,000 was recognised during the year ended
31 March 2013 as the recoverable amount determined based on the cash
flow projections from Wealthy Wing does not turnout as expected due
to the following reasons: (i) the unexpected slowdown of the economic
growth in China, especially a weak demand for coal domestic market
with oversupply. The coal price was dropped significantly and was
volatile which resulted in low or even negative profit margin. The market
condition of coal trading business is unfavourable. The management has
taken a more cautious and conservative approach towards sales orders of
coal trading; (ii) some unexpected operation issues occurred during the
year which was related to the agreement entered prior to the acquisition
of Wealthy Wing by the Group. The civil claim against Derong so as
to freeze a bank deposit of approximately RMB8,300,000 has directly
affected Derong’s source of funding for operation and performance in
future (more details disclosed in Note 42(h)); (iii) the capital funding is
very essential for the operation in coal trading business. However, the
financial market condition in the PRC was unstable and tighten during the
year. The delay payment from debtors affected the recovery of operating
funds whereas the suppliers usually demand for payment in advance
before delivery of goods. The cash return cycle of Derong was longer than
expected and hence the management was more cautious fo enter into sales
contracts; and (iv) the capital injection of RMB17,600,000 into Derong
has been delayed and affected Derong’s working capital and operation.
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22.DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL ASSETS 22.fTHEEMEE
The Group and the Company EEERELT
Derivative
financial assets
MERMEE
HK$’ 000
FHET
Balance as at 1 April 2011 R=Z——FWA-Bz#&eH -
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 41(b)) W BB I B 1 B (Bt aE41(b)) 19,597
Fair value changes AT EZH (1,673)
Balance as at 31 March 2012 and 1 April 2012 RZ=ZZ-—Z=FZA=+—-HR=Z—-FWNA—HZ#&&% 17,924
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 41(a)) W BB M BB 2 =) (MfaF41(a)) 10,335
Fair value changes NEEEH 4,925
Balance as at 31 March 2013 R-S—Z=ZFZAZ=Z+—HZRRK 33,184
Derivative financial assets represented the contingent consideration TEsRMEEERNTEBRLEESRESRTRER
receivables when the Group dispose or place the remaining consideration BFE=THERRAKE BEFE B2
shares to independent third parties. For details, please refer to Note 41 (a) BIMT a4 (o) RHFE41(b) o D FERA S EREE
and 41(b). The fair value is measured using the binomial option pricing FREEREDHRFA-BERNAEEBERTE -
model at initial recognition and at the end of each reporting period.
23.AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS 23. AfHHESRMEE
The Group The Company
F5E . 3/
2013 2012 2013 2012
—®g-=% —T--—& -—T-= —E-——&
HK$’000 HK$'000  HK$’000 HK$’ 000
TFET FE T FHET FET
Unlisted equity ERFLEMRAES
securities in B A
Hong Kong, at cost 1 1 1 1
The unlisted available-for-sale equity securities do not have a quoted market FELHAHEEERABENIRTE LY ERE
price in an active market are measured at cost less impairment at each HRE REREHEERTBRESE  EEA
reporting period because the range of reasonable fair value estimates is so SEANFEMGST2EHENLELR  URAQATE
significant that the directors of the Company are of the opinion that the fair EDABFAEHENFE -

value cannot be reliably measured.
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24.TRADE RECEIVABLES 24. B ZEWHRIA
The Group
x5E

2013 2012
—E—= —E-—F
HKS$’000 HK$’ 000
FTHET FET
Trade receivables B 5 EWFE 21,381 71,212

The aged analysis of trade receivables is as follows: ESREWREBZRRIMUOT :

The Group
E-3- 1|

2013 2012
—E—Z=f —E--F
HK$’000 HK$’ 000
TH#T FET
0 to 30 days 0=30H - 59,180
31 to 60 days 31&E60H 11,376 10,096
61 to 90 days 61E90H 322 -
91 to 180 days 91Z£180H 104 -
Over 180 days HiE180H 9,579 1,936
Total #st 21,381 71,212

According to the credit rating of different customers, the Group allows a
range of credit periods not exceeding 180 days fo its trade customers.
Trade receivables are all denominated in RMB.

Trade receivables disclosed above include amounts (see below for aged
analysis) which are past due at the end of the reporting period for which
the Group has not recognised an allowance for doubtful debts because
there has not been a significant change in credit quality and the amounts
are still considered recoverable.

Age of trade receivables that are past due but not impaired

Overdue by: BHR
Over 180 days #EiB180H
Total st

RIBEFREF Z2EEFNR  AEEETESEF
ZIEEHFHIBI80H - EZEUHEEHIUA
R#&tE -

EXFRE 2B 5 R WHIRBRERN RS AREH
MAKERFEEETES KL REBERED
WRR A W e I R IR BB 2R (R
TXHEBRRD) °

BAMERREZE A ERRAZIRE

The Group
T5E
2013 2012
—Ee—=% —E-C-F
HKS$’000 HK$'000
THET FERT
9,579 1,936
9,579 1,936

In determining the recoverability of trade receivables, the directors of
the Company consider any change in the credit quality of the trade
receivables from the date credit were initially granted up fo the reporting
date. Accordingly, the directors of the Company considered that provision
for impairment is value be made in respect of trade receivables to their
recoverable values and believe that there is no credit provision required in
excess of the allowance for doubtful debts.
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Other receivables

H 1 B W8

B IS AR MY aE

For the year ended 31 March 2013 #HBZE-T—=5=A=+—HI5E

25.#&  WAARARHEMEKRRE

The Group The Company
F5E b 30

2013 2012 2013 2012
=8_-% —E-—CF —g-=% —E-CF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’ 000
FET THEx FERT TER
3,698 19,216 = 2,000
6,561 11,994 446 3,377
47,775 30,322 10,390 10,406
58,034 61,532 10,836 15,783

As at 31 March 2013, included in other receivables, approximately
HK$10,000,000 (2012: HK$10,000,000) was the deposits previously
paid into High Court of Hong Kong (the “High Court”) for an injunction

order mentioned in Note 42(b).

26. AMOUNT DUE FROM A DIRECTOR

Ms. Geng Ying

g 2t

RZE-—=F=ZA=+—HB st AHEtEK
MEEH 10,000,000t (=& — =& :
10,000,000 7t ) J3 2 AL BT E42 (b) At = 224
LHEEEREER (HEER]) X FzEke -

26 BE—REERTR
The Group and the Company

FRERFLT

2013 2012
—g-=% —g-=%
HK$’000 HK$' 000

TER FBx

= 34

The amount due from a director was unsecured, interest-free and
recoverable on demand. The maximum outstanding debit balance during
the year ended 31 March 2013 was approximately HK$34,000 (2012:

HK$34,000).

27.DEPOSITS WITH BANKS AND CASH AND CASH

EQUIVALENTS
The Group and the Company

As at 31 March 2013, the fixed interest rate on fixed deposits with banks
of HK$10,891,000 (2012: HK$10,786,000), with maturity one month at
0.1% (2012: 1.0% maturity over three month but less than one year) per

annum. The deposits with banks were denominated in HK$.

R —-—FEEHRAEER RERRFERE
B-REBE-Z-—=ZF=ZA=Z1+—-HLEFER
ZERAREHERELNR34,0008 T (ZF—=
F 1 34,0008 7T) °

27. BTERERAERESSEHERE

FRERFLF
R-ZZE-=F=A=1t—-R R—EARRH(=
T-_H BBE=BERAER-FARIH ZEE
RITEMFRKR10,891,0008 L (ZB—=F :
10,786,000 ) * FHEHR0.1% (=T —=
F:1.0%) - FHRABTEME-
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27.DEPOSITS WITH BANKS AND CASH AND CASH 27. BTFRRBE2RBASEEHEERA ()
EQUIVALENTS (continued)
At the end of the reporting period, deposits with banks and cash and cash RBERR BOERREERASEHEERE
equivalents comprise of the followings: FEUTHE
The Group The Company
3 L] e 3/
2013 2012 2013 2012
—E-Z=% —E-ZF ZE-Z=f —E-CZF
HK$’000 HK$' 000 HK$’000 HK$' 000
FERL FTET TERT FTET
Deposits with banks RITER 10,891 10,786 10,891 10,786
Cash and cash equivalents & KRR & EEEE 11,018 5,030 114 117
21,909 15,816 11,005 10,903
Cash and cash equivalents were denominated in the following currencies: REeRBEESEEBDUATIEREE:
The Group The Company
. 3L 2. 3/
2013 2012 2013 2012
—Z2-Z=% —E-ZF —E-Z=f —E-ZF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’ 000
THET TET TERT TET
RMB ARE 10,721 4,119 - -
HK$ BT 297 777 114 117
Others Hith - 134 - -
11,018 5,030 114 117
The remittance of cash and cash equivalents denominated in RMB out of UARBEEZ2RERESZEEEEEHLIRAEA
the PRC is subject to the foreign exchange control restrictions imposed by BFhBERFRERZIIES & o
the government of the PRC.
Cash and cash equivalents carry interest at market rates which range from B4 LHSLEEBEERTEANRNYE  NEEE
1% to 2% per annum. 1%ZE2% °
Included in cash and cash equivalents, approximately HK$10,284,000 REERAELESEERANEELHN10,284,000/
(RMB8,300,000) was restrained from dealing due to the civil action taken 7t (AR#8,300,000%) A—ZHEEFEH 2
by a PRC claimant. For details, please refer to Note 42(h). EEZEMEZRFEE EEAFBEE2EME
42(h) °
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28.TRADE PAYABLES 28. B EFRIA
The following is an analysis of trade payables by age based on the UTEREZAHESENREZRE D °

invoice date.

The Group
*EE
2013 2012
—E—=5 —E-C=F
HK$’000 HK$"000
THT FET
0 to 30 days 0=30H - 55,916
31 to 60 days 31HZ60H 11,102 =
61 to 90 days 61HZE90H 312 -
91 to 180 days 91HZ=180H - 2,769
Over 180 days Hi3180H 8,608 10,741
Total st 20,022 69,426
The average credit period on purchases of certain goods is 180 days. The BEETEMZTYEEHNRI80R - AEEF
Group has financial risk management policies in place to ensure that all BEzMBRRERRE  UBREMBEMRIEA
payables are paid within the credit timeframe. REEEBERAA
29. ACCRUED LIABILITIES AND OTHER PAYABLES 29. REt A RE R i E %R IR
The Group The Company
FEM 4T
2013 2012 2013 2012
=®-=f —T--f C"B-=Ff C—B--f
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’ 000
FET TER FET FTET
Accrued liabilities 2itaE 174,207 177,123 160,903 171,461
Other payables HiEARIE 31,984 15,896 11,206 4,380
Amount due to a related company FETBRE A B FIE - 368 - -
206,191 193,387 172,109 175,841
Included in accrued liabilities of HK$158,600,000 (201: HK$158,600,000) Zit&EH > B158,600,0008 T (ZF—=
was consideration payables for acquisition of Wealth Gain Global Investment £ : 158,600,000 T) HUNBERRRIRES
Limited (“Wealth Gain”). On 15 December 2009, the Company issued legal RAB(ER]) 2EBARE R=ZZZTNF+=
proceedings against Mr. Hung in the High Court in connection with the B+HA ARRESZERH A EERFEEE
acquisition of Wealth Gain and also filed a statement of claim against Mr. BF RAFHRWBERE - BTFR=Z2-%
Hung for, inter alia, the rescission of the Agreement on 1 February 2010. F_RA—HOALEBRHAERRAEZU(HEFE
Details please refer to Note 42. 1B) B A3 (F1Em RMEE42) -
As at 31 March 2012, amount due to a related company was unsecured, REZE-—Z-H=ZA=t—H BEN—HEEALH
interest-free and repayable on demand. ZREDEER RERAEBEREE -
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30. AMOUNTS DUE TO SHAREHOLDERS 30.FEfT B RRIA
The Group and the Company
FRERFLT
2013 2012
—EB—=F ZE-C—F
HKS$’000 HK$'000
THET THET
Amount due to Hung Chen, Richael B (T B4 D)
(“Mr. Hung”) (Note i) IR (W ati) 16,238 15,358
Amount due to ACE Channel FE{YACE Channel Limited
Limited (Note ii) I (B atii) 6,977 1,312
23,215 16,670
Notes: Bat -

(i) The principal amount and interests and detail terms of amount due to Mr.
Hung are summarised as follows:

1) HK$3,000,000 loan is unsecured, bearing interest at a fixed rate of
8% per annum due on 3 December 2009;

2)  HK$8,000,000 loan is unsecured, bearing interest at a fixed rate of
8% per annum due on 8 March 2010; and

3) HK$1,600,000 advance is unsecured, non-interest bearing and
repayable on demand.

(i)  On 15 August 2011, the Company signed a shareholder’s loan facility
agreement of HK$20,000,000 with ACE Channel Limited, beneficially
owned by Mr. Gao Feng, a director of the Company, is unsecured,
bearing interest at a which the HSBC prime rate plus 1% (i.e. 6%) per
annum and due on 14 August 2012. On 12 September 2012, the
agreement has been extended for one year and due on 14 August 2013.
The Company has already drawn down a total amount of HK$6,641,000
as at 31 March 2013.
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(ii)

FEA 3 e 2 FRIE 2 AN € I Al B B R S AR IR R
BT -

1) 3,000,000 T ERBEIKA > KEE
FREWE  R=ZBTZAF+=A=
HEIH ;

2) 8,000,000 TERAEKE  KEE
FRE8%E R=Z—ZTF=AN\H
2E R

3) 1,600,000 TE&ZAHEER  RER
BRERMEE -

R=—ZZE——FENA+EHHB&x2AFHEACE
Channel Limited (R AR EE SR EEBHE
BHATF)25720,000,000/8 T 2 RERE REE
EthE ZREAERKR  REJRELRIT
BREZFEM % (B6%)TE  RR=2F—=
FNA+THEBEHBH R=_FT——-FhA+=
H ZBZECEEH—F IR-_"ZF—=FN
AtHBEH R=-ZE-—=F5=F=+—1"
KAFE A HIEEG,641,000/ 7T °
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The Group and the Company
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31.
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—=F=A=+—-HIFE

TTESMAR
FRERELF

Conversion
Acquisition option of
contingent convertible
consideration notes Total
U fi CIE: Y24
ZBARKE Z BRI #at
(Note i) (Note ii)
(KaEi) (Kt atii)
Balance as at 1 April 2011 REZ-——FHNA-HZHEE - - -
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 41(b)) W BB B BB & B (Bt a4 1(b)) 4,726 = 4,726
Fair value changes ATEEH (567) = (567)
Balance as at 31 March 2012 R=ZZE—-—F=HA=+—H
and 1 April 2012 R—E—_FWMB-—Hz#&& 4,159 = 4,159
Issuance of convertible notes (Note 34) BATARR RIE (B17234) - 3,583 3,583
Fair value changes ATEZH (4,159) (563) (4,722)
Derecognition due to early redemption H 12 2 E R mBUE R = (1,317) (1,317)
Balance as at 31 March 2013 R-E—=F=RA=1+—HzZzH#&K - 1,703 1,703
Notes: e -
(i)  The amount represented the cash bonus additionally granted to the () ZREEAEEHEIRTFEXKELIZRELA
vendor of Wealthy Wing by the Group as the contingent consideration FMoERKRBHEBARZSANRE - BEAFF
of acquisition of subsidiaries. For details, please refer to Note 41(b). The 15 F2EMIEE41(b) - A FERDSERIRR

fair value is measured using the binomial option pricing model at initial

(ii)

recognition and at the end of each reporting period.

On 18 June 2012, the Company entered into a convertible note
(“Convertible Notes 2012") subscription agreement (the “Subscription
Agreement”) with an independent subscriber (the “Subscriber”) pursuant
to which the Company has conditionally agreed to issue, and the
Subscriber conditionally agreed to subscribe for Convertible Notes
2012, which can be convertible at the option of the note holder into the
Company'’s ordinary shares of HK$0.01 at a conversion price of HK$0.2
each up to the second anniversary of the issue date of the Convertible
Notes 2012.

Where the average closing price of the shares of the Company as
quoted on the daily quotation sheet of the Stock Exchange for the period
commencing from the date of issue of the Convertible Notes 2012 and
ending on the 180th day thereafter (both days inclusive) (the “180 Days’
ACP”) falls below the conversion price, the conversion price shall be
adjusted to an amount equal to the higher of (i) the 180 Days’ ACP or
(i) the then par value of the shares with effect from 4:30p.m. on the day
falling the 180th day after the date of issue of the Convertible Notes
2012.

As such, the adjustment on conversion price will give rise to the settlement
by the exchange of a non-fixed amount of cash for a non-fixed number
of shares of the Company. The conversion option is therefore accounted
for as a derivative financial liability on the commitment date and
subsequently measured at fair value. The fair value is measured using
the binomial option pricing model at initial recognition and at the end of
each reporting period.

(ii)

BEEREHRKA—EAYNEEERNAE -
Eé‘_:——if\ﬁ-f—)\ﬁ RN FE— %i%_L

RBATRBADTZTRRREE (T=
Eﬂ?ﬁéﬁ%—i})’ﬁj)%ﬂﬁﬁéﬁ(r B0 175 J) B
ltt'$"ﬁﬁﬁ{%1¢ﬁ%:§§ﬁ mABACHE
FRUERERB-Z-—FUBRREE  HAHA
EEEAAR ?%LATR‘HQEHQOQ}EEBE?*%
RRARAEFRO0IEBTZEBER  EE-2—=
FAUBRBRRBERTAMBWBF ZHL-

EHMRXMEARERMBAQRIARDR=-Z
—CENRAREERTANEEHE%EIS0R
IR (BEEEMA) A2 P W mE (180
BRI HED) REERERZRRE  BR
BER-Z-——FURREERTEHRES
1BOBEATHNB=12# ARZHER
LUT®REENEEE : (i)1808 F 15Uk i B (i)
BHERZEE -

Hit - BREZARSEZEBFETEEZ
REXBIEEHREZARARNETESE
Hit - R EREE B BARIMESTEERE
& ARBEREATVEFE - A FERISHE
AEREEREHARFAZBXHEEERS
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 #HE-T—=F=A=+—HILFE

32.BORROWINGS 32. & &
The Group The Company
*5E 3|
Original
Notes  currency 2013 2012 2013 2012
B &t R&W® —B2-=¥ —E-CZF —B-=¥F —E-CZF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’' 000
FHERT TEr FET TER
Current liabilities nERE

- Bank borrowings -RITEE
- secured - FiEH () RMBAR® 14,682 18,414 - =

— Other borrowings -HinfdE
- unsecured — IR (ii) HK$38 T 2,600 = 2,600 =

Total borrowings EHEHE 17,282 18,414 2,600 =

Notes: Hret -

(i)  Bank borrowings of HK$14,682,000 (2012: HK$18,414,000) are (i) $MRITEE4,682,0008T (=F——_F:
repayable within one year, bear fixed interest rate at 9.6% (2012: 18,414,000 ) AR —FREZE &EEF
8.528%) per annum and secured by the properties owned by a non- 9.6% (=& — =% :8.528%) 2E E R =5t
controlling shareholder of Derong. B WHER IR IR R TR 2 YRR o

(i) As at 31 March 2013, the unsecured other borrowings bear interest at (i) R=ZBE—=F=A=+—8  BKFELME
2.50% per month and repayable on 19 April 2013. The loan has already EREGH2.50% 8 WAR=F—=5MA
been repaid subsequently on 21 June 2013. THhEEE ZEEREREER=-Z—Z=F

AR+ —REE-
33. OBLIGATIONS UNDER FINANCE LEASES 33.MEHRNER
As at 31 March 2013, the total future minimum lease payments under RZE—=F=A=1+—H REMEBIERS
finance leases and their present value were as follows: ZARGEHERBEZEZHRENT ¢
The Group
*5EEH
2013 2012
—E—=%5 —E -8
HK$’000 HK$' 000
THET FTET
Total minimum lease payments RIEEERBELRE
— Due within one year ——FRFH 5,873 490
— Due in the second year —SEZF 3 767 490
6,640 980
Less: future finance charges on W REHECRRBEER
finance leases (682) (41)
Present value of lease obligations HOSEEZ2HRE 5,958 939
Present value of finance lease liabilities MEHSEAEIRE
— Due within one year ——F RN 3 H 5,235 462
— Due in the second year —E-F3H 723 477
5,958 939
Less: Current portion due within one W EFARBEE - FREH
year included under current ZmEEB 4D
el s (5,235) (462)
Non-current portion included under FAFRBEBEZIFREEH
non-current liabilities 723 477
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 #HE-Z—=F=A=+—HItFE
33. OBLIGATIONS UNDER FINANCE LEASES (continued) 33.MERNHEE (]|)

During the year ended 31 March 2013, the Group leases the following BE-Z—=F=A=+—HLEE HT£EEH
assets and classified as finance leases: ETHEEY S EAMERS !
(1) A motor vehicle having remaining lease terms of 12 months. The (1) BTHHB+-EAz—WE NRASHE
interest rate is 1.7% per annum. 1.7% e
(2) A set of plant and machinery having remaining lease terms of 5 (2) EBRTHHAMBZEz —AKERERRE  F=X
quarters. The interest rate is 15% per annum. The guarantees are BEF15% BiatEHEEZHREUTER
provided and equity is pledged for the finance lease arrangement: RiREER
(i)  The Company will provide a guarantee in favour of the lessor (i) ARABEHALEML (R BN 2E
for the lease payment, handling fee or other payables by ENR - FEEBRHMENKIERZ
MCT(BJ); M ARAER
(i) The entire registered capital of MCT(BJ) will be pledged in (i) HEERARALRZERBRD RS
favour of the lessor by Multi Century Technology Development EHRIRLEHML (AR 22 HEMER
Limited; and FEZEBAA R
(iii) Mr. Gao Feng, the Vice-Chairman of the Company, will provide (iii) XRARBEFESELEEKEZHEA
a personal guarantee in favour of the lessor. REEAER -
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 #HE-T—=F=A=+—HILFE

34.CONVERTIBLE NOTES 34. WM R IR
The following tables summarise the movements in the liability components THRBARNEERAQATTRREE GBI 7
of the Group and the Company convertible notes for the years: 2
Convertible Convertible
Notes 2008 Notes 2012 Total
-1 Y- —E——F
AT 388 B R 8 T 388 A% R 8 &t
(Note (i)) (Note (ii))
(K12 (i) (Bt &z (ii))
Liability component ARG
At 1 April 2011 R-ZE——FMAB—H 142,094 - 142,094
Imputed interest expense charged (Note 9) e FERX (HZ9) 14,920 - 14,920
At 31 March 2012 and 1 April 2012 R=ZZB-—=-F=ZH=+—8H
R-E-——&#MA—Q 157,014 - 157,014
Fair value of convertible notes issued ERTUBRREEZATFE = 11,417 11,417
Imputed interest expense charged (Note 9) 2 REE X (HFZ9) 16,486 2,171 18,657
Interest expense payable EAFEEX = (1,184) (1,184)
Redemption of convertible notes fE B AR RIE - (4,311) (4,311)
At 31 March 2013 R-E—=%=A=+—H 173,500 8,093 181,593
Notes: HiatE -

() On 31 March 2008, the Company issued HK$345,000,000 zero coupon
convertible notes (the “Convertible Notes 2008”) which as part of the
consideration for the acquisition of Wealth Gain and its subsidiary (the
“Wealth Gain Group”). Aggregate amount of HK$171,500,000 was
converted into the ordinary shares of the Company in prior years. The
remaining balance of HK$173,500,000 was matured on 30 March
2013, and therefore, the balance was classified as current liabilities.
Convertible Notes 2008 matured on 30 March 2013 and the Company
did not request the holders for mandatory conversion, therefore the
convertible note equity reserve was released to accumulated losses.

The terms of the Convertible Notes 2008 are as follows:

a. convertible at the option of the note holders into fully paid ordinary
shares on or after 31 March 2008 and up to and including 30
March 2013 at a conversion price of HK$0.5 per share;

b.  redeemable at the option of the Company at 100% of their principal
amount at any time and from time to time, by written to notice to
redeem the whole or part of the outstanding principal amount of the
convertible notes; and

c. convertible at the option of the Company to request the note

holders for mandatory conversion of the prescribed amount of the
convertible notes on or after the fifth anniversary of the issue date.
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 #HE-Z—=F=A=+—HItFE

34.CONVERTIBLE NOTES (continued)

(ii)

The Convertible Notes 2008 do not bear interest on the principal amount
of the notes outstanding. The Convertible Notes 2008 will be redeemed
on maturity at a value equal to the aggregate of its principal amount
outstanding.

The Convertible Notes 2008 are denominated in HK$ which is the same
as the functional currency of the note issuing entity. As such, the exercise
of the conversion option will give rise to the settlement by the exchange of
a fixed amount of cash for a fixed number of shares of the Company. The
conversion option is therefore accounted for as an equity instrument and
is determined after deducting the liability component and the derivative
component from the total proceeds.

The embedded derivatives relating to the Company’s early redemption
option in Note (b) above which are not closely related to the host contract
shall be separately measured and included together with the liabilities
component as a financial liability. The fair value of the derivative
component is determined based on the valuation using binomial option
pricing model. The fair value of the liabilities component is determined
based on the valuation performed by Savills using discounted cash flow
method. The effective interest rate of the host contract is determined to
be 10.5%. The residual amount is assigned as the equity component for
the conversion option and was included in the convertible notes equity
reserve.

The liability component is carried as a current liability (2012: non-current)
on the amortised cost basis until extinguished or conversion or
redemption. The derivative component of the Convertible Notes 2008
is subsequently measured at fair value with changes recognised in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income. The value of the equity
component is not remeasured in subsequent years.

As at 31 March 2013 and 2012, the fair value of the derivative
component embedded in the Convertible Notes 2008 is approximately
HKS$Nil.

On 6 July 2012, the Company issued Convertible Notes 2012 at a
principal amount of HK$15,000,000 for cash to an independent third
party. During the year ended 31 March 2013, principal amount of
HK$5,325,000 was early redeemed.

The terms of the Convertible Notes 2012 are as follows:

a. convertible at the option of the note holders into fully paid ordinary
shares on up to second anniversary of the issue date at a conversion
price of HK$0.2 per share;

b.  where the average closing price of the shares of the Company as
quoted on the daily quotation sheet of the Stock Exchange for the
180 Days’ ACP falls below the conversion price, the conversion
price shall be adjusted to an amount equal to the higher of (i) the
180 Days’ ACP or (ii) the then par value of the shares with effect
from 4:30p.m. on the day falling the 180th day after the date of
issue of the Convertible Notes 2012;

c. redeemable at the option of the note holder at 100% of the
principal amount at any time and from time to time, by written to
notice to redeem the whole of the of the convertible notes; and

34. B RIE (8&)

(ii)

“ED \FURREBY T RAEECASE
PR CEENFUBRREBESRIBREA
ERNEREEFSRB2EEMER -

—EENFUBRRKRRBELUBETEE - ARAE
REMYPEER - At - RREZTENKER
UEEsH RSB NEEHRE 2A QTR
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FrsRRABERERERORITETARNR
BE -

BB LX) 2 AR B EEE 2 RAXITE
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ZATERU-EAPREEESET 2ME
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EERHN2BEBRNENEER0.5% Wik
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REE RSB -
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HNRBET -
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BITAR£%15,000,0008 T2 =2 —=5F7
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 #HE-T—=F=A=+—HILFE

34.CONVERTIBLE NOTES (continued) 34. A RIE (&)
d.  unless previously converted or purchased or redeemed, any d BRFZACERFEESRED S8
outstanding convertible notes shall be redeemed on the maturity EHREABEDCTREBREEEHAD
date at the redemption amount which is 100% of the principal SR ARARREE RS>

amount of the convertible notes by the Company.

100%H BRI S FEEE -

As stated in Note 31 (ii), the conversion option of the Convertible Notes FAMEES (i)l = F—=FARKRER
2012 exhibits characteristics of an embedded derivative and is separated BoBRRERRE THRARTETRE2BHE
from the liability component. On initial recognition, the embedded AHEEERMDIHE2Y - ROTHERE
derivative component of the Convertible Notes 2012 was measured at CE-——ETRREE B ATITERS
fair value and presented as derivative financial liabilities. Any excess of TR AT EHBELBTESRER o e

proceeds over the amount initially recognised as the embedded derivative
component is recongised as liability component. At each reporting date,
the embedded derivative component is remeasured and the change in fair

REBHASEIBMAXITEIRD 2 E
AEEEIABEEND - RERSEH - &

value of that component is recognised in the consolidated statement of AXPTERB B IR R > MAH 22
comprehensive income. FTEHEZHUENRGEZEAKRERER
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 #HE-Z—=F=A=+—HItFE

35.DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 5. EEMBAR
The following are the major deferred tax liabilities recognised by the UTAREERANABAZETEEERIBEEE
Group and the Company and movements thereon: RHEPEE
The Group and
the Company
FRERFLTE
Convertible
notes
CIE: Y38
HK$"000
FHET
At 1 April 2011 R-ZE——FWMA—H 5,182
Credit to consolidated statement of comprehensive FARFTTAGREEZEHEBRER
income for the year (2,462)
At 31 March 2012 and 1 April 2012 R-E——F=A=+—HR=-Z—_—FMA—H 2,720
Credit to consolidated statement of comprehensive FAFFAGZES2HEHEBER
income for the year (2,459)
At 31 March 2013 R-_Z—=%=HA=+—H 261
At 31 March 2013, the Group had unused estimated tax losses of R-ZZE—Z=F5=ZA=+—H A&EEEAEEY
approximately HK$141,719,000 (2012: HK$94,799,000) available for 141,719,000 Tt (ZF— = : 94,799,000
offset against future profits. Tax losses of approximately HK$23,195,000 B) 2 ARBAMEFHIEEE T AR R R G
(2012: HK$13,225,000) will expire after five years from the year F o BIIEE18 423,195,000 5T (ZF— =4 :
of assessment they relate to while tax losses of approximately 13,225,000 T) KRR EBE 2B FELER
HK$118,524,000 (2012: HK$81,574,000) can be carried forward FEER MHRIEEEN118,524,000/ T (=
indefinitely. No deferred tax asset has been recognised due to the F—_"4 :81,754,000/8 t) ATERHA4EE - B
unpredictability of future profit streams. RARFERFOR 2 N AIHEE - I BHERIELES
HEE -
At 31 March 2013, the Company had unused estimated tax losses of R-ZBE-—=F=A=1+—HB A2TEAEY
approximately HK$72,021,000 (2012: HK$35,716,000) available for 72,021,000 T (=& — =% : 35,716,000&
offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised TT) Z AR B ARG ETBOIRE 18 AT A LU 8 R AR R
due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. HARARIRMBR Z T AEE @ R ERFIEL
RBEE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 #HE-T—=F=A=+—HILFE

36.SHARE CAPITAL 36.F
The Group and the Company
FRARFLT
Number of shares Amount
B8 E ot
2013 2012 2013 2012
—Z-=% -E--f ZE-=§f C—ZT--f
‘000 ‘000 HK$’000 HK$' 000
Fi Tk TET TER
Authorised: EE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 BREEC.O1ET
each ZEBR 6,000,000 6,000,000 60,000 60,000
Issued and fully paid: EBRTRAR:
At beginning of the year RE 1,636,520 1,336,520 16,365 13,365
Placing of shares (Note i) BLERD (H72ti) 174,000 30,000 1,740 300
Consideration shares (Note ii) RER®D (#2Lii) 251,833 270,000 2,518 2,700
At end of the year REL 2,062,353 1,636,520 20,623 16,365
Notes: Hiat -

()  On 25 October 2012, the Company through a placing agent, placed
174,000,000 shares of HK$0.01 each at the placing price of HK$0.115
for a total consideration, before expenses, of HK$20,010,000. The
proceed was used for general working capital of the Group.

On 28 September 2011, the Company, through a placing agent,
placed 30,000,000 shares of HK$0.01 each at a placing price of
HK$0.36 for a total consideration, before expenses, of HK$10,800,000.
Part of the proceeds of approximately RMB4,400,000 (equivalent to
HK$5,500,000) is used for initial capital injection to Derong and the
remaining proceeds will be utilitised by the Group as its general working
capital.

(i)  On 31 August 2012, the Company completed the subscription of 70.97%
equity interest of Zhan Sheng Group. The Company issued 251,833,333
consideration shares (the “Zhan Sheng Consideration Shares”) as part
of the consideration for the acquisition of Zhan Sheng. The fair value of
the Zhan Sheng Consideration Shares, determined based on the closing
market price of the Company on the acquisition date of HK$0.199 per
share, amounted to approximately HK$50,115,000. The issue of the
Zhan Sheng Consideration Shares has resulted in the increase in share
capital and share premium account of the Company by HK$2,518,000
and HK$47,597,000 respectively.

On 30 November 2011, the Company completed the subscription of
100% equity interest of Wealth Wing Group. The Company issued
270,000,000 consideration shares (the “Wealthy Wing Consideration
Shares”) as part of the consideration for the acquisition of Wealth Wing.
The fair value of the Wealthy Wing Consideration Shares, determined
based on the closing market price of the Company on the acquisition date
of HK$0.24 per share, amounted to approximately HK$64,800,000.
The issue of the Wealthy Wing Consideration Shares has resulted in the
increase in share capital and share premium amount of the Company by

HK$2,700,000 and HK$62,100,000 respectively.
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 #HE-Z—=F=A=+—HItFE

37.RESERVES 37. ks

(a) The Group (a) &K E
Exchange reserve EZ#E
Exchange differences relating to the translation of the net assets TR AEEENXBEEFEBAHIRE
of the Group’s foreign operations from their functional currencies ERREEAEBMEN G (BT 2B
to the Group’s presentation currency (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) are REFEEREGEZEKRSEERL RN
recognised directly in other comprehensive income and accumulated ELRE - ZERERRBRITZELEZER
in the exchange reserve. Such exchange differences accumulated in EHEBNERBEHR P EZIES -

the exchange reserve are reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal
of the foreign operation.

(b) The Company (b) 2%
The detail movement of reserves of the Company is as follows: RARRENFALENOT

Convertible  Shares held

Share notes for share Share
premium  Contributed Accumulated equity award options  Warrant
account surplus losses reserve scheme reserve reserve Total
THERE BAEMHY L1 RhiE
ERERE BARE At 1] it 1] 1] &8

HK$'000 HK$' 000 HK§' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$'000 HK$' 000 HK§'000
Tin TEn TiEn Tin TEn Tin TiEn TR

[Note i) [Nofe iif [Nofe iii (Note iv] [Noe v)
(i) (i) (fitiii) (fietiv) (i)

At 1 April 2011 RZE--FmA-A 521,531 7,076 (849,913) 30,568 (3,723) 8,366 - (286,095)
Net loss for the year ERERTE - - 30,912) - - - - 30,912
Share options lapsed BANERE - - 181 - - (181) - -
Shares purchased for share RRAZBHBERD

award scheme - - - - (1,263) - - (1,263)
Placing of shares RERR 10,500 - - - - - = 10,500
Consideration shares RERH 62,100 - = - - - = 62,100
Share issuing expenses LOELE [431) - - - - - - (431)
Placing of warrants REIRER - - = - - = 2,300 2,300
Warrants issuing costs ARERRAAR - - - - - - (136) (136)
At 31 March 2012 and R=ZE-Z§=A=1-H

1 April 2012 R=%--%MmA-R 593,700 7,076 (880,644) 30,568 4,986) 8,185 2,164 243,937
Net loss for the year EREETR - - 74,594) - - - - (74,594)
Share options granted ERAERE - - - - - 3,088 - 3,088
Share options lapsed BRMERE - - 89 - - (89) - -
Release upon maturity of TRRZEIHRER

convertible notes - - 30,568 30,568) - - - -
Placing of shares BERSR 18,270 - - - - - = 18,270
Consideration shares RERSD 47 597 - - - - - = 47 597
Share issuing expenses UL (216) - - - - - - (214)
At 31 March 2013 RIE-ZEZASH-R 659351 7,076 (924,581) - a9%6) 11188 2164 (249792)
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 #HE-T—=F=A=+—HILFE

37.RESERVES (continued)
(b) The Company (continued)

Notes:
(i)  Contributed surplus

The Company’s contributed surplus represents the excess of the
fair value of the shares of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to
the Group reorganisation during the year ended 31 March 2002,
over the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued in exchange
therefore and the capitalisation of the 30,000,000 shares allotted
and issued nil paid. Under the Companies Law (2001 Second
Revision) of the Cayman Islands, the contributed surplus account
is distributable to the shareholders of the Company under certain
circumstances. Details of distributable reserve are set out in page
52 of the consolidated financial statements.

(i)  Convertible notes equity reserve

The convertible notes equity reserve represents the equity component
(conversion rights) of the HK$345,000,000 zero coupon convertible
notes (i.e. the Convertible Notes 2008) issued on 31 March 2008
(Note 34).

During the year ended 31 March 2013, the Convertible Notes
2008 was matured and the balance of convertible notes equity
reserve was transferred to the accumulated losses.

(iii)  Shares held for share award scheme

The shares held for share award scheme is the consideration paid,
including any directly attributable incremental costs for purchase
of shares under the Share Award Scheme, in accordance with the
accounting policy set out in Note 3(p).

(iv)  Share options reserve

The share options reserve relates to share options granted
to employees under the employee share option plan. Further
information about share-based payments to employees is set out in

Note 38.
(v} Warrant reserve

On 28 September 2011, the Company, through a placing agent,
issued 230,000,000 unlisted warrants at an issue price of HK$0.01
per warrant. Each warrant entitles the holder thereof to subscribe
for one ordinary share of HK$0.01 each at a subscription price of
HK$0.39 per share, payable in cash and subject to adjustment,
from the date of issue (i.e. 28 September 2011) of the warrants to
the expiry (i.e. 27 September 2014), which is 36 months. The total
cash consideration, before related expenses, of HK$2,300,000.

As at 31 March 2013, all warrants are remained outstanding.
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 #Z—Z—=%#=F=1+—HII5E

38.SHARE OPTIONS

Share-based payment transactions

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) for the
purpose of providing incentives and/or rewards to eligible participants
who contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Eligible
participants of the Scheme include any directors and employees of the
Company, including all executive directors of the Company and its
subsidiaries. The Scheme became effective on 8 October 2010 and,
unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10 years
from that date.

The maximum number of unexercised share options currently permitted
to be granted under the Scheme is an amount equivalent, upon their
exercise, to 10% of the shares of the Company in issue at any time. The
maximum number of shares issuable under share options to each eligible
participant in the Scheme within any 12-month period is limited to 1%
of the shares of the Company in issue at any time. Any further grant of
share option in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a
general meeting.

The share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company, or to any of their associates, are subject
to approval in advance by the independent non-executive directors. In
addition, any share options granted to a substantial shareholder or an
independent non-executive director of the Company, or to any of their
subsidiaries, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue at
any fime or with an aggregate value (based on the price of the Company’s
shares at the date of the grant) in excess of HK$5 million, within any
12-month period, are subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a
general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 28 days from
the date of the offer, upon payment of a nominal consideration of HK$1
in total by the grantee. The exercise period of the share options granted
would be determined by the directors.

The exercise price of the share options would be determined by the
directors, but may not be less than the higher of (i) the Stock Exchange
closing price of the Company’s shares on the date of the offer of the
share options, which must be a business day; and (ii) the average Stock
Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares for the five trading days
immediately preceding the date of the offer, provided that the subscription
price shall not be lower than the nominal value of the shares.
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 #HE-T—=F=A=+—HILFE
38.SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

Share-based payment transactions (continued)

The fair value of share options granted to employees is recognised as an
employee cost with a corresponding increase in a share option reserve
within equity. The fair value is measured at grant date using the Black-
Scholes- Merton option pricing model, taking into account the terms and
conditions upon which the options were granted.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to vote at

shareholders’ meetings.

Movement in share options during the year ended 31 March 2013 are as

follows:
Exercisable Exercisable
Category of Date of grant period price per share
Participants (Note (b)) (Note (a)) HK
=L TR BRITER
gazgn (RE(b)) (W) #T
Directors
¥
Ms. Geng Ying 11 February 2011 Period | 0.36
ezt . -8
29 November 2012 Period 2 0.105
“B-CFt-R=thA Lt
Mr. Gao Feng 11 February 2011 Period | 0.3
Bl Z2--EZft-f -4
29 November 2012 Period 2 0.105
ZR-ZE+-ACtNB 28
Mr. Chiu Sui Keung 11 February 2011 Period | 0.36
Fibdyna “E--£281-8 -4
29 November 2012 Period 2 0.105
ZB-ZE+-ACtNB £-8
Mr. Chen%Wing Keung, Raymond 11 February 2011 Period 1 0.36
Y “E--£-81-8 -4
29 November 2012 Period 2 0.105
ZE-ZEt-ACtNA F2H
Mr. Lam Williamson 11 February 2011 Period | 0.36
HeELE . -8
29 November 2012 Period 2 0.105
“E-E+-A-thA FH
Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen 29 November 2012 Period 2 0.105
ERRRE “E-CFt-R-tnA Eut
Subrofal
gt
Employees of the Group
faka
In oggregate 11 February 2011 Period | 0.36
&3 “E--£-81-8 -4
29 November 2012 Period 2 0.105
“E-CET-AotAA s
Sub-ofal
gt
Total
ait

Weig hted average exercise
rice (in HK$ ?Note )
&ZFMTEE (%) (We(c))
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38. AR (&)

LIERBERZMARIS ()
RTREZERECATVERIAB —HEEK
Ao MEEA BN FESEREMN - ZAFE
TR BB R B IR X B 2 R R AR
HRUSEHENEEERAGE -

BRESEAEBRUBRERERRAG LIRE -

BE-Z-=F=-A=1-HLFEBRELS
LU
Number of share options
Ouislanding Granted Lapsed  Outstanding at
at 1 April 201 during year during year 31 March 2013
RZ8-Z% R23-ZF
mA-H ZA=1-H
S L, S FARM  RAXH LLuLE
13,000,000 - - 13,000,000
- 7,622,000 - 7,622,000
13,000,000 7,622,000 - 20,622,000
13,000,000 - - 13,000,000
- 7,622,000 - 7,622,000
13,000,000 7,622,000 - 20,622,000
13,000,000 - - 13,000,000
- 7,622,000 - 7,622,000
13,000,000 7,622,000 - 20,622,000
1,300,000 - - 1,300,000
- 762,000 - 762,000
1,300,000 762,000 - 2,062,000
1,300,000 - - 1,300,000
- 762,000 - 762,000
1,300,000 762,000 - 2,062,000
- 762,000 - 762,000
41,600,000 25,152,000 - 66,752,000
17,100,000 - - 17,100,000
- 46,006,000 (2,062,000) 43,944,000
17,100,000 46,006,000 (2,062,000) 61,044,000
58,700,000 71,158,000 (2,062,000) 127,796,000
0.36 0.105 0.105 0.222
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 #HBZE-T—=5=A=+—HI5E

38.SHARE OPTIONS (continued) 38.fEBE 8 (#&)
Share-based payment transactions (continued) LEBRGCBERZMARES ()
Movement in share options during the year ended 31 March 2012 are as BE_Z—_F=ZRB=1+—-HLFEBRESZH
follows: mE
Number of share opfions
BREHA
el gl T ——————
Category of Date of grant period price per share Qutstanding ot Lapsed Qutstanding at
Participants (Note (b)) [Note (al) HK$ 1 April 2011 during yeor 31 March 2012
RZF--% gt St 3
REAH fiks SRR mA-H ZB=1-H
SEERN (B3 (b)) GE) B FRRi LIPS HATE
Directors
g2
Ms. Geng Ying 11 February 2011 Period | 0.36 13,000,000 - 13,000,000
HExt “Z--%£-ft-A -4
Mr. Gao Feng 11 February 2011 Period 1 0.36 13,000,000 - 13,000,000
] i ZE--%Zht-A -4
Mr. Chiu Sui Keung 11 February 2011 Period 1 0.36 13,000,000 = 13,000,000
ERELE “E--F-51-A -8
Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond 11 February 2011 Period 1 0.36 1,300,000 = 1,300,000
BiEE4 ZE--Fht-A -4
Mr. Lam Williamson 11 February 2011 Period 1 0.36 1,300,000 = 1,300,000
13 Pk “E--£-At-H ]
Dr. Lam Lee G. 11 February 2011 Period 1 0.36 1,300,000 (1,300,000) -
REEEL “E--£Z8+-8 -4
Subfotal 42,900,000 (1,300,000) 41,600,000
gt
Employees of the Group
A5EES
In aggregate 11 February 2011 Period | 0.36 17,100,000 - 17,100,000
@it Z3--§ZRt-8 -4
Tofal 60,000,000 (1,300,000) 58,700,000
Chl
Weighted average exercise price (in HK$] [Note (c|) 0.36 0.36 0.36

BT RE (B7) (W)
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 #HE-T—=F=A=+—HILFE

38.SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

Share-based payment transactions (continued)
Notes:

(a)  Period 1 11 February 2011 to 10 February 2016

Period 2 29 November 2012 to 28 November 2017

(b) The vesting date of the share options for Period 1 to 2 is the date of
grant.

(c) The exercise prices of the outstanding share options as at 31 March 2013
range from HK$0.105 to HK$0.36 (2012: HK$0.36) per share and their
weighted average remaining contractual life as at 31 March 2013 is
3.84 years (2012: 3.87 years).

During the year ended 31 March 2013, the Company granted
71,158,000 share options to the directors and employees (2012: Nil) and
the fair value of the share options granted is HK$0.0434 each (2012:
HK$Nil). The variables and assumptions used in computing the fair value
of share options are based on the directors’ best estimate. The value of an
option varies with different variables of certain subjective assumptions. The
fair value of the share options granted during the year ended 31 March
2013 was determined by an independent valuer using the Binomial option
pricing model (the “Model”). Details of the inputs to the Model are as
follows:

Grant date share price & B B RMER
Exercise price TEE

Expected volatility TAHDR IR
Expected life of the options BB R AETERT 1
Dividend yield Wz =

Risk-free interest rate R A =

The Group recognised the total expenses of approximately HK$3,088,000
(2012: HK$Nil) during the year ended 31 March 2013 in relation to
share options granted by the Company.
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¥_H —ET-——_F+—B=thZE
—T—tF+—-—HA=+N\H
(b) H—HEF_HERE-RBRHARERAE-

) REZBE—=F=A=+—HERTHEBERE=Z
THEENTRER0.1058TE0.36B T (=
E—_"F:036BR)URER=_FT—=F=
B=+-—BzZMEFLHHTEHNEH3I.845F
(ZZF——%F :3.87F) °

REBEZZE-—=F=A=1+—HALFERXR &
AREERESEREH71,158,0000 BRE (=
——F EURFBHCERECATELASE
30.0434BT (=T ——F : TB) ° stEZE
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MEMARE - RBZ=-FT—=F=A=+—HI1
FEMBHZ2BREZQAFETIBE Y (GEME
AoEABEEERR (ZEX ) BEE - ZER
ZHABBFHBOT

29 November 2012
—Z2——_F+—A=-+hH

HK$0.1033& T
HK$0.105%& T
50%

4.7 years®E
0%

0.25%

AEERBE-_ZET—=F=ZA=+—HLHE
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 #HE-Z—=F=A=+—HItFE

39.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 39.1¥BITH
The Group The Company
*TKE ENF
2013 2012 2013 2012
—E—=%f —E--F —E—=%f —E--F
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’ 000
FTHT FET FHET FHERT
Categories of financial &MIAHM
instruments
Financial assets SMEAE
- Loans and receivables -~ HRRERRE
Amounts due from subsidiaries FE U B /B A =) FRIE - = 31,965 13,075
Trade receivables 5 U BR RN 21,381 71,212 - =
Other receivables H i e R 8 47,775 30,322 10,390 10,406
Amount due from a director EWEEHIE - 34 - 34
Deposits with banks BITER 10,891 10,786 10,891 10,786
Cash and bank balances HeRBEE£EEER 11,023 5,030 114 117
91,070 117,384 53,360 34,418
- Available-for-sale —AHHESRNEE
financial assets 1 1 1 1
- Derivative - fTESMEE
financial assets 33,184 17,924 33,184 17,924
124,255 135,309 86,545 52,343
Financial liabilities SMAR
- Financial liabilities - RESBRFCLMAR
at amortised cost
Trade payables BEZENERR 20,022 69,426 - -
Accrued liabilities and 2B BEREMENRIE
other payables 201,857 174,863 169,805 162,980
Amounts due to shareholders FE {4 R R FR 1B 23,215 16,670 23,215 16,670
Borrowings Be 17,282 18,414 2,600 =
Obligations under finance RMERNEE
leases 5,958 939 - =
Convertible notes AR EE 181,593 157,014 181,593 157,014
449,927 437,326 377,213 336,664
- Derivative - TEEMAR
financial liabilities 1,703 4,159 1,703 4,159
451,630 441,485 378,916 340,823
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 #HE-T—=F=A=+—HILFE

40.DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY 40. HE— R E 25

On 20 December 2011, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
entered into a sale and purchase agreement that the Company agreed to
sell the entire issued share capital of SRG Capital Limited (“SRG Capital”)
with a consideration of HK$1. The disposal was completed on 20
December 2011.

Summary of the effects of the disposal of a subsidiary are as follows:

RZB——F+ZHA=1+H  XRRAZEEWE
AAFLEEWEZE  AAARREEWEMNERE
BRAF ([MER]D  RER1BT HESHE
ER=ZZE——F+ZA=F+HEMK-

HE—BNBLAR zLEMMMT :

HK$’ 000
FET
Net assets disposed of: gz EEFRE:
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables e AMRERH A ERRIE 1
Cash and cash equivalents RekBRELEHEER 2
Accrued liabilities and other payables Rt BERHEMBESRIE (12)
()
Gain on disposal HEZER 9
Satisfied by: LT 55 X2 4T
Cash B4 _
Net cash outflow arising on disposal: HEFMRE ZREFHE
Cash consideration BReRE =
Cash and bank balances BERIRITEEER (2)
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents ReRkAEEEEERLFHE (2)

For the period from 1 April 2011 to the date of disposal, SRG Capital
was dormant. Turnover of HK$Nil and loss of approximately HK$3,000
contributed by SRG Capital was recognised in the Group’s loss for the
year ended 31 March 2012.
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 #HE-Z—=F=A=+—HItFE

41.ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

(a)

On 31 March 2012, the Company entered into a sale and purchase
agreement that the Company agreed to acquire 70.97% of the
entire issued share capital of Zhan Sheng, which in turn, owns
77.5% of Hubei Tiegang at a consideration of HK$41,780,000. The
acquisition was completed on 31 August 2012.

The carrying amount and fair value of net liabilities acquired:

41. K Gk E A F
(@) R=SB——F=ZA=+-8 FAFTX
~EHEERE B AATRABRRE
41,780,000 7t U 18/ 5 2 BB B 4T R AS
270.97% » TR S A ML #B77.5%
KBEEER-"S——5AB=+-H%
ﬁjzo

g FaE s REBERATE:

HK$’000
FET
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables RE - ANFERAERRIE 11,015
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBALZEER 70
Accrued liabilities and other payables ZitEBERHMENFRIE (13,063)
(1,978)
Non-controlling interests R ER (1,173)
Net identifiable assets and liabilities acquired FrB AR FEER BE (3,151)
Goodwill (Note 20) B (#a£20) 44,931
41,780
Satisfied by: UTHI AR

Cash consideration HERE 2,000
Consideration Shares (Note 36) RERD (K1:736) 50,115
52,115
Less: derivative financial assets (Note 22) W TESREE (f1i722) (10,335)
41,780

Net cash outflow arising on acquisition: WEEERE SR L FEE
Cash consideration BeNE (2,000)
Cash and cash bank balances acquired RS RIRTIRS4EER 70
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents HeRBREEEEE 2 REELE (1,930)
Pursuant to the terms of the sales and purchase agreement, a BIESEHE 2K B E BN TR

maximum of 176,283,333 Zhan Sheng Consideration Shares will
be delivered to Advanced Elation Holdings Limited (the “Vendor”)
if the audited distributable profit after tax of Hubei Tiegang for the
period from the date of completion (i.e. 31 August 2012) up to 31
December 2012 (the “1st Year”), for the year commencing from
1 January 2013 to 31 December 2013 (the “2nd Year”) and for
the year commencing from 1 January 2014 to 31 December 2014
(the “3rd Year”) will not be less than RMB9,000,000 (the “1st
Year Consideration Adjustment”), RMB16,000,000 (the “2nd Year
Consideration Adjustment”) and RMB23,000,000 (the “3rd Year
Consideration Adjustment”) respectively.

BERME==2—Z=—N \A=+—-R)E=E
—E-—ES+-A=t+-HULEHB(ESF
ED) R-ZB-—=5-F—HEBE=-ZF—=
F+ZA=+t-BLEFE(RFEED KR
—E-NE-A-BEE-Z-DOF+=
B=t-HEFE(F=FE] 2&=%
BBRHREATSRABEED B FTIRARE
9,000,0007T ([BF AL ERFBE]) - AR
16,000,000 (MRET2EFBE) RAR
#£23,000,000 ([F=F AT FFIE]) -
All# mAdvanced Elation Holdings Limited
T&EX]) XF8H%176,283,333RE AN
BRG -
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 #HE-T—=F=A=+—HILFE
41.ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(a)

(continued)

If Hubei Tiegang is able to achieve the respective targets of audited
distributable profits in association with the 1st Year Consideration
Adjustment, the 2nd Year Consideration Adjustment and /or the
3rd Year Consideration Adjustment, the Company shall, through
the escrow agent, deliver a total of 176,283,333 Zhan Sheng
Consideration Shares to the Vendor in the following manner: (i)
33,053,125 Zhan Sheng Consideration Shares for the Tst Year; {ii)
58,761,111 Zhan Sheng Consideration Shares for the 2nd Year;
and (iii) 84,469,097 Zhan Sheng Consideration Shares of the 3rd

Year.

The Zhan Sheng Consideration Shares will be registered under the
name of the Vendor on the date of completion; whereas all original
shares certificates shall be handed to the escrow agent of the
Company in escrow, which shall only be delivered to the Vendor
by the escrow agent of the Company under mutual instructions
of the Company and the Vendor if and only if it is confirmed
that Hubei Tiegang can achieve the respective targets of audited
distributable profits in association with the 1st Year Consideration
Adjustment, the 2nd Year Consideration Adjustment and the 3rd Year
Consideration Adjustment. The Vendor guarantees to the Company
and confirms that before the delivery of the shares certificates of
relevant Zhan Sheng Consideration Shares by the escrow agent
of the Company to the Vendor, the Vendor shall not claim himself
as the beneficial owner of the Zhan Sheng Consideration Shares,
and may not exercise any rights of the Zhan Sheng Consideration
Shares (including but not limited to voting rights, receipt of
dividend and rights of rights issue) and may not make or allow
to make encumbrance of any kind in relation to the Zhan Sheng
Consideration Shares, otherwise the Vendor agrees and undertake to
indemnify the Company for all losses, damages and all costs incurred
by the Company.

If Hubei Tiegang fails to meet the respective targets of audited
distributable profits in association with the 1st Year Consideration
Adjustment, the 2nd Year Consideration Adjustment and/or the 3rd
Year Consideration Adjustment, the Vendor shall only be delivered in
the same proportion of the Zhan Sheng Consideration Shares as the
achievement proportion for the respective year.

For the portions falling short of the 1st Year Consideration
Adjustment or the 2nd Year Consideration Adjustment, the Vendor
can make up the shortfall in the 2nd Year or the 3rd Year. If such
complement can be substantiated and confirmed in the audited
consolidated accounts for the 2nd Year or the 3rd Year, the Vendor
may be complemented such portion of Zhan Sheng Consideration
Shares on one month from the date of issue of the audited
consolidated accounts of Hubei Tiegang for the 2nd Year and the

3rd Year.
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 #HE-Z—=F=A=+—HItFE

41.ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(a)

(continued)

After one month from the date of issue of the audited consolidated
accounts of Hubei Tiegang for the 3rd Year, if the Vendor fails
to obtain all Zhan Sheng Consideration Shares because of
falling short of the 1st Year Consideration Adjustment, the 2nd
Year Consideration Adjustment and the 3rd Year Consideration
Adjustment, the Company has the right to sell the remaining Zhan
Sheng Consideration Shares which has not delivered to the Vendor
(the “Remaining Consideration Shares”) at a nominal consideration
of HK$1 to any appointee of the Company. The Vendor guarantees
and undertakes to the Company that, in any event, the Vendor
will abandon all rights to the Remaining Consideration Shares,
and will irrevocably authorize the Company to sell the Remaining
Consideration Shares to any appointee of the Company. For
avoidance of doubt, the Vendor is not entitled to any right under the
Sale and Purchase Agreement to act as or appoint any other person
to act as the director of the Company.

Since the 1st Year Distributable Profit is less than the 1st Year
Consideration Adjustment, the Vendor and the Company agreed not
to deliver any Zhan Sheng Consideration Share and the 1st Year
Consideration Adjustment will be rolled over to the year ending 31

December 2013.

Acquisition-related costs amounting to approximately HK$3,200,000
have been excluded from the consideration transferred and have
been recognised as an expense in the period, within “Other
operating expenses” line item in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

The subsidiaries acquired during the year contributed approximately
HK$36,929,000 to the Group's turnover and profit before tax of
approximately HK$805,000 for the year.

If the acquisition had been completed on 1 April 2012, total
Group’s turnover for the year would have been approximately
HK$42,967,000, and loss for the year would have been
approximately HK$83,395,000. The pro forma information is for
illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily an indication of
turnover and results of the Group that actually would have been
achieved had the acquisition been completed on 1 April 2012, nor is
it infended to be a projection of future results.

Goodwill arose in the business combination because the cost of
the combination included a control premium paid to acquire Zhan
Sheng. In addition, the consideration paid for the consideration
effectively included amounts in relation to the benefit of expected
synergies, revenue growth, future market development and the
assembled workforce of Zhan Sheng. These benefits are not
recognised separately from goodwill as the future economic benefits
arising from them cannot be reliably measured.

The non-controlling interests in Zhan Sheng recognised at the
acquisition date were measured at their share of recognised
identified net assets at the date of acquisition.
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 #HE-T—=F=A=+—HILFE

41.ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(b)

On 8 August 2011, the Company entered into a sale and purchase

agreement that the Company agreed to acquire the entire issued

share capital of Wealthy Wing, which in turn, owns 55% of
Derong at a consideration of HK$69,929,000. The acquisition was

completed on 30 November 2011.

The carrying amount and fair value of net liabilities acquired:

41. BB 2R (8)
(b) R=Z——FNANE FAATLEHH

& RDAEREUNE69,929,0005% T Uik
BEXK (HEEERSS%ER) 22 B 3
TERA - REKBER=Z——F+—A
=tTHZERK

B FEEZREAERAFE:

HK$" 000
FET
Property, plant and equipment M BERE 40
Inventories 78 5,890
Trade receivables g 5 EWFIE 1,927
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables BE - BARERELERFRIE 29,470
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREEHEER 15,270
Trade payables g ZENRE (13,87¢)
Accrued liabilities and other payables Bt EREMENRE (25,653)
Bank borrowings RITEE (9,776)
3,292
Non-controlling interests IR (3,352)
Net identifiable assets and liabilities acquired ~ FIWEBAEBIFEEREE (60)
Goodwill (Note 20) B8 (#aZ20) 69,989
69,929
Satisfied by: UTHERXEZA

Cash consideration BERE 20,000
Consideration Shares (Note 36) REBRAD (K17236) 64,800
84,800
Less: derivative financial assets (Note 22) W TR RE E (M7E22) (19,597)
Add: derivative financial liabilities (Note 31) m:sTEEmeE (ME31) 4,726
69,929

Net cash outflow arising on acquisition: WEBEERSRE EE
Cash consideration ReXE (20,000)
Cash and bank balances acquired FRBBIR € RIBITH R 15,270
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents ReRBReLSHEBEAZREFE (4,730)
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 #HE-Z—=F=A=+—HItFE

41.ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(b)

(continued)

Pursuant to the terms of the sale and purchase agreement, a
maximum of 270,000,000 Wealthy Wing Consideration Shares will
be delivered to Mr. Zheng Xue Feng (the “Vendor”) if the audited
distributable profit after tax of Derong for the period from date of
completion (i.e. 30 November 2011) up to 31 December 2011 (the
“First Year”), for the year commencing from 1 January 2012 and
ending on 31 December 2012 (the “Second Year”) and for the year
commencing from 1 January 2013 and ending on 31 December
2013 (the “Third Year”) will be not less than RMB15,000,000
(the “First Year Consideration Adjustment” ), RMB50,000,000 (the
“Second Year Consideration Adjustment”) and RMB70,000,000 (the

“Third Year Consideration Adjustment”) respectively.

If Derong is able to achieve the respective targets of audited
distributable profits in association with the First Year Consideration
Adjustment, the Second Year Consideration Adjustment and/
or the Third Year Consideration Adjustment, the Company shall,
though the attorney, deliver a total of 270,000,000 Wealthy Wing
Consideration Shares to the Vendor in the following manner: (i)
30,000,000 Wealthy Wing Consideration Shares for the First Year;
(ii) 100,000,000 Wealthy Wing Consideration Shares for the
Second Year; and (iii) 140,000,000 Wealthy Wing Consideration
Shares for the Third Year.

The Wealthy Wing Consideration Shares will be registered under
the name of the Vendor on the date of completion; whereas all
original shares certificates shall be handed to the atftorney of the
Company in escrow, which shall only be delivered to the Vendor
by the attorney of the Company under mutual instructions of the
Company and the Vendor if and only if it is confirmed that Derong
can achieve the respective targets of audited distributable profits in
association with the First Year Consideration Adjustment, the Second
Year Consideration Adjustment and the Third Year Consideration
Adjustment. The Vendor guarantees to the Company and confirms
that before the delivery of the shares certificates of relevant Wealthy
Wing Consideration Shares by the attorney of the Company to the
Vendor, the Vendor shall not claim himself as the beneficial owner
of the Wealthy Wing Consideration Shares, and may not exercise
any rights of the Wealthy Wing Consideration Shares (including but
not limited to voting rights, receipt of dividend and rights of rights
issue) and may not make or allow to make encumbrance of any kind
in relation to the Wealthy Wing Consideration Shares, otherwise
the Vendor agrees and undertake to indemnify the Company for all
losses, damages and all costs incurred by the Company.

If Derong fails to meet the respective targets of audited distributable
profits in association with the First Year Consideration Adjustment,
the Second Year Consideration Adjustment and/or the Third Year
Consideration Adjustment, the Vendor shall only be delivered in the
same proportion of the Wealthy Wing Consideration Shares as the
achievement proportion for the respective year.
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 #HE-T—=F=A=+—HILFE
41.ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(b)

(continued)

For the portions falling short of the First Year Consideration
Adjustment or the Second Year Consideration Adjustment, the
Vendor can make up the shortfall in the Second Year or the Third
Year. If such complement can be substantiated and confirmed in the
audited consolidated accounts for the Second Year or the Third Year,
the Vendor may be complemented such portion of Wealthy Wing
Consideration Shares on one month from the date of issue of the
audited consolidated accounts of Derong for the Secord Year and the
Third Year.

If the profit of Derong exceeds the First Year Consideration
Adjustment, the Second Year Consideration Adjustment and/or the
Third Year Consideration Adjustment, the Vendor (as the case may
be) shall have an option either to:

- in respect of the portion exceeding the said target of audited
distributable profit for the respective year, receive the cash
bonus additionally granted by the Company. Calculation of
the cash bonus is based on 30% of 55% (representing the
shareholding proportion in Derong by the Company) of the
portion exceeding the said target of audited distributable profit
for the respective year; or

- in respect of the portion exceeding the said target of audited
distributable profit for the respective year, deem such portion
as part of the respective target of audited distributable profit for
the upcoming year.

The Vendor may at his discretion to collect cash bonus according to
the sale and purchase agreement, whereas the conditions precedent
to grant of such cash bonus by the Company are as follows: (1) such
portion exceeding the said target of audited distributable profit for
the respective year has been audited according to the International
Accounting Standards (including the Hong Kong Accounting
Standards) and has been deemed as distributable profit; and (2) the
Company has collected such distributable profit for the respective
year.

After one month from the date of issue of the audited consolidated
accounts of Derong for the Secord year and the Third year, if the
Vendor fails to obtain all Wealthy Wing Consideration Shares
because of falling short of the First Year Consideration Adjustment,
the Second Year Consideration Adjustment and the Third Year
Consideration Adjustment, the Company has the right to sell the
remaining Wealthy Wing Consideration Shares which has not
delivered to the Vendor (the “Remaining Consideration Shares”) at
a nominal consideration of HK$1 to any appointee of the Company.
The Vendor guarantees and undertakes to the Company that, in
any event, the Vendor will abandon all rights to the Remaining
Consideration Shares, and will irrevocably authorize the Company
to sell the Remaining Consideration Shares to any appointee of the
Company. The appointee of the Company will dispose or place
the Remaining Consideration Shares to independent third parties
or places for and on behalf of the Company at prices taking into
account the prevailing market price of the Shares and shall the
Company proceed with the placing of the Remaining Consideration
Shares, the Company will observe and ensure full compliance of all
applicable Listing Rules.
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 #HE-Z—=F=A=+—HItFE
41. BB 2T (8§)

41.ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(b)

(continued)

Since the First Year Distributable Profit is less than the First Year
Consideration Adjustment, the Vendor and the Company agreed not
to deliver any Wealthy Wing Considerations Share and the First Year
Consideration Adjustment will be rolled over to the year ending 31

December 2013.

The contingent consideration in the sum of HK$20,500,000
shall be paid by the Company to the Vendor subject to the terms
and conditions of the sale and purchase agreement in relation
to consideration adjustments. Pursuant to the sale and purchase
agreement, the Company does not have to seftle such balance
if the net profits of Derong fail to meet the respective targets in
association with the consideration adjustments and the Remaining
Consideration Shares are sold by the Company. As at 31 March
2012, the directors of the Company considered that the fair value of
the contingent consideration to be HK$ Nil.

Acquisition-related costs amounting to approximately HK$ 1,756,000
have been excluded from the consideration transferred and have
been recognised as an expense in the period, within the “Other
operating expenses” line item in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

The subsidiaries acquired during the year contributed approximately
HK$67,168,000 to the Group’ s turnover and profit before tax of
approximately HK$502,000 for the year.

If the acquisition had been completed on 1 April 2011, total
Group’ s turnover for the year would have been approximately
HK$149,807,000, and loss for the year would have been
approximately HK$39,256,000. The pro forma information is for
illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily an indication of
turnover and results of the Group that actually would have been
achieved had the acquisition been completed on 1 April 2011, nor
is it intended to be a projection of future results.

Goodwill arose in the business combination because the cost of the
combination included a control premium paid to acquire Wealthy
Wing. In addition, the consideration paid for the consideration
effectively included amounts in relation to the benefit of expected
synergies, revenue growth, future market development and the
assembled workforce of Wealthy Wing. These benefits are not
recognised separately from goodwill as the future economic benefits
arising from them cannot be reliably measured.

The non-controlling interests (45%) in Wealthy Wing recognised
at the acquisition date were measured at their share of recognised
identified net assets at the date of acquisition.
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 #HE-T—=F=A=+—HILFE

42 LITIGATIONS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 42. (Rd R RAR

The Group and the Company TRERELF

(a) Claim made by the Company against Hung (a) AT MAEEEHZBER ([
(the “Action”) )
As disclosed in the Company’s announcements dated 16 December BMAATBHONA=—SEAET=A
2009 and 8 January 2010, the Company has commenced TAREBR=ZZ-—Z2F-AN\HZAMAEK
proceedings against Mr. Hung at the High Court with regards to B ANRESSERELATERBER
a breach of contract by Mr. Hung, in connection with a sale and BF AREBBEALEEREN MEBES
purchase agreement dated 25 September 2007 made between the WAARAFEREER-—ZZLENA
Company and Mr. Hung (the “Agreement”). The Company sought T+ EHEBR VN 2EEHE ([ZHE]) o &
advice from its legal advisers and formed the view that Mr. Hung NABREZEEERZER  RBA/MEER
had failed to perform one or more of the terms of the Agreement and BEEITRM S — R E SR - WRBM
is of the view that Mr. Hung is in breach of numerous representations AEERBEZBBEELE2ZERKRE R
and warranties under the Agreement. The Company claims against FHoAQNREMEERE (HPERE) AD
Mr. Hung, among other things, for all payments made by the AIREZHEE @A EER T Z—IRIE
Company to Mr. Hung under the Agreement and/or damages arising R/ BREEZHREHERMEEZEE -

from the breach of the Agreement.

On 1 February 2010, the Company filed a statement of claim at R-ZEBE—ZE-_A—H  KXAAK— 0t
the High Court against Mr. Hung, Mega Wealth and Webright %4 - Mega Wealth R Webright (478
(together referred to as the “Defendants”) in connection with the [ZEWEDWRRRAEEIRSEERE
Agreement, for, inter alia, rescission of the Agreement. Particulars of = AREB (HHER) HiEZhs - 56
the Statement of Claim are summarised as follows: AERMEFBEHRMMOT
(1) The Company claims against Mr. Hung for: (1) ADBHEBEERZUT RIE !
(i)  rescission of the Agreement; (i) WEEZH=
(i) the 76,640,000 shares of the Company (“Shares”) at an (i) ZEBROSBTZRTERTZ
issue price of HK$0.5 per share; 76,640,0008 A~ A 7 IR 17 ([ IR
@71
(iii) the convertible note, issued to Mr. Hung pursuant to the (iii) RBEZHEOLLCERTEALSHE
Agreement, in the principal amount of HK$173,500,000 £173,500,000/8 Jt 2 Al #2 IR =
convertible into ordinary shares of the Company at a B(oU®REREE]  HEAURESR
conversion price of HK$0.5 per share (the “Convertible 058 T EMEEBRAARLNF
Note”); EZBER
(iv) further or alternatively, all payments made by the (iv) CE—ZFRIERBR) XA =@M
Company to Mr. Hung and/or damages arising from the EEXNZHERER REE
breach of the Agreement; REmEMEEZBESEE
(v) a declaration that Mr. Hung holds the 70,000,000 Shares (v) EFHEEEDUETEERAREA
and the Convertible Note and their traceable equivalent T HF70,000,0008% 248 2 7] B
on trust for the Company and that all necessary tracing HRAUBKREEUREAERSE
orders accounts and inquiries be taken as to what had B WA EmRA R TRRE
happened to the said Shares and Convertible Note and to BeTERB—JFfEakD
ascertain the traceable equivalent thereof; L BERAE UREHTE
HEE
(vi) an order for payment after having the above accounts and (vi) RMEHEMMERRAETERESH
inquiries; s
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 #HE-Z—=F=A=+—HItFE

42.LITIGATIONS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 42. SRR R AR ()

(continued)
The Group and the Company (continued)
(a) Claim made by the Company against Hung

FRERFLF ()
(a) EaFMBEEFEZRR (TR

(the “Action”) (continued)

(vii) payment of the legal costs incurred by the Company
arising from the investigation and report arising from the
matters in connection with the Agreement; and

(viii) payment of the costs incurred by the Company for
the preparation and execution of the Agreement and
supplemental agreements.

(2) The Company also claims against Mega Wealth, inter alia, for
the 100,000,000 Shares issued to Mr. Hung upon exercise
of conversion rights of the Convertible Note and which were
passed to Mega Wealth at an issue price of HK$0.5 per Share.

(3) The Company also claims against Webright, inter alia, for
the 98,000,000 Shares issued to Mr. Hung upon exercise
of conversion rights of the Convertible Note and which were
passed to Webright at an issue price of HK$0.5 per Share.

On 14 November 2011, the Company filed an amended Statement
of Claim to the Court, the Defendants filed amended defence on 16
January 2012. Subsequently, the Company filed amended reply to
Defendants’ defence on 13 April 2012. The pleading stage of the
proceedings is now closed. Now, the Company is preparing the
lists of documents to be exchanged with Defendants, after which the
parties would have to exchange witness statements.

Up to the date of approval of these consolidated financial statements,
no judgment has been made by the High Court. The Board of
the Company, based on legal advices, the Company has a good
arguable case against the Defendants to have the Agreement
rescinded. The Board of the Company will follow closely on the
development of the above matters and inform the shareholders of the
Company on a timely basis.
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 #HE-T—=F=A=+—HILFE

42.LITIGATIONS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
(continued)

The Group and the Company (continued)

(b) Injunction Order
On 22 January 2010, the High Court granted an ex parte Injunction
Order against the Defendants. The Injunction Order provides, among
other things, that: unless with the approval of the High Court, Mr.
Hung must not, either by himself, his servants or agents or otherwise
howsoever in any way dispose of or deal with or diminish the value
of any of the following assets:

(i)  the 76,640,000 Shares issued to Mr. Hung at an issue price of
HK$0.5 per Share;

(i) the Convertible Note issued by the Company to Mr. Hung;

(iii) the 100,000,000 Shares issued to Mr. Hung upon exercise
of conversion rights of the Convertible Note and which were
passed to Mega Wealth at an issue price of HK$0.5 per Share;

(iv) the 98,000,000 of the Shares issued to Mr. Hung upon
exercise of conversion rights of the Convertible Note and which
were passed to Webright at an issue price of HK$0.5 per
Share;

All being part of the considerations given to Mr. Hung by the
Company in respect of the Agreement.

On 29 January 2010, at the return date hearing in relation to
the Injunction Order, it was ordered, inter alia, that the Injunction
Order will continue subject to a fortification in the amount of
HK$10,000,000 being paid by the Company to the Registrar
of the High Court on or before 12 February 2010, failing which
the Injunction Order shall be discharged. The Company paid
HK$10,000,000 into the High Court on 10 February 2010 in
compliance with the Injunction Order. Following a hearing held at
the High Court on 18 March 2010, the High Court delivered its
decision on 30 March 2010 to discharge and at the same time re-
grant the Injunction Order obtained by the Company on 22 January
2010 against the Defendants. Furthermore, the Court made a cost
order nisi that the Company should pay the Defendants’ costs
related to the discharge of the Injunction Order, which the Court has
assessed to be fourfifths of the costs of the hearing. On 13 April
2010, the Defendants took out two summonses respectively for (i) an
application for an order to vary the costs order nisi made in the said
decision delivered on 30 March 2010, and (ii) an application for
an order to have leave to appeal the said decision delivered on 30
March 2010, that the decision to re-grant the Injunction Order was
wrong. On 14 May 2010, the Company and Mr. Hung, through their
lawyers, entered into a consent summons whereby the hearing of the
two summonses returnable on 26 May 2010 was adjourned without
a further date of hearing, with liberty to restore.
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42.LITIGATIONS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 42. SRR R AR ()

(continued)
The Group and the Company (continued)
(b) Injunction Order (continued)

FRERFLF ()
(b) &< (&)

On 3 September 2010, Mr. Hung through his solicitors applied
by way of a Summons to vary the Injunction Order granted by
the Honourable Mr. Justice Chung dated 30 March 2010 (the
“Application”) and the hearing was scheduled to be heard on 20
September 2010. The Court dismissed Mr. Hung’s Application by
way of summons, for an order to vary the Injunction Order made
against the Defendants. The Court ordered costs of the summons be
paid by the Defendants to the Company in any event.

On 22 September 2010, the Court of Appeal granted the Defendants
leave to appeal to the Court of Appeal and heard the Defendants’
appeal on 27 September 2010. The judgment was handed down
on 6 October 2010. The Court of Appeal dismissed the appeal of
the Defendants and the Injunction Order against the Defendants
remained unchanged. The Court of Appeal also ordered the costs
of the Appeal to be paid by the Defendants to the Company, to
be taxed if noted agreed, save that the costs of preparing the
Company’s own “core bundles” be deducted.

Mr. Hung put the Company on notice on 6 October 2011 that he
would take out an application by way of an inter parte summons,
for variation of the ex parte Order granted by the Honourable Mr.
Justice Yam on 22 January 2010, which was discharged and re-
granted by the Honourable Mr. Justice Chung on 30 March 2010
(the “Order”) Pursuant to the summons, Mr. Hung together with Mega
Wealth and Webright are seeking for an order that:-

(1) the Order be varied by:

(i)  that the Mr. Hung be permitted to exercise the right to
convert a portion of the Convertible Note in the principal
amount of HK$123,204,095 into 246,408,190 ordinary
shares of the Company at a conversion price of HK$0.5
per share and that the Mr. Hung be registered forthwith
as the shareholder of such converted and allotted

246,408,190 shares;
(i) amending Paragraph 1(a) in the following manner:

“The 323,048,190 of the Company’s shares issued to the
Mr. Hung at issue price of HK$0.5 per share;”

(iii) amending Paragraph 1(b) in the following manner:

“The non-interest bearing convertible redeemable note
issued by the Company to the Mr. Hung (“Convertible
Note”) in the principal amount of HK$50,295,905
convertible into ordinary shares of the Company at a
conversion price of HK$0.5 per share;”
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 #HE-T—=F=A=+—HILFE

42.LITIGATIONS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
(continued)

The Group and the Company (continued)

(b) Injunction Order (continued)

(iv)] adding Paragraph 6:
“save and except what is permitted under Paragraph 7;”

(v) adding to Paragraph 7:
“save and except exercising voting rights of the Shares,
either by himself or by the Mr. Hung via proxy or any
other agent, at the extraordinary general meeting of the
Company which was fixed to be held at Room 2502,
25/F, 9 Queen’s Road Central, Central, Hong Kong on
Friday, 14 October 2011 at 2.30 p.m. pursuant to the
Company’s circular dated 28 September 2011 or at such

other adjourned dates and places for that extraordinary
general meeting;”

(vi) alternatively, any Order that the Honourable Court deems

fit.
(2) the time for service of this summons be abridged; and

(3) costs of and occasioned by this application be to provide for.
The Court on 13 October 2011 made the following Order that:

1. the Summons be dismissed; and

2.  the costs of the Summons be paid to the Company by Mr. Hung,

Mega Wealth and Webright with two certificates to counsels.

The court case is still ongoing and the Company will make further
announcements as and when appropriate.
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 #HE-Z—=F=A=+—HItFE

42.LITIGATIONS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 42. SRR R AR (H])

(continued)
The Group and the Company (continued) EXEERELT (E)
(¢) Winding-up Petition (c) BRI

Mr. Hung served the statutory demands on the Company in respect
of a total outstanding Alleged Indebtedness of HK$41,722,630
(the “Statutory Demands”). A winding-up petition (the “Winding-
up Petition”) was presented to the High Court and served on the
Company by Mr. Hung on 28 January 2010 in connection with the
Alleged Indebtedness. The Company intends to oppose the Winding-
up Petition and has appointed legal advisers to handle the matter.
The first hearing of the Winding-up Petition was held on 7 April
2010. At the second hearing held in the High Court on 12 April
2010, upon hearing submissions by the parties, the Companies
Judge made an order that, among other things, the Winding-
up Petition be adjourned to the second Monday after the date of
handing down of judgment in connection with the Statement of Claim
by which the Company has made a claim against Mr. Hung. On 24
August 2010, the Court made an order by consent of both parties
to grant leave to the Petitioner to amend the Winding-up Petition
and costs of and occasioned by the amendment of the Winding-
up Petition be paid by the Petitioner to the Company in any event.
The Petitioner amended the Winding-up Petition, including, among
others, a reduction of the Alleged Indebtedness to HK$9,600,000.
The Board of the Company considers that the issue of the Statutory
Demands is, of itself, unlikely to have a negative impact on the
Group's financial condition. In addition, the Company may seek to
set-off against the Alleged Indebtedness claims which the Company
is asserting against Mr. Hung under the Statement of Claim. The
Board of the Company is of the view that it has a bona fide claim
on substantial grounds and should succeed in the Proceedings by
which the Company has made a claim against Mr. Hung, which shall
extinguish Mr. Hung’s claim in the Winding-up Petition.
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42 LITIGATIONS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
(continued)
The Group and the Company (continued)
(d) Appointment of Provisional Liquidators

42. FiRBA AR (1)

FRERELQF ()
(d) REERFEFFERA

On 28 January 2010, by a letter to the High Court, Mr. Hung’s
solicitors applied for an early date for a first hearing of the
application for appointment of provisional liquidators to the
Company by Mr. Hung (the “Application”). A hearing in respect of
the Application took place on 2 February 2010, at which a date was
set down for a further hearing on 5 May 2010. The Company and
Mr. Hung, through their lawyers, entered into a consent summons
whereby the hearing scheduled on 5 May 2010 for the Application
was adjourned without a further date of hearing, with liberty to
restore. The Court made an order by consent on 26 April 2010 in
this regard. Notwithstanding this, the Company received a letter
from Mr. Hung’s lawyers dated 15 June 2010 in which, among other
things, Mr. Hung requested to set down a date for the hearing of
the Application. The Application was scheduled to be heard on 9
November 2010. However, upon the joint application of Mr. Hung
(the “Petitioner”) and the Company by way of consent summons
dated 4 November 2010 and upon the Company undertaking to the
Court that:

(i  On 9 November 2010, deposit the sum of HK$10,658,922
into a designated interest-bearing bank account opened in the
name of Company (“Designated Account”) as security for the
petitioning debt claimed by the Petitioner in these proceeding
and will not use the monies as deposited in the Designated
Account until after determination of HCA2477 of 2009 or upon
such other condition as may be agreed between the Petitioner
and the Company in writing;

(ii) It shall within 3 working days of the written request of
the Petitioner provide the bank statements relating to the
Designated Account; and

(i) It shall secure and preserve all the shares and assets (if any) of
Wealth Gain and will not dispose of such shares and assets or
any part thereof unless with the Petitioner’s written consent or
until the determination of HCA2477 of 2009;

The High Court ordered, amongst other things, that, without
prejudice to the respective contentions advanced by Mr. Hung and
the Company, leave be granted to Mr. Hung to withdraw the PL
Application. Mr. Hung withdrew the PL Application on 5 November
2010. HK$10,658,922 was deposited into the HCCW Designated
Account on 9 November 2010. This payment was financed by the
Company’s internal funding.

The parties are now in the process of negotiation for the Petitioner to
agree to have the Amended Petition be dismissed on the condition
that the Company to arrange for a guarantee issued by a bank
in Hong Kong in favour of Mr. Hung in the amount equivalent to
the above deposit of HK$10,658,922 and the issue regarding the
petitioning debt be dealt with in the action HCA2477/2009. Parties
did not take any further action in the proceedings until the Petitioner’s
solicitors sent a letter on 30 April 2013 proposing fo re-amend the
Amended Petition to include a HK$3,000,000 sum in the winding-
up petition in which it is actually part of the consideration under the
sale and purchase agreement for the acquisition of Wealth Gain
Global Investment Limited and the subject matter of parties’ dispute
in HCA2477/2009. The Company have objected to the proposed
amendment on 9 May 2013 and will oppose the Petitioner’s
application for leave to amend should they take out such application.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2013

42.LITIGATIONS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
(continued)

The Group and the Company (continued)
(d) Appointment of Provisional Liquidators

(e)

(continued)

The Company consider the above proposal to be very reasonable
and should the parties failed to reach an agreement for the dismissal
of the Amended Petition, the Company shall proceed to apply for the
dismissal of the Amended Petition.

The Board of the Company, based on legal advice, is of the view
that the Company has a very good defence against the Winding-up
Petition and the PL Application.

Labour Action

On 5 January 2011, Mr. Hung filed a statement of claim against the
Company claiming a total sum of HK$3,407,962.74 plus interest,
being, inter alia, (i) arrears of wages (the “Wages Claim”) in the
amount of HK$1,668,000 and (ii) reimbursement of expenses
(the “Reimbursement Claim”) in the amount of HK$1,739,962.74,
allegedly incurred by Mr. Hung whilst he was in the employment of
the Company.

The Wages’ Claim was in relation to the same subject matter as was
previously resolved and seftled between the parties by Mr. Hung
accepting a total sum of HK$890,000 from the Company, pursuant
to the Order of the Labour Tribunal dated 25 May 2010.

The Company has been advised that re-litigating the Wages’ Claim
in the High Court, the subject matter of which has already been
resolved and settled, constitutes an abuse of process of the Court
and is therefore liable to be struck out under the relevant Rules of
Court. The Company will defend both the Wages’ Claim and the
Reimbursement Claim as advised. The Company filed a defence and
counterclaim whereby the Company only agreed to pay a sum of
HK$74,221.20 out of Mr. Hung’s claim, and counterclaimed against
Mr. Hung for repayment of a sum of HK$67,569 being, inter aliq,
unauthorised payments incurred by Mr. Hung on the Company’s
behalf and the value of the Company assets held by Mr. Hung. Mr.
Hung has subsequently filed a reply and defence to counterclaim.
This case is now in the discovery stage on 28 June 2011, the
Company and Mr. Hung filed a joint application for on order by
consent that: (i) this action be stayed sine die with liberty to restore
by either party; (i) and costs reserved. No hearing date has been
scheduled for this case on 28 June 2011, the Company and Mr.
Hung filed a joint application for an order by consent that:

(i) This action be stayed sine die with liberty to restore by either
party; and

(ii)  cost reserved.

Save and except for part of the Reimbursement Claim in the amount
of HK$74,221.20 as accepted by the Company, the Board of the
Company, based on legal advice, considers that the Company has a
good arguable defence to Mr. Hung’s claim, and consider that this
claim will not have any material impact on the Company.
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42.LITIGATIONS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
(continued)

The Group and the Company (continued)

(f) Labour action between Mr. Hung Hoi Ming
Raymond and the Company and Sino Talent
Holdings Limited
On 2 July 2010, Mr. Hung Hoi Ming Raymond (the “Claimant”),
brought an action at the Labour Tribunal against the Company
and Sino Talent Holdings Limited (“Sino Talent”), a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Group for payment of a sum of approximately
HK$347,000, being the amount allegedly owed by the Group
on termination of his employment contract dated 10 December
2009. The Group have filed with the Labour Tribunal a defence
and counterclaim which the Group only agreed to pay a sum of
approximately HK$95,000 and counterclaimed against the Claimant
for repayment of a sum of approximately HK$128,000 being the
amount of education subsidy received by the Claimant and a sum of
an approximately HK$46,000 being compensation for unauthorized
absence from work and outstanding telephone bills. Pursuant to an
Order by the Labour Tribunal dated 27 July 2010, the case was
transferred to the District Court. At the directions hearing on 17
November 2010. The Court ordered that: (i) The Claimant do file
and serve the Statement of Claim on or before 22 December 2010;
(ii) The Sino Talent do file and serve the Defence and Counterclaim,
if any, on or before 26 January 2011; (iii) The Claimant do file
and serve the Reply and Defence to Counterclaim on or before 2
March 2011; and (iv) The costs of this directions hearing, assessed
summarily in the sum of HK$800 be costs in the cause. On 28
June 2011, the Company, Sino Talent and Claimant filed a joint
application for an order by consent that: (i) this action be stayed sine
die with liberty to restore by either party; and (ii) cost reserved. The
Board of the Company, based on legal advices, is of the view that
the Group have a good defence to the Claimant’s claim and a good
chance of success in respect of the respective counterclaims.
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42.LITIGATIONS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
(continued)
The Group and the Company (continued)

(g) Car action between Sino Talent and Mr.
Raymond Hung
On 20 August 2010, Sino Talent filed a Statement of Claim at
the District Court and claimed against Mr. Raymond Hung for the

followings:

1.

Possession of vehicle with vehicle identification number
WP1ZZZPZ9LA81368 bearing a registration number of
NP5059 (“the Vehicle”);

Rent for the Vehicle between 11 December 2009 to the date of
judgment;

Insurance premium for the Vehicle for the period between 11
December 2009 and 12 July 2010;

Vehicle licence fee for the Vehicle for the period between 11
December 2009 and the date of judgment or 28 October 2010
being the date of expiry of the current vehicle licence, whenever

is earlier;

HK$6,980 being the amount reimbursed to the Defendant for
car restoration coupons for the Vehicle;

Further or alternatively, damages for tort of conversion of the
Vehicle;

interest;
further and other relief; and

costs.
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For the year ended 31 March 2013 #HE-T—=F=A=+—HILFE

42.LITIGATIONS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
(continued)

The Group and the Company (continued)

(g) Car action between Sino Talent and Mr.
Raymond Hung (continued)
On 21 February 2012, upon the joint application by way of Consent
Summons and order that:

1. The Defendant delivers and the Plaintiff retains possession
of the Vehicle (namely Porsche Cayenne Turbo with vehicle
identification number M48/1ZZZ9PZ9LA81368 bearing
registration number NP 5059) on or before 10 March 2012
subject to the conditions stated in paragraph (2) below;

2. The acceptance of paragraph (1) above is subject to an
inspection, restoration and repair (if any) of the Vehicle by the
Porsche Centre Hong Kong to be arranged and costs to be paid
by the Defendant; and the Defendant shall send to the Plaintiff a
certificate that the Vehicle is good and roadworthy on or before
12 March 2012;

3. Upon the satisfaction of paragraphs (1) and (2) above, this
action against the Defendant be withdrawn;

4. Trial hearing scheduled on 22 February 2012 at 9:30 a.m.
reserved for 5 days (from 23 February 2012 to 28 February
2012) be vacated;

5.  Without admitting the validity and authenticity of the Pledge
Agreement and without admission of liability on the Defendant’s
part, the Defendant shall pay to the Plaintiff a sum of
HK$100,000 within seven (7) days of the date of the Consent

Summons; and

6. The Defendant do pay the Plaintiff costs of these proceedings
(including costs of the Consent Summons) and such costs to be
taxed if not agreed.

The vehicle has been returned to Sino Talent on 17 March 2012
and Defendant paid the HK$100,000 to Sino Talent on 29 February

2012. The Defendant also paid HK$290,000 to Sino Talent for final
seftlement of the costs under these proceedings on 2 January 2013.

The case is closed during the year ended 31 March 2013.
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42.LITIGATIONS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 42. SRR R AR ()

(continued)
The Group and the Company (continued)
(h) Civil claim against Derong

FEMR A LT (1)
(h) SHHBRZEEHR

On 7 March 2013, a PRC independent third party (the “PRC
Claimant”) filed a statement of claim and an asset preservation
application against Derong, an indirect non wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, in the People’s Court for recovery of an alleged
indebtedness of RMB6,490,000 plus interest owed to it by Derong
(the “Claim”). However, the statement of claim did not mention a tri-
party agreement dated 29 November 2011 among Dreong, the PRC
Claimant and a third party (the “Tri-Party Agreement”) whereas the
alleged indebtedness has been transferred to the said third party.

Upon the asset preservation application taken out by the PRC
Claimant, the People’s Court ordered to freeze a bank account of
Derong with deposit of RMB8,300,000 therein on 8 March 2013
(the “Injunction Order”). According to the Injunction Order, Derong
is restrained from dealing with the said deposit in the bank account
from the service date of the ruling of civil action in respect of the
Injunction Order.

After receipt of the said ruling of civil action and the relevant legal
documents on 11 March 2013, Derong has retained PRC lawyer
to take steps to discharge the Injunction Order and defend the
Claim immediately. Derong filed an opposition application and an
Injunction Order discharge application on 18 March 2013 and 26
April 2013 respectively, in which Derong presented its views that the
alleged indebtedness sought by the PRC Claimant does not exist at
all and the PRC Claimant case was made without merit as all debts
owed by Derong to the PRC Claimant was transferred to a third party
pursuant to the Tri-Party Agreement. Derong’s PRC lawyer opined that
Derong should not be held liable for the Claim, Derong has a good
defence against the PRC Claimant’s Claim and a good chance of
success in respect of the Claim.

The Board of the Company expects that the Claim shall incur
additional financial costs and operating costs of Derong, but the
Claim shall not have material impact on the Group as a whole.
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NA-ZBEF2ENE QR EEFM
RUERZHFE  NBEEBERIAZE
BARES,490,000TEFIE (THER]) - A
M ZEFR I ERE R R PEARAR
—EBE=ZAR=F-——Ft+—-—A=1+AhA
yz=htmZE(=AtHE])  MEBE
KOKEETLME=TF-

REZB—=ZF=ZANH FERRABAR
EREHMERZRFR  ARERTSR
FERETEFRARKS,300,0007T 2R
THRE ((R£HZ ) - RIEEHS - AARE
HEZRERTEERERHE - ERBR
BRI ERITIREER

REZB—=F=A+-BRILAREEE
ERABEEXHR  EREKIAERS
BI{RAD - LAUREUE BRARBREE G S R A AR RE
Et e BRON-Z2—=f=A+tN\BR
TE-CZFEAZTARERIREBER
BEREFSHE  BEF  ERREHEARR
HAEFRARMSRZEREEZEZLR
i FEIRRAZERRZEE  FRA
RE=FHE  BRRXTERRAZFAEE
HYERERT EME=F - BRZPEE
MR ZEER  RAEMESERRERE
ERREE MERBADEBRTEAR
AZBRRETRRE  WHBAKSBR -

ANBEBSTRY - EREAREERN
PR ARAEERA - R RE AN EEEE
BTIEERERAERTE -

43. COMMITMENTS 43, & i
The Group and the Company
x%H
2013 2012
=5 —E-C-F
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET T
Capital expenditure in respect of the acquisition BEERTNBRRGS WK RKRER
of property, plant and equipment contracted EREzWBYE  BERRKE
for but not provided in the consolidated BFEz2ERMX
financial statements - 8,010
Authorised and contracted for capital contributions  FE{THI B A 8 25 E
payable to a subsidiary REFTHNEREE 29,825 25,249
29,825 88259

The Company did not have significant capital commitment at the end of

the reporting period (2012: Nil).

——F ) o
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44, OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS 44 BEHERH
The Group leases certain of its office properties under operating lease AEERBELEHEZHBEEETHAEYE -
arrangements. Leases for office properties are negotiated for terms MAEYECHERLHEEL  FHH—EW
ranging from one to two years. FELRE o
At 31 March 2013, the Group had total future minimum lease payments R=ZB—Z=F=A=+—0  REFTHELE
under non-cancellable operating leases in respect of office premises falling Y NEFEERUT SR REZEENE
due as follows: SHEEMT ¢
The Group
*5H
2013 2012
—E—=5F —E-C=F
HK$’000 HK$"000
THT FET
Within one year —&FR 2,598 2,675
In the second to fifth years, inclusive F_EZELF (BEEEME) - 2,569
2,598 5,244
The Company did not have significant operating lease arrangements at the RBEHTHEL  ARRABERLLHERH
end of the reporting period (2012: Nil). (Z2—ZF 1 8])
45. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 45. EXREBEALE S
In additions to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere in BRIESEGREVBERREMBEFTABEEZRIR
these consolidated financial statements, during the year ended 31 March BN RBE=Z—=F=A=1+—HLFE
2013, the Group had entered into the following material related party W AREBEEBIT YU TERBEALRS
transactions:
Key management personnel remuneration FEFTHARZHS
Remuneration for key management personnel, including amounts paid TEEBABCHE (BRASMBRRMEI0
to the Company’s directors as disclosed in Note 10 to the consolidated FriRBE2ENTFAARES Z2HRE)AT ¢
financial statement is as follow:
The Group
*5H
2013 2012
—E—=% —E--F
HK$’000 HK$’000
THT FET
Short term employee benefits g HEEREF 8,319 13,125
MPF contributions BEEER 72 24
Share-based payment LU 3 B E T 2 45K 1,348 -
9,739 13,149
Total remuneration is included in “Staff costs” in Note 8 to the EBRBENEREIEIRA](FEMBREM

consolidated financial statements. F8) A °
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45. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(continued)

Transactions carried out with related parties

Interest expense paid to a shareholder,
Mr. Hung Chen, Richael

Interest expense paid to a shareholder,
ACE Channel Limited

XA F-BREAHEE
ZHRERX

Limited 2 7| 25X

X 1FF — B R RACE Channel

45, EXFHEALTR S ()
HEAEALETZES
The Group
T5H
2013 2012
—e—=F —E-CF
HK$’000 HK$" 000
THT FHET
880 880
325 12
1,205 892

The Group also entered into the following related party transactions:

A set of plant and machinery acquired by finance lease arrangement is

guaranteed by Mr. Gao Feng, the vice-chairman and executive director of

the Company.

46.EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed in Note 42 Litigations above and elsewhere in these

consolidated financial statements, the Group has the following events

occurred subsequent to the end of the reporting period:

(i)

(ii)

On 5 April 2013, the Company and the placing agent, Grand
Vinco Capital Limited (“Grand Vinco”), entered into the termination
agreement to terminate the warrant placing agreement and the
supplemental warrant placing agreement due to the current adverse
market conditions. For details of the warrant placing agreement and
the supplemental warrant placing agreement, please refer to the

announcement dated 8 February 2013 and 28 March 2013.

On 9 May 2013, the Company and Hugo Faithful Holdings Limited
(“Hugo Faithful”) entered into a memorandum of understanding
(the “MOU") whereby the Company and Hugo Faithful agreed to
negotiate in good faith to enter into the formal agreement on the
possible acquisition.

Under the MOU, the Company will acquire the entire issued share
capital of Glacier Sun Limited (“GSL”) from Hugo Faithful. GSL
will undergo certain steps of restructuring and upon completion of
which, it will own 7% of Wide Code New Material Development
Limited (“Wide Code”). Wide Code will in turn own the entire
registered capital of Wuhu Weixiang Neo-Material Co., Ltd (“Wuhu
Weixiang”), which is a PRC company principally engaged in the
production and sale of ultra-fine nano calcium carbonate powder
and related products which are broadly applied in plastic, paint,
paper and rubber industries. For more details, please refer to the
Company’s announcement dated 5 May 2013.
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46.EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD (continued)

(i) On 12 May 2013, the Company entered into a share placing
agreement and a warrant placing agreement with Grand Vinco
will place of 252,470,000 shares at the placing price of HK$0.09
and will issue 160,000,000 unlisted warrants at an issue price of
HK$0.004 per warrant. Each warrant entitles the holder thereof to
subscribe for one ordinary share of HK$0.004 each at a subscription
price of HK$0.096 per share, payable in cash and subject to
adjustment from the date of issue of the warrants to the expiry,
which is 36 months from the issue of the warrants. The share placing
agreement and the warrant placing agreement verbally agreed to
terminate on 13 June 2013 and the termination agreement was
signed on 14 June 2013.

(ivy On 13 June 2013, the Company entered into the new share
placing agreement with Win Fung Securities Limited to place up
to 412,470,000 shares to not less than 6 share placees at the
placing price of HK$0.08 on a best effort basis. The net proceeds
from the placement is approximately HK$32,460,000 which will be
utilised by the Group as its general working capital and to finance
the possible acquisition of the entire issued share capital of GSL as
mentioned in (ii) above or other future/acquisition when investment
opportunities arise. The new share placement has already been
completed on 21 June 2013.

(v On 26 June 2013, the Company entered into the letter of intent to
acquire 50% and 50% equity interest in a target company from two
vendors. The target company is a company incorporated in Hong
Kong with limited liability, and its wholly-owned subsidiary, is a
limited liability company established in the PRC which is mainly
engaged in hydroelectric power construction, development and
operation; and production, management and sales of aluminium
alloy, carbon anodes, aluminium products. The parties shall use
their best endeavours to negotiate for a definite and legally binding
formal agreement within 90 days from the date of the letter of intent.

47 .NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

(1) During the year, the Group entered into a sale and purchase
agreement for the acquisition of entire issued share capital of Zhan
Sheng, which comprised consideration shares of HK$50,115,000 as
disclosed in Note 41(a) to the consolidated financial statements.

(2) During the year, the Group acquired a set of plant and equipment by
way of finance lease of approximately HK$7,882,000.

(3) During the year, the early redemption of Convertible Notes 2012
amounting to approximately HK$5,325,000 was not yet settled as at
31 March 2013.

48. COMPARATIVES

Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified to conform with the
current year’s presentation and account treatment.

49. AUTHORISATION FOR ISSUE OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the Board of Directors on 26 June 2013.
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